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CORPORATE INFORMATION

The group structure of Rev Asia Berhad and its subsidiaries is as follows:
Board of Directors

Registered Office

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
(Independent Non-Executive Chairman)

Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower
8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama
47800 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
T: (03) 7720 1188
F: (03) 7720 1111

Mah Yong Sun
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
Patrick YKin Grove
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)
Lucas Robert Elliott
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

Head Office

Wan Mohd Firdaus Bin Wan Mohd Fuaad
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

No. 45 & 47-7, The Boulevard
Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan
Malaysia
T: (03) 2297 0999
W: www.revasia.com

Audit and Risk Management Committee

Share Registrar

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
(Chairman)

Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn. Bhd.

Dato’ Justin Leong Ming Loong
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

(Formerly known as Symphony Share Registrars Sdn. Bhd.)

Remuneration Committee

Level 6, Symphony House,
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1,
Jalan PJU1A/46
47301 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
T: (03) 7849 0777
F: (03) 7841 8151

Mah Yong Sun
(Chairman)

Auditors

Mah Yong Sun
(Member)
Lucas Robert Elliott
(Member)

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
(Member)
Nomination Committee
Mah Yong Sun
(Chairman)
Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
(Member)
Company Secretaries
Tai Yit Chan (MAICSA 7009143)
Tan Ai Ning (MAICSA 7015852)

BDO PLT (LLP0018825-LCA & AF0206)
Level 8, Menara CenTARa
360 Jalan Tuanku Abdul Rahman
50100 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
T: (03) 2616 2888
Principal Bankers
HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad
Stock Exchange Listing
ACE Market
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
Stock Name: REV
Stock Code: 0173
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap
Liow (“Dato’ Larry Gan”)
Independent Non-Executive Chairman, Malaysian,
Aged 65, Male
Dato’ Larry Gan was appointed to our Board on 19
November 2010. He serves as the Chairman of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee and a member
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees.
Dato’ Larry Gan has been active in commerce and
community work over a span of four decades.
He had a long association with Accenture and served
several global leadership roles, his last positions as
Managing Partner Asia and Managing Partner for the
firm’s multibillion dollar Venture Fund in Australasia.
Over a career span of 26 years, he led the firm’s
growth in Asia and was the regional lead for the
internal transformation of the Accenture business. He
consulted on strategic projects for government and
multinational corporations, and invested and worked
with innovative technologies around the world.
Since his retirement in 2004, he has dedicated his
time to Corporate Governance. He serves on the
Minority Shareholders Watchdog Committee and as
Independent Chairman/Director on several public
listed companies in Malaysia and internationally. He
was independent director at Ambank Group, Maybank
Investment Bank, Tanjong Ltd, Hong Leong Assurance
and Lotus Cars International.
Dato’ Larry Gan is presently a strategic investor in
digital enterprises, and operates an extensive business
network of entrepreneurs, consulting professionals
and investment funds. He mentors startups and
advocates disruptive business models. Alongside
his investments, he assumes board roles in several
publicly listed internet and technology companies. He
served on the boards of Redtone International Berhad
(Chairman), Diversified Gateway Solutions Berhad
(Chairman), Omesti Berhad (CEO/MD), Prestariang
Berhad, iProperty Ltd and Cuscapi Berhad (Chairman).
Today, he continues on the Boards of Cloudaron

Group Berhad (Chairman), Fatfish Internet Group Ltd
(Chairman), Flexiroam Ltd and 8Common Ltd.
An ardent supporter of the Arts, Education and
Sports, he was National Fencer and President of the
Malaysian Fencing Federation, Trustee of the Yayasan
Tuanku Nur Zahirah (Queen’s Foundation), Council
member of the Badminton Association of Malaysia,
and Trustee of J C Jacobsen Foundation. Presently,
he serves on the Board of Governors - St Joseph
International KL.
Dato’ Larry Gan is a Certified Chartered Accountant
(UK).
Dato’ Larry Gan has attended four (4) out of the
five (5) Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the
financial year. He has no conflict of interest with the
Company and has no family relationship with any of the
Directors and/ or major shareholders of the Company.
He has no conviction for any offences within the past
five (5) years, other than traffic offences, if any.

Mah Yong Sun (“Yong Sun”)
Independent Non-Executive Director, Singaporean,
Aged 57, Male
Yong Sun was appointed to our Board on 19 November
2010. He serves as the Chairman of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committees, respectively and
is a member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee. In 1984, he graduated with a Bachelor of
Science (Engineering) in Computing Science from the
University of London’s Imperial College of Science and
Technology, United Kingdom. After graduation, he
joined Accenture, a global management and technology
consulting firm, where he served for 25 years until
his retirement in 2009. Yong Sun was a partner in
Accenture for 12 years and held many leadership roles
including change management competency group lead
for Asia, communications and high technology lead
for Thailand, Malaysia, Philippines and Indonesia, and
communications sector for Greater China.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (continued)
He has extensive experience in the media and
communication industries, strategic information
planning, complex systems implementation and
business operations. He is currently an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Omesti Berhad. He is also
sits on the Development Board of Imperial College
London.
Yong Sun has attended four (4) out of the five (5)
Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the financial
year. He has no conflict of interest with the Company
and has no family relationship with any of the Directors
and/or major shareholders of the Company. He has
no conviction for any offences within the past five (5)
years, other than traffic offences, if any.

Patrick YKin Grove (“Patrick”)
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director, Australian,
Aged 44, Male
Patrick is an indirect major shareholder of our Group.
He was appointed to our Board on 6 October 2010.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce in
Accounting and Finance from the University of Sydney,
Australia in 1997.
Patrick has built a number of successful media and
internet-based businesses in Asia and has been
independently recognised with numerous international
awards such as a Global Leader of Tomorrow by the
World Economic Forum, a New Asian Leader by the
World Economic Forum (2003), a Young Entrepreneur
of the Year by the Australian Chamber of Commerce,
Singapore, a Top Entrepreneur under 40 by Business
Week Asia and a Top 50 Global Achiever by Australia
Unlimited.
Patrick has attended four (4) out of the five (5) Board
of Directors’ Meetings held during the financial year.
He has no conflict of interest with the Company and
has no family relationship with any of the Directors.
Currently, he is the Group Chief Executive Officer and
a major shareholder of Catcha Group Pte. Ltd. as well

as co-founder of iFlix Limited. He is also the NonExecutive Director of iCar Asia Limited, which is an
Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) listed company.
He has no conviction for any offences within the past
five (5) years, other than traffic offences, if any.

Lucas Robert Elliott (“Luke”)
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director, Australian,
Aged 43, Male
Luke is an indirect major shareholder of our Group. He
was appointed to our Board on 1 April 2013. He serves
as the member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee. He graduated with a Bachelor of
Commerce in Finance from the University of Sydney,
Australia in 1998. His experience lies in developing
fast moving online business models, monetising online
media assets and executing corporate transactions
including mergers and acquisitions, capital raisings and
public listings.
Luke has attended all the five (5) Board of Directors’
Meetings held during the financial year. He has no
conflict of interest with the Company and has no family
relationship with any of the Directors. Currently, he
is the Executive Director and a major shareholder of
Catcha Group Pte. Ltd.. He is also the Non-Executive
Director of iCar Asia Limited, and iFlix Limited. He has
no conviction for any offences within the past five (5)
years, other than traffic offences, if any.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (continued)

Dato’ Justin Leong Ming Loong
(“Dato’ Justin”)
Independent Non-Executive Director, Malaysian,
Aged 40, Male

Wan Mohd Firdaus Bin Wan Mohd Fuaad
(“Firdaus”)
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director, Malaysian,
Aged 35, Male

Dato’ Justin was appointed to our Board on 15 August
2017. He obtained a Master of Arts and a Bachelor
of Arts in Geography from Oxford University. At
the year 2006 World Economic Forum in Davos,
Switzerland, Dato’ Justin was chosen as one of the top
200 Young Global Leaders. He started his career at
Goldman Sachs in London where he was an Analyst in
the Investment Banking Division and an Associate in
the Equities Division.

Firdaus was appointed to our Board on 15 August
2017. He obtained a Degree in Law (Honours) from the
University of Nottingham, United Kingdom in 2005.
Between 2007 and 2012, Firdaus served as the Special
Officer to the Chief Minister of Johor of which he was
involved in several milestone projects such as Johor
Corporation Transformation and the RM4.5 billion
privatisation of QSR Brands Berhad and KFC Holdings
(M) Berhad, Iskandar Regional Development Authority
and Malaysia Singapore High Speed Rail negotiations.

For over a decade from years 2004 to 2016, Dato’
Justin was the Head of Strategic Investments and
Corporate Affairs of Genting Malaysia Berhad
(“Genting Group”). He spearheaded Genting Group’s
rapid global expansion and oversaw the repositioning
of Genting Group as one of the world’s largest gaming
companies. He headed Genting Group’s corporate
communications and investor relation functions and his
main responsibilities were identifying, evaluating, and
driving new strategic investments.
Dato’ Justin is also the Managing Partner and Chief
Investment Officer of Alpha Goal International
Limited.
Dato’ Justin has attended all five (5) Board of
Directors’ Meetings held during the financial year. He
has no conflict of interest with the Company and has
no family relationship with any of the Directors and/
or major shareholders of the Company. He has no
conviction for any offences within the past five (5)
years, other than traffic offences, if any.

Firdaus was appointed as Non-Independent NonExecutive Director of Johor Corporation between
2010 to 2012. Subsequently he was appointed on the
board of Kulim (Malaysia) Berhad between 2013 to
2017. He then joined JP Morgan Malaysia, of which
he held the role of Vice President, Global Corporate
Banking and Vice President, Global Investment Banking
divisions before becoming a private consultant to
Catcha Group for the KL Internet City project.
Firdaus has attended all the five (5) Board of Directors’
Meetings held during the financial year. He has no
conflict of interest with the Company and has no family
relationship with any of the Directors and/or major
shareholders of the Company. He has no conviction
for any offences within the past five (5) years, other
than traffic offences, if any.

BUSINESS REVIEW

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

9

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Restated
2014
RM mil

2015
RM mil

2016
RM mil

2017
RM mil

2018
RM mil

Revenue

26.882

17.792

23.458

15.374

-

EBITDA

9.789

3.671

7.791

54.916

(0.665)

Profit/(Loss) before tax

9.305

3.250

7.328

54.641

(0.567)

Profit/(Loss) after tax / Net
profit attributable to equity
holders

8.831

2.200

5.906

56.905

(0.627)

Current assets

9.808

9.485

51.988

7.397

6.894

Total assets

69.101

72.022

82.833

7.397

6.894

Share capital

13.464

13.464

13.464

6.732

6.732

Reserves

33.244

38.062

42.442

(0.412)

(0.169)

Shareholders’ equity

46.708

51.526

55.906

6.320

6.563

Net operating cash flow

2.887

1.138

3.064

(6.558)

2.289

Capital expenditure

0.666

0.070

0.230

0.260

-

Earnings per share (sen)

6.559

1.634

4.387

42.264

(0.466)

0.35

0.38

0.42

0.05

0.05

Net assets per share (RM)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

Dear valued Shareholders and Stakeholders,
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I hereby present to you our Annual
Report for the financial year ended (“FYE”) 31 December 2018.
The Group has recorded a loss for the period totaling 0.6 million for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018. This is mainly attributed to
administrative expenses for the year.
In 2017, we sold our core business, Rev Asia Holdings Sdn Bhd to Media
Prima Digital Sdn Bhd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Media Prima Berhad.
The sale of our entire 70% stake for RM73.5 million cash resulted in a gain
of RM54.1 million. The Group subsequently distributed RM59.2 million in
cash dividends.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
Rev Asia Berhad is currently classified as a Cash Company pursuant to Rule 8.03 and Guidance Note 2 (“GN2”) of
the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities. The Company did not operate a core business during the
financial year and the Board, together with the Company’s major shareholder, are committed to resolve this GN2
status as soon as possible.
For the current financial year ended 31 December 2018 (“FYE2018”), the Group recorded a loss before tax of
RM0.567 million, primarily derived from administration expenses for FYE2018 totalling RM1.036 million.
This is partially offset with other income received of RM0.401 million
and interest income of RM0.106 million.
OVERVIEW OF OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

Since then, Rev Asia has been exploring opportunities to establish a new
core business. The digital marketplace will continue to be our key focus.
The Board is encouraged to pursue stable long term growth and return to
shareholders.

The Board has been actively and continue to be active to seek a resolution to the Company’s GN2 status. Rev Asia
objectives and core business shall remain focussed in the digital economy but the Board shall explore every viable
opportunity available.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to extend
our appreciation and thanks to all our business associates, the regulatory
authorities and shareholders for their continue support.

In achieving these objectives, the Board shall continue to explore the Southeast Asia region as there are huge
digital opportunities present in the region. Southeast Asia is now a larger digital market in terms of users, than all of
America and Europe.

My personal appreciation goes to my fellow Directors for their
commitment, support and invaluable guidance during the year.

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
Independent Non-Executive Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
Rev Asia Berhad (“Rev Asia” or “the Company”) is currently classified as a “Cash Company” pursuant to
Rule 8.03 and Guidance Note 2 (“GN2”) of ACE Market Listing Requirements (“ACE Market LR”) as a
result of the completion of the Company’s disposal of its core business on 1 August 2017. Since then, the
Company has been actively seeking to acquire a suitable new core business. On 30 July 2018, the Company
entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) with Catcha Group Pte Ltd (“Catcha”) to discuss
a proposed acquisition of a majority interest in a foreign based group of companies. The said MOU has
been extended to 28 June 2019 to finalise execution of a definitive agreement. Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) has also granted the Company an extension of time up to 2 August 2019 for the
submission of a regularisation plan.
The Board continues to acknowledge the importance of good corporate governance and would commit to
ensure the sustainability of the Company’s business and operations through maintaining good governance
ethics as promulgated by the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017 (“MCCG”), and delivering
stakeholders’ value.
In making this Corporate Governance Overview Statement, the Company is guided by Guidance Note 11
of ACE Market LR of Bursa Securities and the Corporate Governance Guide (3rd edition) issued by Bursa
Securities. The Corporate Governance Overview Statement is supported with a Corporate Governance
Report, based on a prescribed format as outlined in Rule 15.25(2) of the ACE Market LR so as to map
the application of the Company’s corporate governance practices against the MCCG. The Corporate
Governance Report is available on the Company’s website, www.revasia.com as well as via an announcement
on the website of Bursa Securities.
The Board is pleased to share the manner in which the three (3) Principles and Practices of the MCCG have
been complied within the Company and subsidiaries (“the Group”) throughout the financial year ended
31 December 2018.
A summary of the Corporate Governance practices are prescribed as follows:

PRINCIPLE A – BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS
1.

Board Roles and Responsibilities
The Board is accountable and responsible for the performance and affairs of the Company by overseeing
and appraising the Group’s strategies, policies and performance.
All Board members are expected to show good stewardship and act in a professional manner, as well
as upholding the core values of integrity and enterprise with due regard to their fiduciary duties and
responsibilities as set out in the Board Charter which is published on the Company’s website at
www.revasia.com.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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2. Separation of Positions of the Chairman and Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer
The Board Charter has established clear roles and responsibilities of the Board in discharging its fiduciary and
leadership functions. The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer (“MD/CEO”)
shall be distinct and separated to engender accountability and facilitate clear division of responsibilities for
ensuring there is a balance of power and authority in the Company. The segregation of roles also facilitates
a healthy open, exchange of views between the Board and Management in their deliberation of the business,
strategic aims and key activities of the Company.
The Chairman is responsible for the leadership, effectiveness, conduct and governance of the Board and
encourages active and effective engagement, participation and contribution from all Directors and facilitates
constructive relations between Board and management.
During the year under review, Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow is the Independent NonExecutive Chairman of the Board who provides strong leadership and is responsible for ensuring the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Board’s governance process.
The Company has not appointed a MD/CEO as it has yet to establish a new core business. The position
of Chairman and MD/CEO to be held by different individuals would be addressed immediately once the
acquisition of a core business is completed.
3. Company Secretary
The Board is supported by two (2) qualified and competent Company Secretaries. The Directors have ready
and unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries to enable them to discharge
their duties effectively. The Board is regularly updated and advised by the Company Secretaries who are
qualified, experienced and knowledgeable on new statutory and regulatory requirements, and the resultant
implications to the Company and the Directors in relation to their duties and responsibilities. In this respect,
the Company Secretaries play an advisory role to the Board, particularly with regards to the Company’s
Constitution, Board policies and procedures and its compliance with regulatory requirements, corporate
governance and legislations. The Company Secretaries, who oversee adherence with board policies and
procedures, brief the Board on the proposed contents and timing of material announcements to be made to
regulators. The Company Secretaries also keep the Directors informed of the closed period for trading in the
Company’s shares.
The Company Secretaries ensure that deliberations at Board and Board Committee Meetings are well
documented, and subsequently communicated to the relevant Management for appropriate actions.
4. Supply and Access to Information
The Board recognises that the decision-making process is highly dependent on the quality of information
furnished.
In furtherance to this, every Director has access to all information within the Company through the
following means:
•

Management consultants, which has been outsourced from Catcha Group Pte Ltd, the major shareholder
of the Company (“the Management Consultants”), assisted the Board in all relevant aspects i.e.
preparation of board papers, financial aspects, unaudited results, overseeing the day to day operations of
the Company and reported to the Board as and when necessary.

14
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•

•

•

5.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and Committee meetings papers were prepared and were issued to the Directors or
Committee Members at least five (5) days before the Board and Committee meetings to enable the
Board or Committee Members receive the information in a timely manner. Upon conclusion of the
meetings, the minutes were circulated in a timely manner.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) Chairman meets with the Management
Consultants and the External Auditors regularly to review the reports regarding financial reporting and
risk management.
To facilitate robust Board discussions, all Board meetings were furnished with proper agenda with due
notice issued and board papers and reports. These papers and reports provide updates on financial,
operational, legal and circulated prior to the meetings to all Directors with sufficient time for review
for effective discussions and decision making during the meetings.

Board Charter
The Board has adopted a Board Charter which clearly sets out the roles, functions, composition, operation
and processes of the Board, having regard to the principles of good corporate governance and requirements
of ACE Market LR of Bursa Securities.
The Board Charter further defines the matters that are reserved for the Board and its committees as well
as the roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the MD/CEO. Key matters reserved for the Board are
as set out in the Board Charter.
The Board Charter is periodically reviewed as well as updated in accordance with the needs of the
Company and any new regulations on MCCG, ACE Market LR and Companies Act, 2016 that may have an
impact on the discharge of the Board’s responsibilities. This is to ensure the Board Charter always stay
relevant with the Board’s objectives, current law, regulations and practices.

6.

7.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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8. Sustainability
The Board is committed to understanding and implementing sustainable practices whilst attempting to
achieve the right balance between the needs of the wider community, the requirements of shareholders and
stakeholders and economic success.
With the established Sustainability Policy, the Company is committed and mindful to operate in a sustainable
manner in order to generate economic value to its stakeholders and add value to the society in promoting
good corporate governance. In achieving these objectives, the Board has been actively and continue to be
active to seek a resolution to the Company’s GN2 status.
The Sustainability Statement is set out on page 38 of the Annual Report 2018.
9. Board Composition
During the financial year under review, the Board has six (6) Directors, comprising the Chairman (Independent
Non-Executive), two (2) Independent Non-Executive Directors and three (3) Non-Independent NonExecutive Directors. The Company has fulfilled the requirements of Rule 15.02(1) of the ACE Market LR of
Bursa Securities which stipulates that at least two (2) Directors or one third (1/3) of the Board, whichever is
higher, are Independent Directors. The Company also met the requirements of MCCG to have at least half of
the Board comprises of Independent Directors to allow more effective oversight of management.
With the current composition, the Board believes that its members have the necessary knowledge,
experience, requisite range of skills and competence to enable them to discharge their duties and
responsibilities effectively, objectively and independently as follows:i)

The Board believes the current composition of directors is sufficient as they contribute to Board’s
deliberations objectively and independently;

The Board has also put in place a Code of Conduct (“COC”) and Code of Ethics (“COE”) (including specific
guidance for handling issues like conflicts of interest, insider trading, bribery and corruption and anti-money
laundering) to foster an ethical culture throughout the Company and allow legitimate ethical concerns to be
raised in confidence without the risk of reprisal. The COC and COE are reviewed periodically by the Board
and published on the Company’s website at www.revasia.com.

ii)

There were robust deliberations during Board and Committee meetings as they did not shy away from
enquiries or requesting for additional information, when necessary;

iii)

All directors on the Board have gained extensive experience with their many years of experience on
boards of other companies and/or also as professionals in their respective fields of expertise.

Policies and Procedures for Whistle Blower

Prior to the disposal of the core business of Rev Asia, the Company via its management team implemented
its strategic plans, policies and decisions adopted by the Board to achieve the Company’s objective of
creating long-term value for its shareholders through excelling in customer service and providing sustainable
performance.

Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics

The Company has established the Policies and Procedures for Whistle Blower which shall, where applicable
in future, serve as a guide to employees on how to raise genuine concerns relating to possible improprieties
on matters pertaining to financial reporting, compliance and other malpractices at the earliest opportunity
and in an appropriate way.

15

The Company’s Policies and Procedures for Whistle Blower fosters an environment in which integrity
and ethical behaviour are maintained through protocols which allow for the exposure of any violations or
improper conduct or wrongdoing within the Company.

The Board is satisfied and concluded that the composition of Directors provides the appropriate background,
experience, skills, knowledge, balance and size in the Board to lead the Company and to promote all
shareholders’ interests and to govern the Company effectively. It also fairly represents the ownership
structure of the Company, with appropriate representations of minority interests through the Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

The details of the Policies and Procedures for Whistle Blower are available on the Company’s website at
www.revasia.com.

Nevertheless, the Board through the Nomination Committee (“NC”), reviews the composition of the Board,
continues to select suitable candidate(s) and core competencies of Directors, when necessary.
The Board is mindful on the importance of independence and objectivity in its decision making process

16
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which is in line with MCCG. During the financial year under review, the Board assessed the independence of
its Independent Non-Executive Directors and found them to be independent and objective during Board’s
deliberations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The following diagram shows a brief overview of the three main Board Committees of the Company’s Board, each of which is
explained in further details as below:

The Board is aware of the recommended tenure of an Independent Director who should not exceed a
cumulative term of nine (9) years as recommended by MCCG and that an Independent Director may continue
to serve the Board if the Independent Director is re-designated as a Non-Independent Non-Executive
Director upon completion of nine (9) years tenure. Furthermore, the Board must justify the decision and seek
shareholders’ approval at general meeting if the Board intends to retain the Director as Independent after
the respective Independent Director has served a cumulative term of nine (9) years. If the Board continues
to retain the independent director after the twelfth (12th) year, the Board should seek annual shareholders’
approval through a two-tier voting process as prescribed under MCCG. As at the date of this Statement, none
of the Independent Directors has reached nine (9) years of service since their appointments.
The profile of each Director is set out on pages 6 to 8 of this Annual Report.
10. Board Committees and Delegation
During the year under review, the Board outsourced the management of the Group to the Management
Consultants. However, the Board remains ultimately responsible for corporate governance and the affairs of
the Company. While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and monitoring the Company,
in discharging its responsibilities, the Board has established the following Board Committees to perform
certain of its functions and to provide the respective Committees with recommendations and advice:
•
•
•

Nomination Committee;
Remuneration Committee; and
Audit and Risk Management Committee.

- Board size and composition
- Selection & recruitment of directors
- Board performance evaluation
- Committee performance valuation
- Directors’ training

- Remuneration policy
- Directors’ fees and benefits

- Internal audit
- External audit
- Risk management
- Financial reporting
- Audit reports
- Related party transaction
- Internal controls
- Conflicts of interest

Each Committee operates in accordance with the written Terms of Reference approved by the Board. The Board reviews the
Terms of Reference of the Committees from time to time. The terms of office and performance of the ARMC and each of its
members is reviewed on annual basis by the NC to determine whether such ARMC members have carried out their duties in
accordance with their terms of reference. The NC was satisfied with the term of office and performance of the ARMC.
The Board has established the Board Reserved matters under its Board Charter. During the year under review, the Board
delegated certain level of its authorities and powers to the Management Consultants in ensuring the smooth running of the
Company’s operations, implementation of board policies to be approved by the Board, reported and discussed at Board
meetings on all material issues currently or potentially affecting the Group, its directions, projects and updates on the
regulatory development.
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11. Directors’ Commitment

All pertinent issues discussed at the Board meetings in arriving at the decisions and conclusions are were
properly recorded by the Company Secretaries.

The Board met five (5) times during the financial year under review. The details of Directors’ attendance are
set out as follows:

Name
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12. Nomination Committee – Board Nomination and Appointment of Directors

The Board would meet at least four (4) times a year, at quarterly intervals which are scheduled well in
advanced before the end of the preceding financial year to facilitate the Directors in planning their meetings
schedule for the year. The Board is satisfied with the level of commitments given by the Directors toward
fulfilling their roles and responsibilities as Directors of the Company as most of the Directors have attended
whether in person or via teleconferencing all the Board Meetings under the financial year under review.
Additional meetings were convened where necessary to deal with urgent and important matters that require
attention of the Board.

No.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Number of Board meetings
attended/held during the
Director’s term in office

1

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow

4/5

2

Mr Mah Yong Sun

4/5

3

Mr Patrick YKin Grove

4/5

4

Mr Lucas Robert Elliott

5/5

5

Dato’ Justin Leong Ming Loong			

5/5

6

Encik Wan Mohd Firdaus Bin Wan Mohd Fuaad

5/5

The Board, via the NC reviews annually the time commitments of the Directors and ensures that they are able
to carry out their own responsibilities and contributions to the Board. It is the Board’s policy for Directors to
notify the Chairman before accepting any new directorship notwithstanding that the ACE LR allows a Director
to sit on the Board of five (5) listed issuers. Such notification is expected to include an indication of time that
would be spent on the new appointment.
In order to enable Directors to sustain active participation in Board deliberations, the Directors have access
to continuing education programmes or trainings. The Directors have devoted sufficient time to update their
knowledge and enhance their skills by attending trainings, details as set out in page 21 of this Statement.

The members of the NC shall comprise of Non-Executive Directors and a majority of whom must be
Independent Directors appointed by the Board.
The current composition of the NC is as follows:

No.

Name

Designation

1

Mr Mah Yong Sun

Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

2

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow

Member (Independent Non-Executive Chairman)

The responsibilities of the NC in overseeing the selection and assessment of Directors are stipulated in its
Terms of Reference of NC which is available on the Company’s website at www.revasia.com.
During the financial year under review, the NC met once and attended by two (2) of its members. The NC
undertook the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reviewed, considered and recommended to the Board for approval, the re-election of Directors who
retire by rotation pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association;
Reviewed and discussed the suitable training programmes for continuous development of Directors;
Assessed the independence of Independent Directors;
Evaluated the performance and effectiveness of the Board and each individual Director;
Reviewed and discussed the Board’s composition; and
Reviewed and assessed the ARMC’s activities, performance and terms of office of ARMC and each of
the ARMC members.

Based on the schedule of rotation, Mr Patrick YKin Grove and Mr Lucas Robert Elliott are subject to
retirement by rotation pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of Association of the Company at the
forthcoming Ninth Annual General Meteing (“9th AGM”).
The Terms of Reference of the NC is available on the Company’s website at www.revasia.com.
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13. Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a formal policy on diversity of the Company and would take into consideration a range
of different skills, age, gender, ethnicity, backgrounds and experiences represented amongst its Directors,
officers and staff as the Board is aware that it is important in ensuring robust decision-making processes with
a diversified viewpoints and the effective governance of the Company. The Diversity Policy could be found on
the Company’s website at www.revasia.com.
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During the financial year, the Board members attended conferences, seminars, forums and training
programmes as follows:

No.

Name of Director

Training Programme/ Conference/ Seminar

1

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow

1. USB 2018 Outlook
2. UBS Special edition “Living Long Living Well”
3. TOKEN2049 Crypto Conference
4. Disruptive Technologies Conference

2

Dato’ Justin Leong Ming Loong

1. Invest Malaysia

The Company would only consider the issue of diversity for appointments to the Board and Senior
Management, when the time comes.
14. Board Assessment and Annual Evaluation
The NC reviews annually the required mix of skills and experience of Directors; effectiveness of the Board as
a whole; succession plans and boardroom diversity, including gender, age, ethnicity, diversity; training courses
for Directors and other qualities of the Board, including core-competencies which Non-Executive Directors
should bring to the Board.
The evaluation of the suitability of candidates is solely based on the candidates’ competency, character, time
commitment, integrity and experience in meeting the needs of the Company. The assessment and comments
by Directors are summarised in a questionnaire regarding the effectiveness of the Board and its Board
Committees and discussed at the NC meeting and reported at the Board Meeting by the NC Chairman. All
assessments and evaluations carried out by the NC in the discharge of its functions are properly documented.
Based on the results of the 2018 evaluations, the overall Directors’ views were that the Board was functioning
effectively and each of the Directors was found to have made effective contributions and commitments
including time in their respective roles.
15. Directors’ Training
The Board, via the NC, continues to ensure that the Directors to attend appropriate briefings, seminars,
conferences and courses to keep abreast with changes in legislations and regulations affecting the Group.
All Directors have completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme. The Directors are mindful that they
need to continue to enhance their skills and knowledge to maximise their effectiveness as Directors during
their tenure. Throughout their period in office, the Directors were continually updated on the Group’s
business and regulatory requirements.
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The Company Secretaries briefed and highlighted the relevant guidelines on statutory and regulatory
requirements from time to time to the Board, amongst others, the amendments to the Listing Requirements
of Bursa Securities, the new requirements of MCCG and the Companies Act 2016. The External Auditors also
briefed the Board members on any current and future changes to the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
that affect the Group’s financial statements.
16. Remuneration Committee (“RC”) – Directors’ Remuneration
The RC established sets of policy, framework and reviews the remuneration of Directors which is linked to
strategy and/or performance or long term objectives of the Company to ensure that the Company is able to
attract and retain capable Directors. The Executive Directors’ remunerations are structured to link rewards
to corporate and individual performance. In the case of Non-Executive Directors, the level of remuneration
reflects the experience and level of responsibilities undertaken.
The members of the RC shall comprise of Non-Executive Directors and a majority of whom must be
Independent Directors.
The RC comprises of wholly Non-Executive Directors, both are independent. The RC consists of the
following members:
No.

Name

Designation

1

Mr Mah Yong Sun

Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

2

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow

Member (Independent Non-Executive Chairman)

The RC met once during the financial year under review to discuss the remuneration packages of all Directors.
The determination of the remuneration packages is a matter for the Board as a whole. The Executive
Directors concerned abstained from deciding their own remuneration but may attend the RC meetings at the
invitation of the Chairman of the RC if their presence is required.
The Non-Executive Directors’ fees and benefits payable to Directors have also been reviewed and
recommended by the RC to the Board to seek shareholders’ approval at the Company’s forthcoming
AGM pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company. No Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.
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The detailed disclosure of the remuneration of the individual Directors during the financial year under review is as
follows:

No.

Name of Directors

Remuneration

Fees

Allowance

Benefits
-in-kind

1

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow

-

108,000

7,500

-

2

Mr Mah Yong Sun

-

60,000

7,500

-

3

Mr Patrick YKin Grove

-

60,000

3,000

-

4

Mr Lucas Robert Elliott

-

60,000

9,000

-

5

Dato’ Justin Leong Ming Loong

-

60,000

5,250

-

6

Encik Wan Mohd Firdaus Bin Wan Mohd Fuaad

-

60,000

5,250

-

Total

-

408,000

37,500

-

Notes: As the Company is not in operations, it presently has no employees and to date, the Company has yet to
identify suitable candidates for the appointment of Senior Management. Therefore, the remuneration of Senior
Management on named basis was not disclosed in this Annual Report to be in line with MCCG 2017.
Each of the Director receives Directors’ Fees and meeting allowances for each Board meeting, Committee
meetings and general meetings that they attended. The level of Directors’ fees reflects their experience and
responsibilities and was determined by the Board with approval from shareholders at the AGM.
In respect of the financial year under review, the RC has reviewed the remuneration of the Directors, reflected
the level of risk, responsibilities as well as the performance of the Company and the packages were well within the
industry norm.
The policy on Remuneration of Directors is published on the Company’s website at www.revasia.com.
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PRINCIPLE B – EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
I. AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (“ARMC”)
1. Composition
The Board upholds the integrity in financial reporting. The ARMC is entrusted to provide advice and assistance
to the Board in fulfilling its statutory and fiduciary responsibilities relating to the Company’s internal and
external audit functions, risk management, compliance systems and practices, financial statements, accounting
and control systems and matters that may significantly impact the financial condition or affairs of the business.
The ARMC is also responsible in ensuring that the financial statements of the Company comply with the
applicable financial reporting standards in Malaysia.
The ARMC comprises three (3) members, two (2) of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors and
one (1) is Independent Non-Executive Director, with Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow as the
ARMC Chairman. The composition of the ARMC, including its roles and responsibilities, number of meetings
and attendance of ARMC, summary of ARMC activities during the financial year under review is set out on
pages 33 to 34 under Audit and Risk Management Committee Report of this Annual Report.
The ARMC has in its Terms of Reference states that a former key audit partner to observe a cooling-off
period of at least two years before being appointed as a member of the ARMC. Alongside, the ARMC has the
procedures to assess the suitability, objectivity and independence of the external auditors which is contained in
the Terms of Reference of the ARMC.
2. Summary of Key Activities
The Board recognised the value of an effective ARMC in ensuring the Company’s financial statements is a
reliable source of financial information by establishing the procedures, via the ARMC, to assess the suitability
and independence of the External Auditors. The ARMC was satisfied with the performance of External
Auditors based on the quality of services and sufficiency of resources they provided to the Group.
The ARMC also took into account the openness in communication and interaction with the lead audit
engagement partner and engagement team through discussions at private meetings without presence
of the Management and Executive Directors, which demonstrated their independence, objectivity and
professionalism. The activities relating to the external auditors as set out on pages 33 to 34 in the ARMC
Report of this Annual Report.
In view of the satisfaction on the service provided, the Board had approved the ARMC’s recommendation for
the shareholders’ approval to be sought at the forthcoming Ninth AGM on the re-appointment of BDO PLT
as the External Auditors of the Company for the Financial Year 2019.
The External Auditors have confirmed in writing that they are, and have been, independent throughout the
conduct of the audit engagement with the Group in accordance with the independence criteria set out by the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants.
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II. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK
The Board recognises its responsibilities over the Company’s internal control and risk management framework.
The Board has an established on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing key risk areas and mitigation
controls which may affect the Company’s business objectives. The Board through its ARMC regularly reviews this
process to ensure the internal control and risk management frameworks are adequate and effective.
The ARMC meets regularly to review the risks identified and discuss on mitigation lack in place and report
to ARMC quarterly and conduct annual review and periodic testing of internal control and risk management
framework.
Details on internal control and risk management framework are set out in the Statement on Risk Management
and Internal Control in the Annual Report. The Board has ultimate responsibility for reviewing the Group’s risks,
approving the risk management framework policy and overseeing the Group’s strategic risk management and
internal control framework.
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The Company’s website, www.revasia.com also contains all announcements made to Bursa Securities as well as the
contact details of designated persons to address any queries.

II. CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS
During the AGM, there was a presentation on the Group’s performance and major activities which were carried
out by the Group during the financial year under review. During the meeting, shareholders have the opportunities
to enquire and comment on the Group’s performance and operations and the enquiries raised were succinctly
addressed by the Board.
The Notice of AGM is circulated at least twenty eight (28) days before the date of the meeting to be in line with the
MCCG to enable shareholders to vet through the Annual Report and papers supporting the resolutions proposed.
This is also in line with Section 316(2) of Companies Act 2016 and Rule 7.15 of ACE Market LR which call for at least
21-days’ notice period for public companies or listed issuers respectively.

The ARMC assists the Board in discharging these responsibilities by overseeing and reviewing the risk management
framework and the effectiveness of risk management of the Group. The ARMC processes are designed to establish
a proactive framework and dialogue in which the ARMC, the Management, External and Internal Auditors are able
to review and assess the risk management framework.

In addition to being dispatched individually to shareholders, the Notice of AGM is also circulated in a nationally
circulated newspaper alongside an announcement on the website of Bursa Securities. This allows shareholders to
have immediate access of the notice of AGM and make the necessary preparations for the AGM.

The ARMC met with External Auditors twice a year without the presence of the Management and Executive
Directors during the financial year to allow discussions of any issues arising from the audit exercise or any other
matters, which the External Auditors wished to raise.

The Company Secretaries prepare the minutes of general meetings, which incorporate substantial comments or
queries from MSWG and shareholders and responses from Board and Management. A summary of the key matters
discussed at the annual general meeting, would be published on the Company’s website upon being reviewed by the
Board members and approved by the Chairman within 30 days from the date of AGM.

PRINCIPLE C – INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND
MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

As the number of registered shareholders and proxy holders physically attending the general meetings of
the Company is considered small and manageable by the Company, the use of electronic voting system is not
practicable at this juncture.

I. COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Board has formalised a corporate disclosure policies and procedures to enable effective, transparent,
comprehensive, accurate and timely disclosures relating to the Group to the regulators, shareholders and
stakeholders not only to comply with the disclosure requirements as stipulated in the ACE LR, but also setting
out the persons authorised and responsible to approve and disclose material information to shareholders and
stakeholders in compliance with the ACE Market LR of Bursa Securities.
The Board has established a dedicated section for corporate information on the Company’s website at
www.revasia.com where information on the Company’s announcements, financial information, share prices and
the Company’s annual report may be accessed.
It has always been the Group’s practice to maintain good relationship with its shareholders. Major corporate
developments and happenings in the Group have always been duly and promptly announced to all shareholders,
in line with Bursa Securities’ objectives of ensuring transparency and good corporate governance practices.
The Group’s financial performance, major corporate developments and other relevant information are promptly
disseminated to shareholders and investors via announcements of its quarterly results, annual report, corporate
announcements to Bursa Securities and press conferences. Further update of the Group’s activities and operations
are also disseminated to shareholders and investors through dialogue with analysts, fund managers, investor
relations roadshows and the media.

During the last AGM, not all the directors attended but the Chairman of all the respective Board Committees was
present to address all relevant questions raised by shareholders. The Chairman provided shareholders with a brief
review on the Group’s financial performance and operations. Nevertheless, all the Directors will endeavour to
attend the forthcoming Ninth AGM.
All the resolutions set out in the Notice of Eighth AGM were put to vote by poll voting and duly passed. The
shareholders were informed of their rights to demand for a poll. The outcome of the AGM was announced to Bursa
Securities on the same meeting day. The Company had appointed a scrutineer to verify the poll results.
A Summary of Key Matters discussed at the last AGM has been published on the Company’s website within the
stipulated timeline upon being reviewed by the Board members and approved by the Chairman.
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION

Corporate governance was clearly imperative for the Group in the year 2018 against the backdrop of regulatory
changes in the domestic corporate governance realm and a relatively challenging economic environment that is
characterised by volatile market conditions and commodity prices.
When the time comes, the Board would plan the Company’s focus areas. Even so, the Board directed the creation
of long term values for stakeholders and performed its core duties effectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRIORITIES
Moving forward, the Company would continue working towards achieving high quality outcomes in the realm of
corporate governance. The Board has identified the following forward-looking action item that would help to
achieve its corporate governance objectives.

BOARD DIVERSITY
When the time comes, the Board would escalate its efforts to establish a diverse Board which bears a variety in
the dimensions of skills, experience, age, cultural background and gender. In the near future, the Board would
undertake to formalise policies on gender diversity, along with specific targets and measures to meet those targets.
The targets would incorporate specific quantitative benchmarks (e.g. percentage of women on Board and Senior
Management level) that could be monitored for effectiveness.

1. Utilisation of Proceeds
The Company did not raise fund through any corporate proposals during the financial year under review.
2. Audit and Non-Audit Fees
During the financial year under review, the amount of audit and non-audit fees paid by the Company and the
Group to the external auditors are as follows:
Company
RM
Audit services rendered
Non-audit services rendered
Total

Group
RM

43,000

52,000

2,000

4,499

45,000

56,499

The non-audit fees paid are related to the following:
RM
i

Review of Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control

2,000

ii

Services for unaudited report and XBRL filing

2,499

Total

4,499

3. Material Contracts Involving Interest of the Directors, Chief Executive and Major
Shareholders
The Company and its subsidiaries have not entered into any material contracts involving Directors, Chief
Executive and major shareholders.
4. Related Party Transactions
The ARMC reviews on quarterly basis all related party transactions and conflict of interest that may arise within
the Group. The details of the related party transactions are set out in the Audited Financial Statements of this
Annual Report.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 2016, to ensure that the financial statements prepared for each
financial year have been made in accordance with the applicable approved accounting standards and give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company at the end of the financial year and to the results and
cash flows of the Group and the Company for the financial year.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group and the Company maintain accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and of the Company, which enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2016.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have considered the following:1)
2)
3)
4)

That the Group and Company have applied appropriate accounting policies consistently;
That reasonable and prudent judgement and estimates were made;
That all applicable approved accounting standards have been adhered to; and
That the preparation of the financial statements is on a going concern basis as the Directors have a reasonable
expectation, having made enquiries, that the Group and Company have adequate resources to continue in
operations for the foreseeable future.

This Statement was made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 28 March 2019.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT
The Board of Directors (“Board”) is pleased to present the report on the Nomination Committee (“NC”) for the
financial year ended 31 December 2018.

MEMBERS OF THE NC
The NC held one (1) meeting during the financial year. Details of the composition of the NC and the attendance of
the members at the meeting during the financial year are as follows:

Name
Mah Yong Sun
Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow

Designation

Meeting
Attendance

Chairman, Independent NonExecutive Director

1/1

Member, Independent NonExecutive Chairman

1/1

The Board did not nominate a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director to whom queries or concern regarding
the Group may be conveyed.
The Board is of the view that all Independent Directors of the Company are always within reach of the
shareholders and issues are discussed openly at meetings, thus shareholders may approach any of the Independent
Directors of the Company.
With its diversity of skills and professions, the Board had been able to provide effective collective leadership to the
Group and strategies to ensure that high standards of conduct and integrity are practised at the Company.
The duties and responsibilities of the NC are spelt out in the Terms of Reference of the NC, a copy of which is
available in the Company’s website, www.revasia.com.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE NC DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR UNDER REVIEW
During the financial year, the activities undertaken by the NC are as follows:1)
2)
3)
4)

Reviewed the size, structure and composition of the Board;
Assessed the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Board committees;
Assessed the mix of skills and experience of each individual Director including the core competencies of the
Non-Executive Directors;
Assessed the independence of its Independent Directors;
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5)
6)
7)
8)
9)

Assessed the character, experience, integrity, competence and time commitment of the Directors;
Reviewed the trainings attended by the Directors;
Reviewed and recommended the Terms of Reference of the NC to the Board;
Reviewed and recommended to the Board the re-election of Directors;
Reviewed and recommended the Terms of Office and Performance of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee; and
10) Reviewed and recommended to the Board the NC Report for disclosure in the Company’s Annual Report
DEVELOP, MAINTAIN AND REVIEW CRITERIA FOR RECRUITMENT PROCESSES,
ELECTION PROCESS AND ANNUAL ASSESSMENT OF DIRECTORS
The NC oversees the Board succession planning and is responsible for assessing and recommending suitable
candidates of Directors to fill Board vacancies and complement the existing Board.
The policy of the Company is from time to time, assess the desirable balance in Board membership by reviewing
the size, composition, boardroom diversity and skill of the Board in order to assist the Board effective discharge of
its roles and responsibilities. High levels of professional skills and appropriate personal qualities are pre-requisite
for directorships. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the qualifications for Board membership are
the ability to make informed business decisions and recommendations, an entrepreneurial talent for contributing
to the creation of shareholders’ value, relevant experience, the ability to appreciate the wider picture, ability to
ask probing operational related questions; high ethical standards, sound practical sense and total commitment to
furthering the interests of shareholders and achievement of the Company’s goal.
The NC is entrusted to review and recommend the right person with the best skill and abilities, expertise to
strengthen the composition of the Board.
Appointment process
In evaluating the suitability of candidate, the NC will assess and consider the following attributes or factors in
making recommendation to the Board:1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)

skills, knowledge, expertise and experience;
professionalism;
commitment (including time commitment) to effectively discharge his role as a Director;
contribution and performance;
background, character, integrity, and competence;
in the case of candidates for the position of Independent Directors, the NC evaluates the candidates’ abilities
to discharge such responsibilities/functions as are expected from Independent Directors; and
Boardroom diversity including gender diversity.

The formal and transparent procedures for appointment of Directors as follows:1)
2)

3)
4)
5)

The NC shall prepare descriptions of the director characteristics the Board is looking for in a new
appointment.
The NC will seek professional advice as and when it considers necessary to identify a short-list of suitable
candidates and a list of nominations for candidates proposed by the Group MD/CEO and within the bounds of
practicability by any other Senior Management, Director or shareholder for consideration.
The Chairman of the NC will send list of nominees to the other committee members and assign to them
responsibilities to prepare a list of suitable candidates for interview.
All the candidates are interviewed by at least two members of the NC whose evaluations will be circulated to
all the members of NC. A target appointment date is then fixed.
The NC will then have to make a unanimous decision in recommending the appointment to the Board.
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The Board will then decide on the best candidate by ballot or unanimous decision and a Board resolution will
be passed to appoint the candidate.
The written consent of the nominees to act if elected shall be secured.

Re-election of Directors
In accordance to the Articles of Association of the Company, one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being or
the number nearest to one-third (1/3), shall retire from office and be eligible for re-election provided always that
all Directors shall retire for office at least once in every (3) years. Any person appointed by the Board either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors, shall hold office until the next Annual General Meeting
(“AGM”) and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Based on the schedule of rotation, the following Directors are subject to retirement by rotation pursuant to the
Company’s Articles of Association at the forthcoming Ninth AGM:-

(i) Mr Patrick Ykin Grove (Article 85)
(ii) Mr Lucas Robert Elliott (Article 85)

The NC had assessed the effectiveness of Mr Patrick Ykin Grove and Mr Lucas Robert Elliott, and recommended
their re-election to the Board for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Ninth AGM.
The Board then recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors at the forthcoming AGM.
Board Evaluation
The evaluation process was is led by the NC Chairman and supported by the Company Secretaries via
questionnaire. The evaluation results were are considered by the NC, who made recommendations to Board,
aimed at helping the Board to discharge its duties more effectively. All assessments and evaluations carried out by
the NC in the discharge of all its functions were properly documented.
The NC has developed the following criterias to be used in the assessment of Board and Board Committees:
1)
2)

3)
4)

The required mix of skills, expertise, composition, experience and other qualities of the Board, including the
core competencies of both Executive and Non-Executive Directors should bring to the Board;
The effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Committees of the Board and the contribution of each
individual Director, Chief Executive Officer and/or General Manager and Financial Officer including his time
commitment, character, experience and integrity;
The effectiveness and performance of the Executive Directors (if any); and
The independence of its Independent Directors.

32

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

33

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE REPORT

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is pleased to present the report on the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
The Board of Directors (“Board”) is pleased to present the report on the Audit and Risk Management Committee
(“ARMC”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

MEMBERS OF THE RC
The RC held one (1) meeting during the financial year. Details of the composition of the RC and the attendance of
each member at the meeting during the financial year are as follows:

Designation

Meeting
Attendance

Chairman, Independent NonExecutive Director

1/1

Member, Independent NonExecutive Chairman

1/1

Name
Mah Yong Sun
Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow

The duties and responsibilities of the RC are spelt out in the Terms of Reference of the RC. A copy of which is
available in the Company’s website, www.revasia.com.

MEMBERS OF THE ARMC
The ARMC held five (5) meetings during the financial year. Details of the composition of the ARMC and the
attendance of each member at the meeting during the financial year are as follows:

Name

Meeting
Attendance

Dato’ Larry Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow

Chairman, Independent
Non-Executive Chairman

4/5

Mah Yong Sun

Member, Independent
Non-Executive Director

4/5

Member, Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

5/5

Lucas Robert Elliott

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Designation

The policy practised by the RC is to provide remuneration packages that commensurate with the experience, roles
and level of responsibilities and should be adequate and sufficient to retain and motivate the Directors but shall not
be excessive.
SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE ARMC DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
UNDER REVIEW

Details of the Directors’ Remuneration
Details of the total remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 were as follows:The Group

The Company

Executive
Directors
RM

NonExecutive
Directors
RM

Executive
Directors
RM

NonExecutive
Directors
RM

Fees

-

408,000

-

408,000

Other emoluments

-

-

-

-

Allowance

-

37,500

-

37,500

Benefits in Kind

-

-

-

-

The activities undertaken by the ARMC during the financial year under review are as follows:
(a) Reviewed the external auditors’ scope of work and audit plans for the year;
(b) Reviewed with the external auditors the approved accounting standards applicable to the financial statements
of the Company and of the Group;
(c) Reviewed with the external auditors the results and issues arising from the external auditors’ audit of the yearend financial statements and resolution of issues highlighted in their report to the ARMC;
(d) Reviewed the independence, quality, reputation and effectiveness of the external auditors and recommended
the re-appointment of external auditors;
(e) Considered and recommended the auditors fee audit fees for approval of the Board;
(f) Reviewed the annual financial statements, interim financial results and the announcements pertaining
thereto before recommending to the Board for release to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and Securities
Commission. The review focused particularly on:-

34

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

•
•
•
•

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

changes in or implementation of major accounting policies and practices;
significant matters highlighted including financial reporting issues, significant judgements made by
management, significant and unusual events or transactions and how these matters are being addressed;
going concern assumptions; and
compliance with accounting standards and other statutory requirements;

(g) Reviewed any related party transactions and conflict of interest situations entered into by the Group;
(h) Reviewed other pertinent issues of the Group, which has significant impact on the results of the Group and
the statutory audits;
(i) Held at least two (2) meetings with the external auditors and private sessions without the presence of the
executive board members and management were not required during the ARMC meetings.
(j) Reviewed the Chairman’s Statement, Group Financial Highlights, Statement on Risk Management and Internal
Control, Sustainability Statement, ARMC Report, Corporate Governance Overview Statement and Corporate
Governance Report before recommending to the Board for approval and disclosure in the Company’s Annual
Report;
(k) Reviewed the Circular to Shareholders in relation to the Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for
Recurrent Related Party Transactions (“RRPTs”) of a Revenue or Trading Nature before recommending to the
Board for approval; and
(l) Reviewed and recommended the Terms of Reference of ARMC to the Board.
(m) Review the Enterprise Risk Management Report, where applicable; and
(n) Review the effectiveness of the risk management framework and internal control system of the Group, where
applicable.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
INTRODUCTION
The Board of Directors (“Board”) is committed to maintain a sound risk management framework and internal
controls system to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets.
The Board is pleased to present the following Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control of the Group,
which is prepared in accordance with Rule 15.26(b) of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for
Directors of Listed Issuers.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY
The Board acknowledges the importance of maintaining a sound system of risk management framework and
internal control in all aspects of the Group’s business to safeguard the interests of its shareholders. The Board
is responsible to determine the Company’s level of risk tolerance and to review the effectiveness, adequacy and
integrity of the Group’s risk management framework and internal controls system. The Board believes that this is a
continuing process and more importantly a concerted effort by all employees of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The Company is currently classified as a Cash Company under the Guidance Note 2 of the ACE Market Listing
Requirements where it does not operate a core business for the year under review.
Nevertheless, the Board recognises that risk management shall always be an integral part of the business operation.
Where applicable, the Board acknowledges that a Risk Management Framework and Risk Management Policies and
Procedures (“P&P”) serves as guidance notes to the Senior Management on a systematic approach to assess and
manage risk. The framework and the P&P are to facilitate achievement of the following objectives:(i) To identify and prioritise potential risk areas and risk events;
(ii) To develop methods to evaluate identified risks; and
(iii) To develop risk management, risk mitigation and risk response strategies and plans.
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At present, the Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) receives quarterly reports from the outsourced
management consultants. Prior to the Company’s classification as a Cash Company, the former Senior Management
would review the findings and decision making by the Company in various areas of enterprise risk management
towards achievement of the objectives set out above. The proceedings of the ARMC meetings and key information
on risk management are reported to the Board on a quarterly basis for deliberation and feedback from the Board
to the Senior Management. Further assurance is provided by the Internal Audit function which operates across the
Group with emphasis on key operating functions within the Group.
Moving forward, the Group acknowledges the need for an effective and independent Internal Audit function as part
of a robust control structure to address key risks and envision to do so upon establishment of a new core business.

OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS
The other key elements of the Group’s system of internal controls are described below:
•

•

•

•

Board Committees are established by the Board to assist the Board in the execution of its responsibilities
and to provide oversight on the effectiveness of the Group’s operation. All strategic, business and investment
plans are approved and monitored by the Board. The Board is supported in this effort by three (3) Board
Committees, namely the ARMC, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee that provide
focus and counsel. These Board Committees are governed by specific terms of references and are accountable
to the Board. Further details of these Board Committees are set out in the Statement on Corporate
Governance;
There are regular Board meetings and Board papers are distributed to all Board members who are entitled
to receive and access all necessary and relevant information. Decisions of the Board are only made after the
required information is made available and deliberated on by the Board. The Board maintains complete and
effective control over the strategies and direction of the Group;
Quarterly financial statements and the Group performance are deliberated by the ARMC, which is
subsequently presented to the Board for their review, consideration and approval before its release to Bursa
Securities;
Financial and operational information are prepared monthly for the Board of Directors review. The Board is
constantly updated on the financial position of the Group of which rectification/remedial measures can be taken
promptly if necessary; and
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ASSURANCE AND LIMITATION
Prior to the disposal of the Group’s core business, the Board receives the assurance from the former General
Manager and Financial Controller that the risk management and internal control system is operating adequately
and effectively, in all material aspects, based on the existing risk management and internal control system of the
Group. In this respect, the Board believes that the current management control, risk management framework and
the review mechanism provide reasonable assurance on the effectiveness of the risk management framework and
internal control system of the Group. However, due to the nature and limitations inherent in any risk management
framework and internal control system, the Board is aware that a sound risk management framework and internal
control system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against any material misstatements or fraud
or misappropriation of assets or loss occurrence. It should also be appreciated that the whole risk management
framework and internal control system is designed to manage and control risks appropriately rather than a
definitive system designed for the total avoidance of risks or for eliminating risk of failure.
The Board envision to maintain a similar risk management and internal control system upon establishment of a new
core business.

CONCLUSION
The Board is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management framework and internal control system are operating
adequately and effectively to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. However, the Board also
recognises the fact that the Group’s risk management framework and internal control system must continuously
evolve to support the growth and dynamics of the Group as well as to meet the changing and challenging business
environment. As such, the Board, in striving for continuous improvement, will put in place appropriate action plans,
where necessary, to further enhance the Group’s risk management frameworks and internal control system.
This Statement was made in accordance a resolution of the Board dated 28 March 2019.
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is required to disclose a Sustainability Statement in accordance
with Rule 90 of Appendix 9C of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) beginning from the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
The Board is committed to understanding and implementing sustainable management of material
economic, environmental and social risks and opportunities, and aims to provide a balanced,
comparable and meaningful report.
The Board is mindful the Company’s GN2 status will have varying extends of economic effects
to its shareholders, and maintains its vigor in active and continuous efforts to seek a resolution.
Diversity within the Board is also a matter of consideration and having adopted a Diversity Policy,
the Board considers to establish greater diversity in time to come as mentioned in prior pages of
this Annual Report.
Being mindful of the Company’s GN2 status, the Board is of the opinion that a better balanced,
comparable and meaningful Sustainability Statement would be disclosed once the acquisition of core
business is consolidated.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

The Directors hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS
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The Directors who have held office during the financial year and up to the date of this report are as follows:
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Rev Asia Berhad

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and details of the subsidiaries
are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these
activities of the Group and of the Company during the financial year.

Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
Patrick YKin Grove				
Mah Yong Sun				
Lucas Robert Elliott
Dato’ Justin Leong Ming Loong 		
Wan Mohd Firdaus Bin Wan Mohd Fuaad

RESULTS

Subsidiaries of Rev Asia Berhad

Group
RM

Company
RM

Loss for the financial year

(592,372)

(960,073)

Tee Choon Wee
Voon Tze Khay

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

(626,958)
34,586

(960,073)
-

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

(592,372)

(960,073)

The Directors holding office at the end of the financial year and their beneficial interest in ordinary shares of the
Company or its related corporations during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 as recorded in the Register of
Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 59 of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia were as follows:

DIVIDENDS

Number of ordinary shares

No dividend has been paid, declared or proposed by the Company since the end of the previous financial year were
as follows:
The Directors do not recommend any dividend in respect of the current financial year.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year.

Balance
as at
1.1.2018

Balance
as at
31.12.2018

Bought

Sold

952,948
2,413,700

-

-

952,948
2,413,700

58,907,329
58,907,329

-

-

58,907,329
58,907,329

Shares in the Company
Direct interests:
Mah Yong Sun
Dato’ Justin Leong Ming Loong
Indirect interests:
Patrick YKin Grove
Lucas Robert Elliott

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Number of ordinary shares
Balance
as at
1.1.2018

The Company did not issue any new shares debentures during the financial year.

Bought

Sold

-

-

Balance
as at
31.12.2018

Shares in the holding company,
Catcha Group Pte. Ltd.
Direct interests:
Patrick YKin Grove
Lucas Robert Elliott

2,869,457
717,363

2,869,457
717,363
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

By virtue of their interests in the ordinary shares of the Company, Patrick YKin Grove and Lucas Robert Elliott are
also deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares of all the subsidiaries to the extent that the Company has an
interest.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION REGARDING THE GROUP
AND THE COMPANY

None of the other Directors holding office at the end of the financial year held any interest in the ordinary shares
and options over ordinary shares of the Company and of its related corporations during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the Directors have received or become entitled to receive any
benefit (other than those benefits included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received or due and receivable
by the Directors as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related
corporation with any Director, or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the
Director has a substantial financial interest.
There were no arrangements made during and at the end of the financial year, to which the Company is a party,
which had the object of enabling the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration of Directors who held office during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 were as follows:
Group
RM
Directors’ fees
Others

Company
RM

408,000
37,500

408,000
37,500

445,500

445,500

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE FOR OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
The Group and the Company effected Directors’ liability insurance during the financial year to protect the
Directors of the Group and of the Company against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.
There were no indemnity given to or insurance effected for the auditors of the Group and of the Company during
the financial year.
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(I) AS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(a) Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the Directors took
reasonable steps:
(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the
making of provision for doubtful debts and had satisfied themselves that there are no known bad
debts and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and
(ii) to ensure that any current asset other than debts, which were unlikely to be realised their book
values in the ordinary course of business have been written down to their estimated realisable
values.
(b) In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during
the financial year have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and
unusual nature.
(II) FROM THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR TO THE DATE OF THIS REPORT
(c) The Directors are not aware of any circumstances:
(i) which would necessitate the writing off of bad debts or render the amount of the provision for
doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any
material extent;
(ii) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group
and of the Company misleading; and
(iii) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or
liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.
(d) In the opinion of the Directors:
(i) there has not arisen any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect
substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in
which this report is made; and
(ii) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable, within
the period of twelve (12) months after the end of the financial year which would or may affect the
ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.
(III) AS AT THE DATE OF THIS REPORT
(e) There are no charges on the assets of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of
the financial year to secure the liabilities of any other person.
(f) There are no contingent liabilities of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the
financial year.
(g) The Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial
statements which would render any amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company misleading.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 50 to 84 have been drawn up in
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the
provisions of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and of their financial performance and cash flows of the Group
and of the Company for the financial year then ended.

Significant events during the financial year are disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.

On behalf of the Board,
HOLDING COMPANY
The Directors regard Catcha Group Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore, as the ultimate holding
company.

AUDITORS
The auditors, BDO PLT (LLP0018825-LCA & AF 0206), have expressed their willingness to continue in office.
The details of auditors’ remuneration of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2018 are disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements.
BDO PLT (LLP0018825-LCA & AF 0206) was registered on 2 January 2019 and with effect from that date, BDO
(AF 0206), a conventional partnership was converted to a limited liability partnership.
Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
Director
Kuala Lumpur
28 March 2019

Lucas Robert Elliott
Director

Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
Director

Lucas Robert Elliott
Director

Kuala Lumpur
28 March 2019

STATUTORY DECLARATION
I, Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow (CA 2540), being the Director primarily responsible for the financial
management of Rev Asia Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages
50 to 84 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously
believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly		
)
declared by the abovenamed at
)
Kuala Lumpur this			
)		
28 March 2019			
)			
Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
									
(CA 2540)
Before me:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF REV ASIA BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF REV ASIA BERHAD (continued)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Rev Asia Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2018 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, as set out on pages 50 to 84 .
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and of the Company as at 31 December 2018, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial
year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities
We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics,
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. We have determined that there are
no key audit matters to communicate in our report.
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company and our auditors’ report thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with MFRSs, IFRSs, and the requirements of the Companies
Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing
the ability of the Group and of the Company to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF REV ASIA BERHAD (continued)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF REV ASIA BERHAD (continued)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
internal control of the Group and of the Company.
(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.
(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group or of the Company to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.
(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
(f) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, we report that a subsidiary of which
we have not acted as auditors, is disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements.
Other Matters
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person
for the content of this report.

BDO PLT
LLP0018825-LCA & AF 0206
Chartered Accountants
Kuala Lumpur
28 March 2019

Ng Soe Kei
02982/08/2019 J
Chartered Accountant
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Group
ASSETS

Company

Note

2018
RM

2017
RM

5
6

-

-

-

-

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Current assets
Other receivables
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

10
11

TOTAL ASSETS

505,784
11,382
6,376,832

3,526,434
10,635
3,859,579

6,893,998

7,396,648

6,893,998

7,396,648

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital
Reserves

ASSETS

Current assets
Other receivables
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Non-controlling interest

6,562,948
-

6,319,644
828,163

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL EQUITY

6,562,948

7,147,807

LIABILITIES

12
13

Current liabilities
Other payables

LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

10
11

2018
RM

2017
RM
2

2

2

2

388,438
747
6,222,038

3,600,438
3,850,032

6,611,223

7,450,470

6,611,225

7,450,472

6,732,001
(406,008)

6,732,001
554,065

6,325,993

7,286,066

285,232

164,406

285,232

164,406

6,611,225

7,450,472

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

7

TOTAL ASSETS

6,732,001
(412,357)

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Note

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries

6,732,001
(169,053)

Non-current liabilities
Other payables
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14

331,050

248,841

TOTAL LIABILITIES

331,050

248,841

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

6,893,998

7,396,648

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

12
13

14
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Group

Note

2018
RM

2017
RM

506,509
(1,035,954)
(37,424)

5,998,872
(4,984,043)
(3,375,016)

106,447
(979,362)
(61,655)

23,719,790
(4,842,158)
(9,355,999)
9,521,633

15

(566,869)

(2,360,187)

(934,570)

Taxation

16

(25,503)

-

(25,503)

(592,372)

(2,360,187)

(960,073)

(Loss)/Profit from continuing
operations, net of tax

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)
Group

2018
RM

(Loss)/Profit before tax from
continuing operations

2017
RM

Note

19

-

56,685,258

-

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total

-

9,521,633

(960,073)

56,419,818

(592,372)

54,325,071

7,513

568

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year

(584,859)

54,325,639

(960,073)

65,941,451

(Loss)/Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

(626,958)
34,586

56,904,760
(2,579,689)

(960,073)
-

65,941,451
-

(592,372)

54,325,071

(960,073)

65,941,451

(619,445)
34,586

56,905,328
(2,579,689)

(960,073)
-

65,941,451
-

(584,859)

54,325,639

(960,073)

65,941,451

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year

65,941,451

Other comprehensive (loss)/
income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation
reserve

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

-

2018
RM

2017
RM

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share
attributable to equity holders of the parent (sen)

Discontinued operations
Profit from discontinued
operations, net of tax
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Company

Continuing operations
Other income
Administrative expenses
Other expenses
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-

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

17
17

(0.47)
-

(1.76)
44.02

(0.47)

42.26

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

-

-

-

Reclassification
6,732,001

-

-

Total comprehensive loss

3,139,273

-

-

-

3,139,273

9,324,511

9,324,511
-

-

-

(6,185,238)

Merger
reserve /
RM

568

568

7,513

7,513

(108,700)

-

-

(116,213)

-

-

-

(116,781)

Exchange
translation
reserve
RM

(3,199,626)

862,749

(626,958)

(626,958)
-

(3,435,417)

(93,646,180)

(9,324,511)
6,732,001
15,438,149
(106,491,819)

56,904,760

56,904,760
-

33,306,003

Retained
earnings
RM

Distributable

6,562,948

862,749

(619,445)

(626,958)
7,513

6,319,644

(106,491,819)

(106,491,819)

56,905,328

56,904,760
568

55,906,135

Total
attributable
to owners of
the parent
RM

54,325,639

(8,370,772)
(106,491,819)
(114,862,591)
7,147,807
(592,372)
7,513
(584,859)

(2,579,689)

(8,370,772)
(8,370,772)
828,163
34,586
34,586

-

6,562,948

-

54,325,071
568

(2,579,689)
-

(862,749)

67,684,759

Total
equity
RM

11,778,624

Noncontrolling
interest
RM

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Balance as at 31 December 2018

-

-

6,732,001

Balance as at 31 December 2017
-

(15,438,149)

(6,732,001)

Total transactions with owners

Loss for the financial year
Foreign currency translations

(15,438,149)
-

(6,732,001)
-

-

-

Total comprehensive income
Transaction with owners
Disposal of subsidiaries
Par Value Reduction (Note 12)
Share Premium Reduction (Note 12)
Dividend expense (Note 18)

-

15,438,149

13,464,002
-

Share
premium
RM

Share
capital
RM

Profit for the financial year
Foreign currency translations

Balance at 1 January 2017

Group

Non-distributable

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
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Profit for the financial year, representing
total comprehensive income

Par Value Reduction (Note 12)
Share Premium Reduction (Note 12)
Dividend expense (Note 18)

Loss for the financial year, representing
total comprehensive loss

Balance as at 31 December 2018
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Non-distributable

Company
Share
capital
RM

Balance as at 1 January 2017
13,464,002

-

(6,732,001)
-

Total transactions with owners
(6,732,001)

Balance as at 31 December 2017
6,732,001

-

6,732,001

Share
premium
RM
15,438,149

-

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Retained
earnings
RM
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2018
Distributable
Total
equity
RM

Transactions with owners

18,934,283
47,836,434

65,941,451
65,941,451

(15,438,149)
6,732,001
15,438,149
(106,491,819)
(106,491,819)

(15,438,149)
(84,321,669)
(106,491,819)

554,065
7,286,066

(960,073)
(960,073)

(406,008)
6,325,993
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2018

(Loss)/Profit before tax:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Fair value adjustments on
investment in iCar Asia
Limited (“iCar”)
Impairment losses on:
- receivables
- investment in iCar
- amount owing by subsidiaries
Interest expense
Interest income
Reversal of foreign reserve
Reversal of impairment losses
on receivables
Unrealised loss/(gain) on
foreign exchange
Waiver of debt on disposal of
subsidiaries
Operating loss before
changes in working capital
Changes in working capital:
Other receivables
Other payables
Cash generated from/(used in)
operations
Tax paid
Net cash from/(used in)
operating activities

Note

19

2018
RM

Group

Company
2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

(566,869)
-

(2,360,187)
57,000,956

(934,570)
-

9,521,633
56,419,818

(566,869)

54,640,769

(934,570)

65,941,451

5
19

-

159,791
(54,122,472)

-

(56,419,818)

8

-

(5,883,459)

-

(15,208,929)

10(g)
10

(106,263)
-

202,706
229,461
(113,720)
568
(139,351)

32,865
(106,263)
-

9,325,470
(113,574)
-

10(g)
895
-

(672,237)

(406)
-

(5,026,113)
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)

Group
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

903
-

(1,007,065)

(541)
(8,423,700)

(4,899,641)

3,020,650
(33,544)

1,534,330
(2,976,809)

3,138,904
(1,361)

(512)
(2,311,623)

2,314,869

(6,468,592)

2,130,478

(7,211,776)

(26,250)

(89,907)

(26,250)

2,288,619

(6,558,499)

2,104,228

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Advances from holding company
Repayments from/(Advances to)
subsidiaries
Interest received
Drawdown of fixed deposits
Proceeds from disposal of
subsidiaries, net of cash disposed
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment

Note

2018
RM

Company
2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

122,371

50,000

122,200

50,000

106,263
-

113,720
3,589

39,315
106,263
-

(76,209)
113,574
978

19

-

68,351,660

-

70,000,000

5

-

(259,791)

-

-

Net cash from investing
activities

228,634

68,259,178

267,778

70,088,343

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid
Dividend paid

-

(229,461)
(59,241,609)

-

(59,241,609)

Net cash used in financing
activities

-

(59,471,070)

-

(59,241,609)

Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents

2,517,253

2,229,609

2,372,006

3,634,958

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of financial year

3,859,579

1,629,970

3,850,032

215,074

6,376,832

3,859,579

6,222,038

3,850,032

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of financial year

11

-

(7,211,776)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Rev Asia Berhad (“the Company”) is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia
and is listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
The registered office of the Company is located at Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower, 8 First Avenue, Bandar
Utama, 47800 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at No.45 & 47-7, The Boulevard, Mid Valley City,
Wilayah Persekutuan, 59200 Kuala Lumpur.
The holding company of the Company is Catcha Group Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore.
The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries. These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (‘RM’), which is also the
functional currency of the Company.
The financial statements were authorised for issuance in accordance with a resolution by the Board of
Directors on 28 March 2019.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Securities”) had via its letter dated 3 August 2017 notified the Company has a 12 month period from the
notice to submit its proposal to acquire a new core business in order to enable the Company to regularise its
condition and to maintain the listing status on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities.
The Directors are currently evaluating various options to formulate the regularisation plan to address the
Company’s GN2 status by looking into identifying potential future business expansion opportunities. In view
of the Directors’ intention and financial ability to pursue new business opportunities, the Directors are of the
opinion that the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and the Company on the going concern
basis is appropriate.
As disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements, the Company has been granted the extension by Bursa
Securities to submit the regularisation plan to the regulatory authorities.

4. OPERATING SEGMENTS
Rev Asia Berhad and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in online social media, online advertising, content
and publishing.
The Group has arrived at one (1) (2017: four (4)) reportable segments that are organised separately according
to the nature of products and services, specific expertise and technologies requirements, which require
different business and marketing strategies. The reportable segments are summarised as follows:
(i)

Online social media
Owning and operating an online platform for social media users to consume online news and providing
services for advertisers to spread news about their brand offerings, promotion and campaigns on social
media.

(ii)

Online media
Developing and promoting online media content and selling of online advertising space.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the
provisions of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the effects
of adoption of new MFRSs during the financial year. The new MFRSs and amendments to MFRSs adopted
during the financial year are set out in Note 24.1 to the financial statements.
The Group and the Company applied MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and MFRS 9 Financial
Instruments for the first time during the current financial year, using the cumulative effect method as at 1
January 2018. Consequently, the comparative information were not restated with any possible adjustments and
may not comparable to the financial information of the current financial year.
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except as otherwise stated in the financial statements.
Pursuant to the completion of the Proposed Disposal as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements on 1
August 2017, the Company has triggered Rule 8.03 and Guidance Note 2 (“GN2”) of the Ace Market Listing
Requirements whereby a listed issuer has suspended or ceased all of its business or its major business as a
result of the disposal of the Company’s major business. Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa

59

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and details of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 7 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the
nature of these activities of the Group and of the Company during the financial year.
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(iii) Publishing
Publication of magazines and advertising in print media.
(iv) Online classifieds
Developing and operating car classifieds and content websites.
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248,841
248,841
183,968
64,873
Segment liabilities

-

7,386,013
7,386,013
7,376,600
Segment assets

-

-

-

-

-

(202,706)
(148,206)

(54,500)

-

-

Other material non-cash items:
Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries
Impairment losses on
receivables
Fair value adjustment on
investment in iCar Asia
Limited

-

54,122,472

54,122,472

9,413

-

5,883,459
5,883,459
5,883,459

(202,706)
-

54,122,472
-

(315,698)
(315,698)
(315,698)
Tax expense

-

(125,186)
57,000,956
54,096,699
775,045

159,791

(2,235,001)

(2,360,187)

54,640,769

159,791
-

15,373,525
15,373,525

-

-

-

-

Others
RM
Online
classifieds
RM
Publishing
RM

-

2,129,212

331,050

Segment profit/(loss)
before tax

316,481

-

14,569

96,650

6,882,616

63,141

6,607,880

-

274,736

Depreciation

Segment liabilities

(25,503)

7,951,084

Segment assets

(25,503)

7,422,441

-

(566,869)

Revenue from external customers

Tax expense

(937,873)

7,454,826
(32,385)

371,004

Total
RM

Revenue
Total revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Segment (loss)/profit before tax

Others
RM

2017

Publishing
RM

4. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

2018

Total
RM

Continuing operations

Others
RM

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities and other information
by business segments:

Online
media
RM

Segment liabilities exclude tax liabilities.

Online
social
media
RM

Segment assets exclude tax assets and assets used primarily for corporate purposes.

Discontinued operations

Inter-segment revenue is priced along the same lines as sales to external customers and is eliminated
in the consolidated financial statements. These policies have been applied consistently throughout the
current and previous financial years.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities and other information by business segments (continued):

The Group evaluates performance of the operating segments on the basis of profit or loss from
operations before tax not including non-recurring losses such as restructuring costs, if any.

Continuing operations

Total
RM

Other operating segments that do not meet the quantitative thresholds of an individual reportable
segment comprised operations related to investments.

-

In previous financial year, online social media and online media segments have been classified as
discontinued operations as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

15,405,910
(32,385)

Total
RM

4. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

15,405,910
(32,385)
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7,951,084
-

60

61

-

-

Accumulated
depreciation
RM

At 31.12.2017

(653,158)

(248,740)
(165,648)
(11,986)
(226,784)

-

Cost
RM

(159,791)

(82,513)
(17,053)
(1,613)
(58,612)

-

-

Carrying
amount
RM

-

-

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Computers
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings
Renovation

259,791

248,841

553,158

331,050

136,635
109,662
8,349
5,145

7,396,648

194,618
73,039
5,250
280,251

6,893,998

Computers
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings
Renovation

Group’s assets

Carrying amount

7,386,013
10,635

Balance
as at
31.12.2017
RM

2017
RM

2017

6,882,616
11,382

Additions
RM

Total assets for reportable segments
Current tax assets

Disposal of
subsidiaries
(Note 19)
RM

Reconciliations of reportable assets and liabilities to the Group’s corresponding amounts are as follows:

Group

LIABILITIES
Total liabilities for reportable segments/Group’s liabilities
2018
RM

Depreciation
charge for
the financial
year
RM

ASSETS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance
as at
1.1.2017
RM
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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4. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(b) Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the assets to their residual values on a straight line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives represent common life expectancies applied in
the industry within which the Group operates. The principal depreciation rates are as follows:

(a) Goodwill
Goodwill recognised in a business combination is an asset at the acquisition date and is initially measured
at cost. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
(b) Other intangible assets

I.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Balance
as at
1.1.2017
RM

Disposal
of subsidiaries
RM

Balance
as at
31.12.2017
RM

Carrying amount
20,655,414
2,000,000
7,636,641

(20,655,414)
(2,000,000)
(7,636,641)

-

30,292,055

(30,292,055)

-

At 31.12.2017

Goodwill
Brand/Trademark
Domain names

65

Other intangible assets are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Computers		
33%
Office equipment		
20% - 33%
Furniture and fittings
20% - 33%
Renovation
20%

Goodwill
Brand/Trademark
Domain names
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(a) All items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition,
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Group

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cost
RM

Accumulated
amortisation
and
impairment
RM

Carrying
amount
RM

-

-

-

-

-

-

Brand/Trademark
Brand/Trademark represent intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are measured after initial
recognition at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

II. Domain names
Domain names represent intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are measured after initial
recognition at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
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8. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR DISTRIBUTION
Group

Company
2018
RM
Unquoted equity shares, at cost
At 1 January
Additions
Disposal (Note 19)

2017
RM

2
-

At 31 December

17,080,182
2
(17,080,182)

2

2

Opening balance
Fair value adjustments
Impairment loss on investment in iCar
Distribution-in-specie (Note 18)
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
- Quoted shares in Australia

Company

2018
RM

2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

-

41,366,751
5,883,459
(47,250,210)

-

41,366,751
15,208,929
(9,325,470)
(47,250,210)

-

-

-

-

(a) Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of company

Country of
incorporation

Effective interest
in equity

Principal
activities

2018

2017

Malaysia

100%

100%

Inactive

Singapore

100%

100%

Inactive

Rev Luxury Enterprise Sdn. Bhd.*@

Malaysia

70%

70%

Inactive

Rev Home Sdn. Bhd.@

Malaysia

70%

70%

Inactive

Haute Avenue Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.*
Haute Groupe Pte. Ltd.#

# Not required to be audited under local legislation.
* The Directors intend to liquidate the company.
@ On 17 August 2018, the sole shareholder of non-controlling interest has filed for member’s voluntary
winding up petition and as at 31 December 2018, the winding up is pending completion. As such, the
effective interest has remained at 70%. As a result of the above-mentioned winding up, the Directors
are of the opinion that there are no outstanding amounts owing to the sole shareholder as at
31 December 2018.

Investments in subsidiaries, which are eliminated on consolidation, are stated in the separate financial
statements of the Company at cost less impairment losses, if any.
All components of non-controlling interests shall be measured at their acquisition-date fair values,
unless another measurement basis is required by MFRSs and IFRSs. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a combination-by-combination basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, the carrying
amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the
non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.
(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries
On 7 July 2017, the Company had acquired 70% equity interest in Rev Home Sdn. Bhd. (“Rev Home”)
and Rev Luxury Enterprise Sdn. Bhd. (“Rev Luxury Enterprise”) from Rev Asia Holdings Sdn. Bhd. for
a total cash consideration of RM1.00 each. Arising therefrom, Rev Home and Rev Luxury Enterprise
became a direct subsidiary of the Company.

A non-current asset is classified as held for distribution to owners when the entity is committed to
distribute the asset to the owners. For this to be the case, the assets must be available for immediate
distribution in their present condition and the distribution must be highly probable. For the distribution to
be highly probable, actions to complete the distribution must have been initiated and should be expected to
be completed within one year from the date of classification. Actions required to complete the distribution
should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the distribution will be made or that the
distribution will be withdrawn. The probability of shareholders’ approval (if required in the jurisdiction)
should be considered as part of the assessment of whether the distribution is highly probable.
An entity shall measure a non-current asset (or disposal group) classified as held for distribution to owners
at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to distribute.
Non-current asset held for distribution is in respect of the investment in iCar Asia Limited, which was
pending distribution-in-specie of up to 52,500,000 ordinary shares of iCar Asia Limited (“iCar Asia Shares”)
by the Company as announced on 2 September 2016 (“Proposed Disposal”). The Proposed Disposal had
been approved by the Company’s shareholders on 11 November 2016. The investment in iCar Asia Limited
had been accordingly classified as non-current asset held for distribution in the previous financial year.
Subsequently, the Proposed Disposal and distribution-in-specie was announced on 10 April 2017 and the
distribution-in-specie to the shareholders of the Company was completed on 15 May 2017.
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10. OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

(a) The deferred tax liabilities are made up of the following:
Group
2018
RM

2017
RM

Balance as at 1 January 2018/2017

-

57,465

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 19)

-

(57,465)

Balance as at 31 December 2018/2017

-

-

Property, plant
and equipment
RM

Other receivables
Deposits

Prepayments

(b) The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities during the financial year are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities of the Group

Non-trade
Amounts owing by subsidiaries
Less: Impairment loss

Total
RM

At 1 January 2017
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 19)

57,465
(57,465)

57,465
(57,465)

At 31 December 2017

-

-

Company

2018
RM

2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

-

-

36,519
(32,865)

76,750
-

-

-

3,654

76,750

128,172
3,907

3,508,172
3,907

8,172
2,907

3,508,172
2,907

132,079

3,512,079

14,733

3,587,829

373,705

14,355

373,705

12,609

505,784

3,526,434

388,438

3,600,438

(a) Other receivables (excluding prepayments) are classified as financial assets and measured at amortised
cost.
(b) Amounts owing by subsidiaries represents advances, which are unsecured, interest-free and payable
upon demand.
(c) Impairment on amount owing by subsidiaries that do not contain a significant financing component are
recognised based on the general approach using 12 month expected credit losses.

(c) The amounts of temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised in
the statements of financial position are as follows:
Group
2018
RM
Unabsorbed capital allowances
Unused tax losses
No expiry date
Expires by 31 December
2025

299,819
3,371,369
3,671,188

(d) In the previous financial year, included in the other receivables of the Group and of the Company is an
amount of RM3,500,000 represents the final payment of the disposal consideration of Rev Asia Holdings
Group by Media Prima Berhad as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

Company
2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

300,539

-

-

2,922,825

-

-

549,723

-

549,723

-

3,223,364

Deferred tax assets of the Company and certain subsidiaries have not been recognised in respect of these
items as it is not probable that taxable profits of the Company and these subsidiaries would be available against
which the deductible temporary differences could be utilised.
The amount and availability of these items to be carried forward up to the periods as disclosed above are
subject to the agreement of the local tax authority.

(e) No expected credit loss is recognised arising from other receivables as it is negligible.
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12. SHARE CAPITAL

10. OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

2018

(f) The currency exposure profile of other receivables (net of prepayments) is as follows:
Group
2018
RM
Ringgit Malaysia
Singapore Dollar

Company
2017
RM

132,079
-

3,512,079
-

132,079

3,512,079

2017
RM

Group and Company
Issued and fully paid:
Balance as at 1 January
Par Value Reduction

14,733

3,573,402
14,427

Balance as at 31 December

14,733

3,587,829

2018
RM

-

Group

At 1 January in
accordance with
MFRS 139
Charge for the year
Written off
Reversal

-

349,580
202,706
(412,935)
(139,351)

-

At 31 December

Company
2017
RM

-

RM

Number
of shares

RM

134,640,020
-

6,732,001
-

134,640,020
-

13,464,002
(6,732,001)

134,640,020

6,732,001

134,640,020

6,732,001

The owners of the parent are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company and are
entitled to one (1) vote per ordinary share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank pari passu
with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

(g) Reconciliation of movement in the impairment losses is as follows:

2018
RM

Number
of shares

2017

2018
RM

2017
RM

32,865
-

-

32,865

-

In the previous financial year, the Company underwent an internal capital reorganisation which comprised a
Par Value Reduction and a Share Premium Reduction exercises which were completed on 7 February 2017.
Par Value Reduction
The Par Value Reduction involved the cancellation of RM0.05 of the par value of each ordinary share of
RM0.10 to RM0.05 in the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company pursuant to Section 64 of the
Companies Act, 1965.
The Par Value Reduction resulted in the reduction of the issued and paid-up capital of the Company
from RM13,464,002 comprising 134,640,020 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each to RM6,732,001 comprising
134,640,020 ordinary shares of RM0.05 each.
The corresponding credit of RM6,732,001 arising from the Proposed Par Value Reduction was credited to the
retained earnings of the Company.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Share Premium Reduction
Group

2018
RM
Cash and bank balances
Short-term money market
deposits

(a)

Company
2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

311,902

3,808,911

157,108

3,799,364

6,064,930

50,668

6,064,930

50,668

6,376,832

3,859,579

6,222,038

3,850,032

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets and measured at amortised cost.

(b) Short term money market deposits are placed with a licensed banks, which bear effective interest rates
of 2.70% per annum and which have a maturity ranging between 1 to 7 days as at the reporting date.
(c)

No expected credit losses is recognised arising from deposits with financial institutions because the
probability of default by these financial institutions is negligible.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Ringgit Malaysia.

In the previous financial year, the Share Premium Reduction involved the reduction of the Company’s share
premium account of RM15,438,149 pursuant to Section 60(2) and 64 of the Companies Act, 1965 and the
corresponding credit arising from the Share Premium Reduction was credited to the retained earnings of the
Company.
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13. RESERVES

2018
RM

Exchange translation reserve
Merger reserve
Distributable:
(Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings
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14. OTHER PAYABLES
Group

Non distributable:
Share premium
Share Premium Reduction (Note 12)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

-

Company
2017
RM

15,438,149
(15,438,149)

2018
RM

Group

2017
RM

-

15,438,149

-

(15,438,149)
-

(108,700)
3,139,273

(116,213)
3,139,273

(3,199,626)

(3,435,417)

(406,008)

554,065

(169,053)

(412,357)

(406,008)

554,065

(a) Exchange translation reserve
The exchange translation reserve is used to record foreign currency exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different
from that presentation currency of the Group. It is also used to record the exchange differences arising
from monetary items which form part of the net investment of the Group in foreign operations, where
the monetary item is denominated in either the functional currency of the reporting entity or the foreign
operation.

Non-trade
Holding company
Other payables
Accruals

2018
RM

Company
2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

132,350
106,157
92,543

50,000
17,334
181,507

122,180
99,902
63,150

50,000
13,903
100,503

331,050

248,841

285,232

164,406

(a) Other payables are classified as other financial liabilities and measured at amortised cost.
(b) In the previous financial year, amount owing to holding company represented advances and payments
made on behalf, which were unsecured, interest-free and payable upon demand in cash and cash
equivalents.
(c) The currency exposure profile of other payables is as follows:
Group
2018
RM
Ringgit Malaysia
Singapore Dollar

Company
2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

191,913
139,137

193,419
55,422

163,052
122,180

114,406
50,000

331,050

248,841

285,232

164,406

(b) Merger reserve
The merger reserve arose from the acquisition of subsidiaries from Catcha Group Pte. Ltd. in previous
years based on the difference between the cost of merger, which comprised the share capital issued by
the Company and the nominal value of the subsidiaries acquired under the pooling of interest method of
accounting.

(d) Maturity profile of other payables at the end of the financial period based on contractual undiscounted
obligations is repayable on demand or within one (1) year.
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16. TAXATION
Group

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at:
Group
2018
RM

2018
RM

Company
2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

Income tax expense

Company
2017
RM

25,503

-

2018
RM

2017
RM

25,503

-

After charging:
Auditors’ remuneration:
- Statutory audit:
- current year
- Non-statutory audit
Rental expense of:
- storage
Interest expense
Unrealised loss on foreign
exchange
Realised loss on foreign
exchange

(a) The Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 24% (2017: 24%) of the estimated
taxable profits for the fiscal year, if any.
52,000
4,499

52,000
90,581

9,260

229,461

957

57,703

(b) Tax expense for other taxation authorities are calculated at the rates prevailing in those respective
jurisdictions.

9,260

-

(c)

903

-

-

-

-

43,000
87,000

43,000
2,000

-

Group
2,202

And crediting:
Gain on foreign exchange:
- realised
- unrealised
Interest income from:
- deposits with short-term money
market deposit
Waiver of debt on disposal
of subsidiaries

184
62

-

184
406

The numerical reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting (loss)/profit
multiplied by the applicable tax rates of the Group and of the Company are as follows:

-

106,263

113,720

106,263

-

-

-

541

113,574
8,423,700

2018
RM

Company
2017
RM

2018
RM

2017
RM

(Loss)/Profit before tax from
continuing operations

(566,869)

(2,360,187)

(934,570)

9,521,633

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate
of 24% (2017: 24%)

(136,049)

(566,445)

(224,297)

2,285,192

254,970
(200,896)

1,047,888
(1,439,288)

117,866
-

437,165
(3,677,401)

131,934

957,845

131,934

955,044

(24,456)

-

-

-

25,503

-

25,503

-

Tax effects in respect of:
Non-allowable expenses
Non-taxable income
Deferred tax assets not
recognised
Utilisation of previously
unrecognised deferred
tax assets
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18. DIVIDENDS (continued)

(a) Basic
Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit
for the financial year attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year.
Group
2018
RM

2017
RM

In previous financial year, the Company announced the distribution of 134,640,020 ordinary shares of ICQ
Holdings Berhad, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“ICQH Shares”), by way of a distribution-inspecie of ICQH Shares to the entitled shareholders of the Company, on the basis of one (1) ICQH Share for
every one (1) share held in the Company on the entitlement date. In this respect, the entitlement date was set
on 26 April 2017. The distribution-in-specie was completed on 15 May 2017. Following thereon, ICQ Holdings
Berhad ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company.
On 2 August 2017, the Company announced a special single tier dividend of 44 sen per ordinary share,
amounting to RM59,241,609 in respect of the previous financial year ended 31 December 2017.
The Directors do not recommend any dividend in respect of the current financial year.

(Loss)/Profit net of tax attributable to equity holders
of the Company
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

(626,958)
-

(2,360,187)
59,264,947

(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of the parent

(626,958)

56,904,760

134,640,020

134,640,020

(0.47)

(1.76)
44.02

(0.47)

42.26

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (sen)
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

-

Total

In previous financial year, the shareholders of the Company and Youth Asia Sdn. Bhd. entered into a
conditional sale and purchase agreement (“SPA”) with Media Prima Digital Sdn Bhd (“MPDSB”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Media Prima Berhad (“MPB”), to dispose the entire 15,828,831 ordinary shares
in Rev Asia Holdings Sdn. Bhd. (“Rev Asia Holdings”), representing 100% equity interest in Rev Asia Holdings
and its subsidiaries (“Disposal Companies”) after a proposed internal reorganisation, for a total cash
consideration of RM105,000,000, subject to the terms and conditions of the SPA (“Proposed Disposal”).
The Company disposed off 11,080,182 of Rev Asia Holdings shares, representing its entire 70% equity interest
in Rev Asia Holdings for a cash considerations of RM73,500,000 while Youth Asia Sdn. Bhd. disposed off
4,748,649 ordinary shares, representing 30% equity interest in Rev Asia Holdings for a cash considerations of
RM31,500,000.
On 1 August 2017, the Company announced the completion of the Proposed Disposal. Arising therefrom,
Disposal Companies ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company.

(b) Diluted
The diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share equals basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share because
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares as at the end of the reporting period.

18. DIVIDENDS
Group and Company
2018

Distribution-in-specie distributed (Note 8)
Special single tier dividend paid

19. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

2017

Dividend
per share
sen

Amount of
dividend
RM

-

-

Dividend
per share
sen

Amount of
dividend
RM

35
44

47,250,210
59,241,609
106,491,819
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19. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Statement of comprehensive income disclosures

Statement of comprehensive income disclosures (continued)

The results of the Disposal Companies for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

(a) Revenue (continued)

Note

Group
2017
RM

Revenue

19(a)

15,373,525

Cost of sales

19(b)

(4,080,319)

Gross profit

11,293,206

Other income

(7,963,755)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

54,122,472
285,721

Administrative expenses

(736,688)

Other expenses

57,000,956

Profit before tax from discontinued operations
Taxation
Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax

19(d)

(315,698)
56,685,258

There is no significant financing component in the revenue arising from sale of products and services
rendered as the sales or services are made on the normal credit terms not exceeding twelve months.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction would flow to the Group, and the amount of revenue and the cost incurred or to be incurred
in respect of the transaction can be reliably measured and specific recognition criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as follows:
i.

Online social media
Revenue from services rendered is recognised upon the provision of services and customers’
acceptance.

ii. Online advertising
Revenue from online advertising is recognised upon the utilisation and fulfillment of advertising
space.
iii. Content revenue
Content revenue is recognised when the development and update of online content are performed.
(b) Cost of sales
Group
2017
RM

(a) Revenue
Group
2017
RM
Online social media
Online advertising and content revenue

79

Commissions
Other costs

4,080,319

7,422,441
7,951,084
15,373,525

1,714,820
2,365,499

(c) Employee benefits
Group
2017
RM

Revenue from services rendered is recognised at a point in time when the services has been rendered to the
customer and coincides with the delivery of services and acceptance by customers.
Wages and salaries
Contributions to defined contribution plan
Social security contributions
Other benefits

5,063,902
671,926
43,048
757,101
6,535,977
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20. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

19. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)
Statement of comprehensive income disclosures (continued)

(a) Identities of related parties

(d) Taxation

Group
2017
RM
302,550
13,148

Income tax expense based on profit
for the financial year
Under provision in prior years

315,698

Effects of disposal on financial position
The disposal had the following effects on the financial position of the Group and the Company as at the end of
the previous financial year:

Parties are considered to be related to the Company if the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly,
to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating
decisions, or vice versa, or where the Company and the party are subject to common control or
common significant influence. Related parties could be individuals or other parties.
Related parties of the Group include:
(i) Catcha Group Pte. Ltd., the ultimate holding company;
(ii) Direct and indirect subsidiaries of the Company as disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements;
and
(iii) Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly and indirectly, including any Director
(whether executive or otherwise) of the Group.
(b) The Group had the following transactions with related parties during the financial year:

Group
2017
RM

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment (Note 5)
Trade and other receivables
Investments in subsidiaries (Note 7)
Cash and bank balances
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 9)
Trade and other payables
Net assets disposed
Add/(Less):
Non-controlling interest (30% of net assets disposed)
Realisation of goodwill on consolidation
Amounts owing to subsidiaries

Company
2017
RM

30,746,327
653,158
7,238,955
1,648,340
(172,802)
(57,465)
(12,153,941)

17,080,182
-

27,902,572

17,080,182

(8,370,772)
(454,272)
300,000

-

Total disposal proceeds*

(73,500,000)

(73,500,000)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

(54,122,472)

(56,419,818)

Group
2018
RM
Ultimate holding company:
Management services

70,000,000
(1,648,340)

70,000,000
-

Net cash inflow on disposal

68,351,660

70,000,000

* Balance of RM3,500,000 was recognised in other receivables as disclosed in Note 10(d) to the financial statements.

120,000

50,000

Balances with related parties at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Notes 10 and 14 to the
financial statements. These transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business and
have been established under negotiated commercial terms.
(c) Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the entity directly and indirectly, including any Director
(whether executive or otherwise) of the Company.
The remuneration of Directors (excluding Director’s fees) during the financial year was as follows:
Group
2018
RM
Short term employee benefits

Cash inflow arising on disposals
Cash consideration*
Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries disposed

2017
RM

37,500

Company
2017
RM
1,836,641

2018
RM
37,500

2017
RM
27,750
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Capital risk management policies and objectives
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that entities of the Group
would be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the capital structure. The overall strategy of the Group remains unchanged from financial
year ended 31 December 2017.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017.
Capital represents equity attributable to the owners of the parent.
Pursuant to the requirements of Guidance No. 3/2006 of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the Group
is required to maintain a consolidated shareholders’ equity equal to or not less than the 25% of the
issued and paid-up capital. The Group has complied with this requirement for the financial year ended 31
December 2018.
22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The overall financial risk management objective of the Group is to optimise its shareholders’ value and not to
engage in speculative transactions.
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23. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(a) On 21 December 2016, the Company announced that it proposed to undertake a special Bumiputera issue of up to
approximately 12.5% of the enlarged issued and paid-up share capital of the Company, after the completion of the
Proposals of Capital Reorganisation, to Bumiputera investors to be identified and/or approved by the Ministry of
International Trade and Industry at an issue price to be determined after obtaining all relevant approvals (“Proposed
Special Bumiputera Issue”).
On 10 January 2018, the Company announced the issue price for the Proposed Special Bumiputera comprising up to
19,234,290 shares at RM0.44 per share to place identified and/or approved by the Ministry of International Trade and
Industry.
On 16 January 2018, there were no acceptance by the mentioned placees and as such, there were no new shares
issued pursuant to the Proposed Special Bumiputera Issue.
(b) On 27 September 2018, the Company announced that it proposed to withdraw RM3,738,882 from amount placed in
the account operated by Pacific Trustee Berhad in 3 stages as follows:
(i) Upon appointment of advisers for the regularisation plan;
(ii) Upon submission of the regularisation plan to Bursa Securities; and
(iii) Upon convening of the extraordinary general meeting in relation to the regularisation plan.
(c) On 30 July 2018, the Company announced that it has entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with Catcha
Group Pte. Ltd., in respect of a proposed acquisition of a majority interest in a foreign owned group of companies
with foreign based operations.

The Group operates within an established risk management framework and clearly defined guidelines that are
regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors and does not trade in derivative financial instruments. Financial
risk management is carried out through internal control systems and adherence to the Group financial risk
management policies.

Subsequently on 1 August 2018 and 16 January 2019, the Company announced that it has submitted an application to
Bursa Securities for a proposed extension of time from 3 August 2018 to 2 February 2019, and a subsequent extension
to 2 August 2019 respectively, whereby the Company is required to submit its regularisation plan in accordance to
Guidance Note 2 of the Ace Market Listing Requirements.

The Group is exposed mainly to liquidity risk. Information on the management of the related exposures is
detailed below:

On 30 January 2019, Bursa Securities has granted the Company an extension of time up to 2 August 2019 to submit
the regularisation plan to the regulatory authorities.

Liquidity risk
The exposure of the Group and of the Company to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the
maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities.
The Group’s actively manages its operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that
all operating, investing and financing needs are met. In executing its liquidity risk management strategy,
the Group measures and forecasts its cash commitments and maintains a level of cash and bank balances
deemed adequate to finance the Group’s activities.
The analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities has been disclosed in Note 14 to
the financial statements.

24. ADOPTION OF NEW MFRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO MFRSs
24.1 New MFRSs adopted during the financial year
The Group andtheCompany adopted the following Standards of the MFRS Framework that were issued
by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) during the financialyear:

Title
Amendments to MFRS 1 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2014
- 2016 Cycle
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Clarification to MFRS 15
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS as issued by IASB in July 2014)
Amendments to MFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Sharebased Payment Transactions
Amendments to MFRS 128 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2014 - 2016 Cycle

Effective Date
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

24. ADOPTION OF NEW MFRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO MFRSs (continued)

As at 29 March 2019

24.1 New MFRSs adopted during the financial year (continued)
The following are Standards of the MFRS Framework that have been issued by the Malaysian
Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been early adopted by the Group and the
Company:
Title

OTHER INFORMATION

Effective Date

Issued and Paid-Up Capital
Class of Shares		
Voting Right		
Number of Shareholders

: RM6,732,001 comprising 134,640,020 ordinary shares
: Ordinary Shares
: One (1) vote per ordinary share on a poll
: 2,122

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
IC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration
Amendments to MFRS 140 Transfers of Investment Property
Amendments to MFRS 4 Applying MFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
See MFRS
4Paragraphs
46and 48

Adoption of the above Standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of
the Group and of the Company.

24.2 New MFRSs that have been issued, but only effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019
The following are Standards of the MFRS Framework that have been issued by the Malaysian
Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been early adopted by the Group and the
Company:
Title

MFRS 16 Leases
IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Amendments to MFRS 128 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures
Amendments to MFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation
Amendments to MFRS 3 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2015 - 2017 Cycle
Amendments to MFRS 11 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2015 - 2017 Cycle
Amendments to MFRS 112 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2015 - 2017 Cycle
Amendments to MFRS 123 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2015 - 2017 Cycle
Amendments to MFRS 119 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
MFRS Standards
Amendments to MFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to MFRS 101 and MFRS 108 Definition of Material
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128 Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

Effective Date

1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019

Size of Shareholdings
Less than 100
100 to 1,000
1,001 to 10,000
10,001 to 100,000
100,001 – less than 5% of issued shares
5% and above of issued shares
Total		

No. of Shareholders

%

No. of Shares

%

21
183
955
826
136
1
2,122

0.99
8.62
45.00
38.93
6.41
0.05
100.00

444
119,610
6,148,374
29,969,548
39,494,715
58,907,329
134,640,020

0.00
0.09
4.57
22.26
29.33
43.75
100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS
No. of Shares Held
Name of Substantial Shareholders
Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt An For Standard Chartered Bank
Singapore Branch (BJSSSGBR-CL FR)
Patrick YKin Grove
Lucas Robert Elliott

Direct Interest

%

58,907,3291

43.75

-

%

Indirect Interest
-

-

-

58,907,3292
58,907,3292

43.75
43.75

1 January 2019
1 January 2019

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS PER REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

1 January 2019
No. of Shares Held

1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2021
Deferred

The Group and the Company does not expect the adoption of the above Standards to have a significant
impact on the financial statements.

Name of Directors
Dato’ Justin Leong Ming Loong
Mah Yong Sun
Patrick YKin Grove
Lucas Robert Elliott

Direct Interest

%

Indirect Interest

%

2,413,700
952,948
-

1.79
0.71
-

58,907,3292
58,907,3292

43.75
43.75

Notes:
1
Direct interest of Catcha Group Pte Ltd held under Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd [Exempt An For Standard Chartered Bank
Singapore Branch (BJSSSGBR-CL FR)]
2
Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in Catcha Group Pte Ltd pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.
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As at 29 March 2019 (continued)

TOP THIRTY (30) SHAREHOLDERS
No.

Names

1.

Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt An for Standard Chartered Bank Singapore Branch
(BJSSSGBR-CL FR)
CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
CIMB for Justin Leong Ming Loong (PB)
Cheong Lye Khey
M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Soh Choh Piau (M&A)
HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt An for Credit Suisse (SG BR-TST-Asing)
Yap Chiew Thai
Anna Pamela Miranda
HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Exempt An for Credit Suisse AG (SG-CLT-T-OS PR)
Maria Lanny Christiana
Soon Khiat Voon
CitiGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Exempt An for OCBC Securities Private Limited (Client A/C-R ES)
Yong Loy Huat
Ismail Bin Mohd Kassim
Goh Lee Hian
Star Media Group Berhad
Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Kuek Fook Hai
Soon Khiat Voon
Seih Mann Sdn Bhd
Wong Wai Kuan
Pang Hao Chen
Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Chan Swee Hoong (E-KLG)
Yow Peng Seng
AllianceGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Chew Kim Hwa (6000110)
Ng Sai Gaik
Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Yeo Poo Choo (REM 663)
Low Jun Ho
Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Tan Poh Yok
Chua Lee Guan
Lee Swee Mei
TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Ho Hon Kwong @ Ho Soo Har

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Ninth Annual General Meeting of REV ASIA BERHAD (“Rev Asia” or “the
Company”) will be held at Level 11, Menara KEN TTDI, No. 37, Jalan Burhanuddin Helmi, Taman Tun Dr Ismail,
60000 Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, 27 June 2019 at 9.30 a.m. to transact the following businesses:-

No. of Shares

%

58,907,329

43.75

2,413,700

1.79

As Ordinary Business

1,294,100
1,255,600

0.96
0.93

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31
December 2018 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors
thereon.

1,244,200

0.92

Please refer to Note 1
of the Explanatory
Notes

1,181,500
1,133,300
952,948
728,000
710,000
700,000
700,000

0.88
0.84
0.71
0.54
0.53
0.52
0.52

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees and benefits payable by the
Company and its subsidiaries up to an aggregate amount of RM500,000 from
27 June 2019 until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 1

650,000
600,000
589,000
530,000
525,000

0.48
0.45
0.44
0.39
0.39

500,000
460,000
400,000
400,000
380,000

0.37
0.34
0.30
0.30
0.28

348,000
347,600

0.26
0.26

340,000
320,000

0.25
0.24

319,700

0.24

310,400
310,000
310,000

0.23
0.23
0.23

AGENDA

3. To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Article 85 of the
Articles of Association of the Company.
1) Mr Patrick Ykin Grove
2) Mr Lucas Robert Elliott
4. To re-appoint Messrs BDO PLT as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise
the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 2
Ordinary Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 4

As Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:
5.

AUTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES UNDER
SECTIONS 75 AND 76 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016
“THAT pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016, the
Directors be and are hereby authorised to allot and issue shares in the
Company at any time until the conclusion of the next AGM and upon such
terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in
their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate number
of shares to be issued does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the total
number of issued shares of the Company for the time being, subject always
to the approval of all relevant regulatory bodies being obtained for such
allotment and issuance.”

Ordinary Resolution 5
(Please refer to Note 2
of the Explanatory
Notes)
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6.

PROPOSED ADOPTION OF NEW CONSTITUTION OF
THE COMPANY
THAT the existing Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company be and is hereby deleted in its entirety and the new Constitution
of the Company as set out in Appendix A be and is hereby adopted as
the new Constitution of the Company AND THAT the Directors of the
Company be and are hereby authorised to do all things and acts necessary
or required by any relevant authorities and take all such steps as may be
considered necessary to effect to the foregoing.

7.

To transact any other ordinary business of the Company of which due
notice shall have been given in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association and the Companies Act, 2016.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TAI YIT CHAN (MAICSA 7009143)
TAN AI NING (MAICSA 7015852)
Secretaries
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Date: 30 April 2019

Special Resolution
(Please refer to Note 3
of the Explanatory
Notes)
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NOTES:
1. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of altorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed
or a duly notarised certified copy of that power or authority shall be deposited with the Share Registrar of
the Company, Boardroom Corporate Services Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Symphony Share Registrars Sdn.
Bhd.) at Level 6, Symphony House, Pusat Dagangan Dana 1, Jalan PJU 1A/46, 47301 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul
Ehsan not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll and in default the instrument
of proxy shall not be treated as valid. Any notice of termination of person’s authority to act as a proxy must be
forwarded to the Company prior to the commencement of the AGM or Adjourned AGM.
2. A Member shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, participate, speak and vote in
his stead at the same meeting and the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his
holdings to be represented by each proxy. A proxy may but need not be a Member of the Company.
3. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly
authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under the corporation’s common seal or under
the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.
4. Where a member is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the Securities Industry
(Central Depositories) Act, 1991, there is no limit to the number of proxies which the Exempt Authorised
Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.
5. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear on the Record of Depositors on 20 June
2019 (General Meeting Record of Depositors) shall be eligible to attend the meeting or appoint proxy(ies) to
attend and/or vote on his behalf.

EXPLANATORY NOTES
1. To Receive the Audited Financial Statements
The item 1 of the Agenda is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1) of the Companies Act,
2016 does not require a formal approval of shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this item
on the Agenda is not put forward for voting.
2. Explanatory Notes on the Special Business
Ordinary Resolution 5 on the Authority under Sections 75 and 76 of The Companies Act
2016 for the Directors to Allot and Issue Shares
The proposed Ordinary Resolution 5 is to seek the shareholders’ approval on the renewal of the general
mandate for the issuance of shares by the Company under Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016. If the
resolution is duly passed, it is primarily to give flexibility to the Directors to issue and allot shares at any time in
their absolute discretion and for such purposes as they consider would be in the interest of the Company
without convening a general meeting. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire
at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.
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3. Special Resolution on Proposed Adoption to the Constitution of the Company
The Special Resolution, if passed, will align the Constitution of the Company with the new Companies Act
2016, the updated provision of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities and the prevailing laws,
guidelines or requirements of the relevant authorities, to enhance administrative efficiency and provide greater
clarity.
Please refer to Appendix A which is circulated together with the Annual Report 2018 for further information.
Personal data privacy:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM
and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the
member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the
Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and
the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including
any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules,
regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal
data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the
prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its
agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the
member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a
result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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THE COMPANIES ACT 2016 MALAYSIA
A PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES
CONSTITUTION OF REV ASIA BERHAD

1. The name of the Company is Rev Asia Berhad.
2. The registered office of the Company will be situated in Malaysia.
3. Section 21 of the Companies Act 2016 shall apply.
4. The objects for which the Company is established are: (1) To carry on the business of an investment holding company, and in particular to invest the moneys of the
Company in or otherwise to acquire and hold shares, stocks, debentures, debenture stocks, scrip, loans,
bonds, obligations, notes, securities and investments issued or guaranteed by any company, corporation,
association, body or trust constituted or carrying on business in any part of the world, and in the funds or
loans or other securities and investments of or issued or guaranteed by any government, state, or dominion,
public body or authority, supreme, municipal, local or otherwise whether at home or abroad.
(2) To produce, promote, present, organise, arrange and acquire any contents, information, properties
and rights of all kinds of media; to carry on business as advertising and publicity agents, press agents,
newsagents, publishers, media representatives on media properties; to carry on research and develop
media sales systems and to carry on any other trade, business or activities, management services and
administrative support on all matters, in connection with or ancillary to any of the above businesses.
(3) To invest the capital and other moneys of the Company in the purchase of or upon the security of shares,
stocks, debentures, debenture stock, bonds, mortgages, obligations, and securities of any kind issued or
guaranteed by any company (corporation or undertaking) of whatever nature and wheresoever constituted
or carrying on business, and shares stocks, debentures, debenture stock, bonds, mortgages, obligations
and other securities issued or guaranteed by any Government, Sovereign Ruler, Commissioners, Trust,
Municipal Local or other Authority or body of whatever nature, whether at home or abroad.
And it is hereby declared that the word “Company” in this clause except where used in reference to this
Company, shall be deemed to include any partnership or other body of person whether incorporated or
unincorporated, and whether domiciled in Malaysia or elsewhere, and further that the objects specified in each
paragraph of this clause shall be regarded as independent objects and accordingly shall, except where otherwise
expressed in any paragraph, be in no way limited or restricted by reference to, or inference from the terms
of any other paragraph or the name of the Company but may be carried out in as full and ample a manner and
construed just as wide a sense as if the said paragraph defined the objects of a separate distinct and independent
company.
5. The Company shall have full capacity and powers to achieve such objects as mentioned above.
6. The liability of the members is limited.
7. The provisions set out in the Companies Act 2016 which may be modified or substituted by the provisions of
these clauses shall not apply to the Company, except in so far as the same are repeated or contained in this
Constitution.
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INTERPRETATION
8. In this Constitution, if inconsistent with the subject or context, the words standing in the first column of the
table next hereinafter contained shall bear the meanings set opposite to them respectively in the second column
thereof:WORDS

MEANINGS
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WORDS

MEANINGS

electronic communication

A document or information is sent or supplied by electronic communication
if it is sent initially, and received at its destination by means of electronic
equipment for the processing (which expression includes digital compression)
or storage of data, and entirely transmitted, conveyed and received by wire,
by radio, by optical means or by other electromagnetic means.

electronic form

Document or information sent or supplied in electronic form are those sent
by “electronic communication” or by any other means while in an electronic
form whereby a recipient of such Documents or information would be able
to retain a copy.

Exchange

Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (Company No. 635998-W) and / or any
other Exchange on which the Company is listed.

Exempt Authorised Nominee

An authorised nominee defined under the Central Depositories Act which is
exempted from compliance with the provisions of subsection 25A(1) of the
Central Depositories Act.

Act

The Companies Act 2016 and any statutory modification, amendment or
re-enactment thereof for the time being in force.

beneficial owner

The ultimate owner of the shares and does not include a nominee of any
description.

Board

The board of directors for the time being of the Company.

Bursa Depository

Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. Bhd. (Company No.165570-W) and its successors-in-title.

Central Depositories Act

Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, and any statutory modification, amendment or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force.

Listing Requirements

Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad ACE Market Listing Requirements as may
be modified or amended from time to time.

Clause

Clauses of this Constitution as originally framed or altered from time to time
by Special Resolution.

Market Day

A day on which the stock market of the Exchange is open for trading in
securities.

CMSA

Capital Markets and Services Act 2007, and any statutory modification,
amendment or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force.

member

Constitution

This Constitution as originally framed or as altered from time to time by
Special Resolution and this “Constitution” means any one of them.

Unless otherwise expressed to the contrary, any person(s) for the time being
holding one or more shares in the Company and whose name(s) appears in
the Register of Members and includes a Depositor who shall be treated as if
he were a member pursuant to Section 35 of the Central Depositories Act
but excludes the Bursa Depository in its capacity as a bare trustee member.

Company

Rev Asia (Company No. 916943-W).

Office

The registered office for the time being of the Company.

Deposited Security

A security in the Company standing to the credit of a Securities Account
of a Depositor and includes securities in the Securities Account that is in
suspense subject to the provisions of the Central Depositories Act and the
Rules.

Record of Depositors

A record provided by the Bursa Depository to the Company or its registrar(s) under Chapter 24.0 of the Rules.

Register

The register of members to be kept pursuant to the Act, and unless otherwise expressed to the contrary, includes the Record of Depositors.

Depositor

A holder of a Securities Account as defined in Section 2 of the Central Depositories Act.

Registrar

Such person, firm or company which for the time being maintains in Malaysia,
the register of securities holders.

Directors

The directors for the time being of the Company as defined in Section 2(1) of
the CMSA.

Rules

The Rules of the Bursa Depository and any appendices thereto, as may be
amended, modified and supplemented from time to time.

Documents

Any document required to be sent under the Listing Requirements to the
securities holder.

Seal

The Common Seal of the Company or in appropriate case the official seal.

electronic address

Any address or number used for the purpose of sending or receiving Documents or information by electronic means.

Secretary

Any person or persons appointed to perform the duties of the secretary of
the Company and shall include a joint, temporary assistant or deputy secretary.

securities

As defined in Section 2(1) of the CMSA.

94

OTHER INFORMATION

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APPENDIX A (continued)

WORDS
Securities Account

MEANINGS
An account established by the Bursa Depository for a Depositor for the

OTHER INFORMATION

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

95

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APPENDIX A (continued)

(h) The provisions of this Clause 8 shall only apply so long as any of the securities of the Company are listed on
the Exchange.

recording of deposit or withdrawal of Securities and for dealing in such Securities by the Depositor as permitted under the Central Depositories Act and
/ or the Rules.
share

Issued share capital of a corporation and includes stock except where a distinction between stock and shares is expressed or implied.

Writing shall include printing and lithography and any other mode or modes of representing or reproducing
words, symbols or other information which may be displayed in a visible form, whether in a physical document
or in an electronic communication or form or otherwise howsoever.
Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural number and vice versa and the masculine shall
include the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa.
Words importing persons shall include corporations and companies.
Subject as aforesaid, words or expressions contained in these Clauses shall be interpreted in accordance with
the provisions of the Interpretation Acts, 1948 and 1967 of Malaysia, as may be amended from time to time and
any re-enactment thereof.

EFFECT OF THE LISTING REQUIREMENTS
9. (a) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Constitution, if the Listing Requirements prohibit an act being
done, the act shall not be done.
(b) Nothing contained in this Constitution prevents an act being done that the Listing Requirements require to
be done.
(c) If the Listing Requirements require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for that act to be
done or not to be done (as the case may be).
(d) If the Listing Requirements require this Constitution to contain a provision and it does not contain such a
provision, this Constitution is deemed to contain that provision.
(e) If the Listing Requirements require this Constitution not to contain a provision and it contains such a
provision, this Constitution is deemed not to contain that provision.
(f) If any provision of this Constitution is or becomes inconsistent with the Listing Requirements, this
Constitution is deemed not to contain that provision to the extent of the inconsistency.
(g) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Constitution, nothing herein contained shall prevent the
Directors from applying to the Exchange for a waiver from compliance or observance of any of the Listing
Requirements. In the event the compliance or observance of such Listing Requirements are waived by the
Exchange, the Company shall not be required to comply with any of the Clauses relating to those Listing
Requirements in respect of which compliance or observance has been waived by the Exchange.

SHARE CAPITAL AND VARIATION OF RIGHTS
10. Subject to the Act and this Constitution, shares in the Company may be issued by the Directors and any such
shares may be issued with such preferred, deferred or other special rights or such restrictions, whether in
regard to dividend, voting, return of capital, or otherwise as the Directors, subject to any special resolution of
the Company, may determine.
11. Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of any existing shares or class of
shares and subject to the provisions of this Constitution, the Act and the provisions of any resolution of the
Company, shares in the Company may be issued by the Directors, who may allot, or otherwise dispose of such
shares to such persons, on such terms and conditions, with such preferred, deferred or other special rights, and
subject to such restrictions and at such times as the Directors may determine but the Directors in making any
issue of shares shall comply with the following conditions:(a) in the case of shares of a class, other than ordinary shares, no special rights shall be attached until the same
have been expressed in this Constitution and in the resolution creating the same;
(b) every issue of shares or options to employees and/or Directors shall be approved by members in general
meeting and in respect of issuance of shares or options to Directors, such approval shall specifically detail
the amount of shares or options to be issued to such Directors;
(c) except in the case of an issue of securities on a pro rata basis to shareholders or pursuant to a back-to-back
placement undertaken in compliance with the Listing Requirements, a Director, major shareholder, Chief
Executive or person connected to any Director, major shareholder or Chief Executive of the Company
shall not participate, directly or indirectly, in an issue of ordinary shares or other securities with rights of
conversion to ordinary shares unless the shareholders of the Company in general meeting have approved
the specific allotment to be made to the Director, major shareholder, Chief Executive or person connected
to any Director, major shareholder or Chief Executive and the Director, major shareholder, Chief Executive
or person connected to any Director, major shareholder or Chief Executive has abstained from voting on
the relevant resolution;
In this Clause, “Major Shareholder”, “Chief Executive” and “Person connected to any Director, Major
Shareholder or Chief Executive” shall have the same meaning described thereto in the Listing Requirements.
(d) without limiting the generality of Sections 75 and 76 of the Act, the Company must not issue any ordinary
shares or other securities with rights of conversion to ordinary shares if those shares or securities, when
aggregated with any such shares or securities which the Company has issued during the preceding twelve
(12) months, exceeds ten percent (10%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of
the Company, except where the shares or securities are issued with the prior shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting of the precise terms and conditions of the issue; and
(e) in working out the number of shares or securities that may be issued by the Company, if the security is a
convertible security, each such security is counted as the maximum number of shares into which it can be
converted or exercised.
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12. Subject to the Act, any preference shares may with the sanction of an ordinary resolution, be issued on the
terms that they are, or at the option of the Company are liable, to be redeemed. The Company shall have
the power to issue preference capital ranking equally with, or in priority to, preference shares already issued.
Preference shareholders shall have the same rights as ordinary shareholders as regards to receiving notices,
reports and audited financial statements and attending meetings of the Company. Preference shareholders shall
also have the right to vote at any meeting convened for the purpose of reducing the share capital or winding
up or during the winding up of the Company, or on a proposal for the disposal of the whole of the Company’s
property, business and undertaking, or where any resolution to be submitted to the meeting directly affects
their rights and / or privileges attached to the shares, or when the dividend or part of the dividend on the
preference shares is in arrears for more than six (6) months.

17. Where any shares are issued for the purpose of raising money to defray the expenses of the construction of
any works or buildings, or the provision of any plant which cannot be made profitable for a long period, the
Company may pay interest on so much share capital as is for the time being paid up for the period and subject
to the conditions and restrictions mentioned in Section 130 of the Act and may charge the same to capital as
part of the cost of the plant construction of any works or buildings or the provision of any plant.

APPENDIX A (continued)

13. Notwithstanding Clause 11, the repayment of preference share capital other than redeemable preference capital
or any other alteration of preference shareholder’s rights, may only be made pursuant to a special resolution
of the preference shareholders concerned PROVIDED ALWAYS that where the necessary majority for such a
special resolution is not obtained at the meeting, consent in writing, if obtained from not less than 75% of the
total voting rights of the preference shareholders within two (2) months of the meeting, shall be as valid and
effectual as a special resolution carried at the meeting.
14. Subject to the provisions of Sections 71 and 91 of the Act, if at any time the share capital is divided into different
classes of shares, the rights attached to any class (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the shares
of that class) may, whether or not the Company is being wound up, be varied with the sanction of a special
resolution passed at a separate meeting of the shareholders of that class. Where necessary majority of such
a special resolution is not obtained at the meeting, consent in writing if obtained from the holders of not less
than 75% of the total voting rights of the shareholders of that class within two (2) months of the meeting, shall
be as valid and effectual as a special resolution carried at the meeting. To every such separate general meeting,
the provisions of this Constitution relating to general meetings shall mutatis mutandis apply, but so that the
necessary quorum shall be at least two (2) persons who are shareholders present in person or represented
by proxy holding at least one-third (1/3) of the number of issued shares of the class, excluding any shares of
that class held as treasury shares and that any holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy may
demand a poll. For adjourned meeting, quorum is one person present holding shares of such class. To every
such special resolution, the provisions of Section 292 of the Act shall with such adaptations as are necessary,
apply.
15. The rights conferred upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not,
unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue of the shares of that class, be deemed to be varied by
the creation or issue of further shares ranking as regards participation in the profits or assets of the Company
in some or in all respects pari passu therewith.
16. The Company may pay a commission to any person in consideration of his subscribing or agreeing to subscribe,
whether absolutely or conditionally, or procuring or agreeing to procure subscriptions, whether absolute
or conditional, for any shares in the Company PROVIDED THAT (i) the rate in percentage or the amount
of the commission paid or agreed to be paid shall be disclosed in the manner required by the Act, that such
commission shall not exceed the rate of ten per cent (10%) of the price at which such shares are issued, or an
amount equivalent to such percentage of that price, whichever is the lesser, and (ii) the requirements of Section
80 of the Act shall be observed. Such commission may be satisfied by the payment of cash or allotment of fully
or partly paid shares or partly in one way and partly in the other. The Company may also on any issue of shares
pay such brokerage as may be lawful.

APPENDIX A (continued)

18. Except as required by this Constitution or by law, no person shall be recognised by the Company as holding any
share upon any trust, and the Company shall not be bound by or be compelled in any way to recognise (even
with notice thereof) any equitable, contingent, future or partial interest in any share or any unit of share or any
other right in respect of any shares, except an absolute right to the entirety thereof in the registered holder.

ISSUE OF SECURITIES
19. The Company must ensure that all new issues of securities for which listing is sought are made by way
of crediting the Securities Accounts of the allottees with such Securities save and except where they are
specifically exempted from compliance with Section 38 of the Central Depositories Act, in which event they
shall so similarly be exempted from compliance with this provision. For this purpose, the Company must notify
the Bursa Depository of the names of the allottees and all such particulars required by the Bursa Depository,
to enable the Bursa Depository to make the appropriate entries in the Securities Accounts of such allottees.
The Company must not cause or authorise its Registrar to cause the Securities Accounts of the allottees to be
credited with the additional securities until after the Company has filed with the Exchange an application for
listing of such additional securities and has been notified by the Exchange that they have been authorised for
listing.
20. Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Central Depositories Act and the Rules, the Company shall allot and /
or issue securities, despatch notices of allotment to the allottees and make an application for the quotation of
such securities within the period as may be prescribed by the Exchange and deliver to the Bursa Depository the
appropriate certificates in such denominations as may be specified by the Bursa Depository and registered in
the name of the Bursa Depository or its nominee company.
21. The certificate of title to share, stock, debentures, debenture stock, notes and other securities of the Company
shall be issued under the Seal and bear the signatures or the autographic signatures of one Director and the
Secretary or a second Director or such other person as may be authorised by the Board, and shall specify
the shares to which it relates, and the amount paid up thereon provided that the Board may by resolution
determine that such signatures, or either of them, shall be dispensed with or shall be affixed by such other
person as may be authorised by the Board or some method or system of mechanical signature.

LIEN
22. The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share and dividend from time to time declared in
respect of such shares:
(a) for all unpaid calls and instalments upon the specific shares in respect of which such moneys are due and
unpaid;
(b) to such amounts as the Company may be called upon by law to pay and has paid, in respect of the shares of
the member or deceased member; and
(c) on such amounts which are owed to the Company for acquiring them, where the shares were acquired
under an employees’ share option scheme.
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In each case, the lien extends to reasonable interest and expenses incurred because the amount is not
paid. The Company shall be entitled to charge interest thereon, not higher than the overdraft rate
charged for the time being by the Company’s principal bankers or such other reasonable rate as the
Directors may determine. The Directors may at any time declare any share to be wholly or in part
exempt from the provisions of this Clause.
23. Subject to the Central Depositories Act and the Rules, the Company may sell, in such manner as the
Directors think fit, any shares on which the Company has a lien, but no sale shall be made unless a sum in
respect of which the lien exists is presently payable, nor until the expiration of fourteen (14) days after a
notice in writing, stating and demanding payment of such part of the amount in respect of which the lien
exists as is presently payable, has been given to the registered holder for the time being of the share, or the
person entitled thereto by reason of his death or bankruptcy.
24. To give effect to any such sale, the Directors may authorise its Registrar to cause Bursa Depository to
credit the Securities Account of the purchaser of the shares sold or otherwise in accordance with the
directions of the purchaser. The purchaser shall be registered as the holder of the shares comprised in any
such transfer and the Directors shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall
the purchaser’s title to the shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference
to the sale and the remedy of the holder of such shares or of any person claiming under or through him in
respect of any alleged irregularity or invalidity, shall be against the Company.
25. The proceeds of the sale after payment of the amount of interest and costs relating to the sale, shall be
received by the Company and applied in payment of such part of the amount in respect of which the lien
exists as is presently payable and the residue, if any, shall be paid to the person entitled to the shares at the
date of the sale or his executors, administrators or assignees or as he directs.

CALL ON SHARES
26. The Directors may, subject to the Act and the provisions of the Listing Requirements, from time to time
make calls upon the members in respect of any money unpaid on their shares and not by the conditions of
allotment thereof made payable at fixed times, provided that no calls shall exceed one-fourth of the issued
price of the share or be payable at less than thirty days from the date fixed for the payment of the last
preceding call, and each member shall (subject to receiving at least fourteen (14) days’ notice specifying the
date, time or times and place of payment) pay to the Company at the time or times and place so specified,
the amount called on his shares. A call may be revoked or postponed as the Directors may determine.
27. A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Directors authorising the
call was passed and may be required to be paid by instalments. No shareholder shall be entitled to receive
any dividend or to exercise any privilege as a member, until he shall have paid all calls for the time being due
and payable on every share held by him, together with interest and expenses (if any).
28. If a sum called in respect of shares is not paid before or on the day appointed for payment thereof, the
person from whom the sum is due, shall pay interest on the sum from the day appointed for payment
thereof to the time of actual payment at such rate not exceeding eight per cent (8%) per annum or such
other rate as the Directors may determine, but the Directors shall be at liberty to waive payment of the
interest, wholly or in part.
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29. Any sum which by the terms of issue of a share is payable on allotment or at any fixed date, shall, for the
purposes of this Constitution be deemed to have been duly called for and shall be payable on the date on which
by the terms of issue such sum becomes payable, and in case of non-payment, all the relevant provisions of this
Constitution in respect of payment of interest and expenses, forfeiture or otherwise, shall apply as if the sum
had become payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified.
30. The Directors may, from time to time,
(a) make arrangements on the issue of shares for varying the amounts and times of payment of calls as between
members;
(b) accept from any member the whole or a part of the amount remaining unpaid on any shares although no
part of that amount has been called up; and
(c) pay dividends in proportion to the amount paid up on each share where a larger amount is paid up on some
shares than on others.
31. The Directors may, if they think fit, receive from any member willing to advance all or any part of the money
uncalled and unpaid upon any shares held by him, and upon all or any part of the money so advanced may
(until the same would, but for the advance, become payable) pay interest at such rate not exceeding (unless
the Company in general meeting shall otherwise direct) eight per cent (8%) per annum as may be agreed upon
between the Directors and the member paying the sum in advance. Such capital paid on shares in advance of
calls shall not, whilst carrying interest, confer a right to participate in profits. Except in liquidation, capital paid
in advance of calls shall not, until the same would have become payable, be treated as paid up on the shares in
respect of which they have been paid.
32. (1) Subject to Clause 17, the Company may by notice in writing, require any member of the Company, within
such reasonable time as is specified in the notice:(a) to inform the Company whether he holds any voting shares in the Company as beneficial owner or as
trustee; and
(b) if he holds them as trustee, to indicate so far as he can, the persons for whom he holds them by name
and by other particulars sufficient to enable those persons to be identified and the nature of their
interest.
(2) Where the Company is informed pursuant to a notice given to any person under sub-section (1) hereof or
under this sub-section, that any other person has an interest in any of the voting shares in the Company, the
Company may by notice in writing require that other person within such reasonable time as is specified in
the notice:(a) to inform the Company whether he holds that interest as beneficial owner or as trustee; and
(b) if he holds it as trustee, to indicate so far as he can, the person for whom he holds it by name and by
other particulars sufficient to enable them to be identified and the nature of their interest.
(3) The Company may by notice in writing require a member of the Company to inform it, within such
reasonable time as is specified in the notice, whether any of the voting rights carried by any voting shares in
the Company held by him, are the subject of any agreement or arrangement under which another person is
entitled to control his exercise of those rights and, if so, to give particulars of the agreement and the parties
to it.
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TRANSFER OF SECURITIES
33. The instrument of transfer of any securities shall be in writing and in the form approved in the Rules and shall
be executed by or on behalf of the transferor and transferee, and the transferor shall be deemed to remain
the holder of the securities until the name of the transferee is entered in the Record of Depositors in respect
thereof. The transfer of any listed securities or class of listed securities of the Company, shall be by way of book
entry by the Bursa Depository in accordance with the Rules and, notwithstanding Sections 105, 106 and 110 of
the Act, but subject to Section 148(2) of the Act and any exemption that may be made from compliance with
Section 148(1) of the Act, the Company shall be precluded from registering and effecting any transfer of such
listed securities.
34. Subject to the Rules and Listing Requirements, the transfer of any securities may be suspended at such times
and for such periods as the Directors may from time to time determine. Ten (10) Market Days’ notice, or such
other period as may from time to time be specified by the Exchange governing the Register concerned, of
intention to close the Register shall be given to the Exchange. At least three (3) Market Days’ prior notice shall
be given to the Bursa Depository to prepare the appropriate Record of Depositors.
35. The Bursa Depository may refuse to register any transfer of Deposited Security that does not comply with the
Central Depositories Act and the Rules. No securities shall in any circumstances be transferred to any infant,
bankrupt or person of unsound mind.
36. Subject to the provisions of this Constitution, the Directors may recognise a renunciation of any share by the
allottee thereof in favour of some other person.
37. Subject to any law in Malaysia for the time being in force, neither the Company nor the Directors nor any of
its officers shall incur any liability for the act of the Bursa Depository in registering or acting upon a transfer of
securities apparently made by a member or any person entitled to the securities by reason of death, bankruptcy
or insanity of a member although the same may, by reason of any fraud or other causes not known to the
Company or the Directors or the Bursa Depository or other officers, be legally inoperative or insufficient to
pass the property in the securities proposed or professed to be transferred, and although the transfer may,
as between the transferor and the transferee, be liable to be set aside and notwithstanding that the Company
may have notice that such instrument or transfer was signed or executed and delivered by the transferor in the
blank as to the name of the transferee, of the particulars of the securities transferred or otherwise in defective
manner. And in every case, the person registered as transferee, his executors, administrators and assignees
alone shall be entitled to be recognised as the holder of such securities and the previous holder shall, so far as
the Company is concerned, be deemed to have transferred his whole title thereto.

DISPOSAL OF SHARES OF MEMBERS
WHOSE WHEREABOUTS UNKNOWN
38. Where by the exercise of reasonable diligence, the Company is unable to discover the whereabouts of a
member for a period of not less than ten (10) years, the Company may cause an advertisement to be published
in a newspaper circulating in the place shown in the Register or the Record of Depositors as the address of
the member stating that the Company, after expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of the advertisement,
intends to transfer the shares to the Minister charged with the responsibility for finance.
39. If after the expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of the advertisement the whereabouts of the member
remains unknown, the Company may transfer the shares held by the member to the Minister charged with the
responsibility for finance and for that purpose may execute for and on behalf of such member, a transfer of
those shares to the Minister charged with the responsibility for finance.
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TRANSMISSION OF SHARES
40. In the case of the death of a member, the legal representative(s), the executors or administrators of the
deceased shall be the only person(s) recognised by the Company and / or Bursa Depository as having any title
to his interest in the shares; but nothing herein contained shall release the estate of a deceased member from
any liability in respect of any share which had been held by him.
41. Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member may, upon
such evidence being produced as may from time to time properly be required by the Rules and subject as
hereinafter provided, elect either to be registered himself as holder of the share or to have some person
nominated by him registered as the transferee thereof, but the Directors and / or Bursa Depository shall in
either case, have the same right to decline or suspend registration as they would have had in the case of a
transfer of the share by that member before his death or bankruptcy PROVIDED ALWAYS that where the
share is a Deposited Security, subject to the Rules, a transfer or withdrawal of the shares may be carried out by
the person becoming so entitled.
42. If any person so becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member elects to
register himself as the holder of the share, he shall deliver or send to the Company, a notice in writing signed
by him and stating that he so elects, provided that where the share is a Deposited Security and the person
becoming entitled elects to have the share transferred to him, the aforesaid notice must be served by him on
the Bursa Depository. If he elects to have another person registered, he shall evidence his election by executing
to that person a transfer of the share. All the limitations, restrictions and provisions of this Constitution relating
to the right to transfer and the registration of transfers of shares shall be applicable to any such notice or
transfer as aforesaid as if the death or bankruptcy of the member had not occurred and the notice or transfer is
a transfer signed by that member.
43. Subject to the provisions of any law, where the registered holder of any share dies or becomes bankrupt, his
personal representative or the assignee or his estate, as the case may be, shall, upon the production of such
evidence as may from time to time be required by the Directors and / or the Bursa Depository in that behalf, be
entitled to the same dividends and other advantages and to the same rights (whether in relation to the meetings
of the Company or to voting or otherwise) as the registered holder would have been entitled to if he had not
died or become bankrupt.
44. Where:(a) the securities of the Company are listed on another stock exchange; and
(b) the Company is exempted from compliance with Section 14 of the Central Depositories Act or Section 29
of the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) (Amendment) (No. 2) Act, 1998, as the case may be, under
the Rules in respect of such securities,
the Company shall, upon the request of a securities holder, permit a transmission of securities held by such
securities holder from the register of holders maintained by the registrar of the Company in the jurisdiction of
the other stock exchange, to the register of holders maintained by the registrar of the Company in Malaysia and
vice versa provided that there shall be no change in ownership of such securities.
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FORFEITURE OF SHARES
45. If any member fails to pay the whole or any part of any call or instalment of a call on or before the day
appointed for payment thereof, the Directors may, at any time thereafter during such time as any part of the
call or instalment remains unpaid, serve a notice on him or on the person entitled to the share by transmission,
requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid, together with any interest or compensation
at the rate of eight per centum (8%) per annum or at such rate as the Directors shall determine and any
expenses that may have accrued by reason of such non-payment.
46. The notice shall specify a further day (not earlier than the expiration of fourteen (14) days from the date of the
notice) on or before which the payment required by the notice is to be made and the place where payment is to
be made and shall state that in the event of non-payment on or before the time and at the place appointed, the
shares in respect of which the call was made will be liable to be forfeited.
47. If the requirements of any such notice as aforesaid are not complied with, any share in respect of which the
notice has been given may at any time thereafter, before the payment required by the notice has been made,
be forfeited by a resolution of the Directors to that effect. Such forfeiture of shares shall include all dividends
declared in respect of the forfeited shares and not actually paid before the forfeiture.
48. A forfeited share may be sold or otherwise disposed of on such terms and in such manner as the Directors
think fit, and at any time before a sale or disposition, the forfeiture may be cancelled on such terms as the
Directors think fit. Notice of sale or disposal shall be sent to the holder of the shares sold or disposed of
within fourteen (14) days of the date of sale or disposal. Notwithstanding any such forfeiture as aforesaid, the
Directors may, at any time before the forfeited share has been otherwise disposed of, annul the forfeiture upon
the terms of payment of all calls and interest due thereon and all expenses incurred in respect of the share and
upon such further terms (if any) as they shall see fit.
49. A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a member in respect of the forfeited shares, but
shall remain liable to pay to the Company all monies which, at the date of forfeiture, was payable by him to the
Company in respect of the shares (together with interest at the rate of eight per cent (8%) per annum from
the date of forfeiture on the money for the time being unpaid if the Directors think fit to enforce payment of
such interest), but his liability shall cease if and when the Company receives payment in full of all such money in
respect of the shares.
50. The forfeiture of a share shall involve the extinction at the time of all interest in and all claims and demands
against the Company in respect of the share, and all other rights and liabilities incidental to the share as
between the shareholder whose share is forfeited and the Company, except only such of those rights and
liabilities as are by this Constitution expressly saved, or as are by the Act given or imposed in the case of past
members.
51. A statutory declaration in writing by a Director or Secretary of the Company that a share in the Company has
been duly forfeited on a date stated in the declaration shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein stated
as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share, and such declaration, together with the receipt of the
Company for the consideration (if any), given for the share on the sale or disposition thereof, shall constitute
a good title to the share, and such person shall be registered as the holder of the share and shall be discharged
from all calls made prior to such sale or disposition, and the Company shall not be bound to see the application
of the purchase money (if any), nor shall the purchaser’s title to the share be affected by any act, omission or
irregularity relating to or connected with the proceedings in reference to the forfeiture, sale, re-allotment or
disposal of the share. This Constitution on forfeiture shall apply in the case of non-payment of any sum which,
by the terms of issue a share, becomes payable at a fixed time, as if the same had been payable by virtue of a call
duly made and notified.
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52. The Company may receive the consideration, if any, given for any forfeited share on any sale or disposition
thereof and authorise any person to execute a transfer of the share in favour of the person to whom the share
is sold or disposed of and he shall thereupon be registered as the holder of the share and shall not have his title
to the share be affected by an irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the forfeiture, sale or
disposal of the share. Any residue of the proceeds of sale of shares which are forfeited and sold or disposed of,
after the satisfaction of the unpaid calls and accrued interest and expenses, shall be paid to the person whose
shares have been forfeited or his executors, administrators or assignees or as he directs.
53. The provisions of this Constitution as to forfeiture shall apply in the case of non-payment of any sum which, by
the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable at a fixed time, as if the same had been payable by virtue of a call
duly made and notified.
54. Where any share has been forfeited in accordance with this Constitution, notice of the forfeiture shall, within
fourteen (14) days from the date of forfeiture thereof, be given to the holder of the share or to the person
entitled to the share by transmission, as the case may be, and an entry of such notice having been given, and
of the forfeiture with the date thereof forthwith be made in the Register or the Record of Depositors, as
appropriate, opposite the share.

CONVERSION OF SHARES INTO STOCK
55. The Company may by special resolution passed at a general meeting convert any paid-up shares into stock or
reconvert any stock into paid-up shares of any number.
56. The holders of the stock may transfer the same, or any part thereof in the same manner and subject to the
same Clauses as and subject to which, the shares from which the stock arose might prior to conversion have
been transferred, or as near thereto as circumstances permit; but the Directors may from time to time fix the
minimum amount of stock transferable and restrict or forbid the transfer of fractions of that minimum.
57. The holders of stock shall, according to the amount of the stock held by them have the same rights, privileges
and advantages as regards dividends, voting at meetings of the Company and other matters as if they held
the shares from which the stock arose, but no such right, privilege or advantage (except participation in the
dividends and profits of the Company and in the assets on winding up) shall be conferred by any such part of
stock as it would not, if existing in shares, have conferred that right, privilege or advantage.
58. Such Clauses of the Constitution as are applicable to paid-up shares shall apply to stock and the words “share”
and “shareholder” therein shall include “stock” and “stockholder”.

INCREASE OF CAPITAL
59. The Company may from time to time, by special resolution increase its share capital by the creation and issue
of new shares, such new capital to be of such amount and to be divided into shares of such respective amounts
and (subject to any special, limited or conditional voting rights for the time being attached to any existing class
of shares) to carry such preferential rights or to be subjected to such conditions or restrictions in regard to
dividend, return of capital or otherwise as the Company may, by the resolution authorising such increase,
directs.
60. Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company in general meeting, all new shares or
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other convertible securities shall, before issue, be offered to such persons as at the date of the offer are entitled
to receive notices from the Company of general meetings in proportion as nearly as the circumstances admit,
to the amount of the existing shares or securities to which they are entitled. The offer shall be made by notice
specifying the number of shares or securities offered, and limiting a time within which the offer, if not accepted,
will be deemed to be declined, and after the expiration of that time, or on the receipt of an intimation from
the person to whom the offer is made that he declines to accept the shares or securities offered, the Directors
may dispose of those shares or securities in such manner as they think most beneficial to the Company. The
Directors may likewise also dispose of any new share or security which (by reason of the ratio which the new
shares or securities bear to the shares or securities held by persons entitled to an offer of new shares or
securities) cannot, in the opinion of the Directors, be conveniently offered under this Clause.
61. Except so far as otherwise provided by the conditions of issue, any capital raised by the creation of new shares
shall be considered as part of the original share capital of the Company, and shall be subject to the same
provisions with reference to the payment of calls, lien, transfer, transmission, forfeiture and otherwise as the
original share capital.
ALTERATION OF CAPITAL
62. The Company may by special resolution:(a) increase the share capital by such sum to be divided into shares of such amount as the resolution shall
prescribe; or
(b) consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital, the proportion between the amount paid and the
amount, if any, unpaid on each subdivided share shall be the same as it was in the case of the shares from
which the subdivided share is derived; or
(c) convert all or any of its paid-up shares into stock and may reconvert that stock into paid-up shares; or
(d) subdivide its share capital or any part thereof, whatever is in the subdivision, the proportion between the
amount paid and the amount, if any, unpaid on each subdivided share shall be the same as it was in the case
of the shares from which the subdivided share is derived; or
(e) cancel any shares which at the date of the passing of the resolution which have been forfeited and diminish
the amount of its share capital by the amount of the shares so cancelled.
63. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the requirements of the Exchange and such
other relevant law, regulation or guideline, the Company is allowed and shall have power, to the fullest extent
permitted, to purchase its own shares. Any shares in the Company so purchased by the Company shall be dealt
with as provided by the Act, the Listing Requirements of the Exchange and any other relevant authority.
64. The Company may reduce its share capital by—
(a) a special resolution and confirmation by the Court in accordance with Section 116 of the Act; or
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GENERAL MEETINGS
65. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in accordance with the provisions of the Act. All
general meetings other than the annual general meeting shall be called extraordinary general meetings. All
general meetings shall be held at such time, date and place as the Directors shall determine. Every notice of
an annual general meeting shall specify the meeting as such and every meeting convened for passing a special
resolution shall state the intention to propose such resolution as a special resolution.
Such meeting of its members may be held at more than one venue using any technology or method that allows
all members of the Company to participate and to exercise the members’ rights to speak and vote at the
meeting, and using any available technology to provide notice, conduct and record or facilitate voting at that
meeting or any adjournment of that meeting of members subject to rules, regulations and laws prevailing. The
main venue of the meeting shall be in Malaysia and the Chairman shall be present at the main venue of the
meeting.
66. The Directors may, whenever they so decide by resolution, convene an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company. In addition, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on such requisition as is referred
to in Section 311 of the Act, or if the Company makes default in convening a meeting in compliance with a
requisition received pursuant to Section 312 of the Act, a meeting may be convened by the requisitionists
themselves in the manner provided in Section 313 of the Act.
67. (1) The notices convening meetings shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting, and shall be given to all
members at least fourteen (14) days before the meeting or at least twenty one (21) days before the meeting
where any special resolution is to be proposed or where it is an annual general meeting. Any notice of a
meeting called to consider special business shall be accompanied by a statement regarding the effect of
any proposed resolution in respect of such special business. At least fourteen (14) days’ notice or twenty
one (21) days’ notice in the case where any special resolution is proposed or where it is the annual general
meeting, of every such meeting must be given by advertisement in at least one (1) nationally circulated
Bahasa Malaysia or English daily newspaper and in writing to each stock exchange upon which the Company
is listed.
(2) Subject to the Act, Listing Requirements, laws, rules or regulations, notice of a meeting of members shall be
in writing or Documents which is required or permitted to be given, sent or served under the Act or under
this Constitution shall be given to the members either:(a) in hard copy,
(b) in electronic form, or
(c) partly in hard copy and partly in electronic form.
(3) A notice or Documents:(a) given in hard copy shall be sent to any member/ securities holder either personally or by post to the
address supplied by the member/ securities holder to the Company for such purpose; or
(b) given in electronic form shall be transmitted to the electronic address provided by the member/
securities holder to the Company for such purpose or by publishing on a website.

(b) a special resolution supported by a solvency statement in accordance with Section 117 of the Act.
(4) A notice of a meeting of members or Documents shall not be validly given by the Company by means of a
website unless a notification to that effect is given in accordance with Section 320 of the Act.
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(5) The Company shall notify a member/ securities holder of the publication of the notice or Documents on the
website and such notifications shall be in writing and shall be given in hard copy or electronic form stating:(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

that it concerns a meeting of members;
the place, date and time of the meeting;
the general nature of the business of the meeting; and
whether the meeting is an annual general meeting.

If the Company sends the notice or Documents or notifications through electronic mail, there must be
proof of electronic mail delivery. In the event of delivery failure, the Company shall send for a hard copy of
the notice or Documents to him.
Notice of meeting of members may include text of any proposed resolutions and other information as the
Directors deem fit.
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72. In every notice calling a meeting of the Company there shall appear with reasonable prominence, a statement
that a member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and
vote in his stead.
73. The accidental omission to given notice of meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting, by any person
entitled to receive such notice shall not invalidate any resolution passed or the proceedings at any such meeting.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETING
74. No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members is present at the time when
the meeting proceeds to business. Save as otherwise provided, two (2) members present in person shall be a
quorum. For the purposes of constituting a quorum:(i) one or more representatives appointed by a corporation shall be counted as one member; or

(6) The notice or Documents shall be made available on the website throughout the period beginning from the
date of the notification referred to in Clause 66(5) until the conclusion of the meeting.
(7) The contact details of the member/ securities holder as provided to the Bursa Depository shall be deemed
as the last known address provided by the member to the Company for purposes of communication with
the member.
(8) Where any member/ securities holder requests for a hard copy of the Documents, the Company shall
forward a hard copy of these Documents to the member/ securities holder as soon as reasonably
practicable after the receipt of the request, free of charge.
(9) Where it relates to Documents required to be completed by members/ securities holders for a rights issue
or offer for sale, the Company must send these Documents through electronic mail, in hard copy or in any
other manner as the Exchange may prescribe from time to time.
68. The Company shall request the Bursa Depository, in accordance with the Rules, to issue a Record of
Depositors to whom notices of general meetings shall be given by the Company.
69. The Company shall also request the Bursa Depository in accordance with the Rules, to issue a Record of
Depositors, as at the latest date which is reasonably practicable which shall in any event be not less than
three (3) Market Days before the general meeting (hereinafter referred to as the “General Meeting Record of
Depositors”).
70. Subject to the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) (Foreign Ownership) Regulations 1996 (where
applicable), a Depositor shall not be regarded as a member entitled to attend any general meeting and to speak
and vote thereat unless his name appears in the General Meeting Record of Depositors.
71. Subject always to the provision of Section 302 of the Act, no business shall be transacted at any extraordinary
general meeting except business of which notice has been given in the notice convening the meeting and no
business shall be transacted at an annual general meeting other than business of which notice has been given
aforesaid, with the exception of the laying of the audited financial statements and the report of the Directors
and auditors, the fixing of the Directors’ fees and benefits payable, the election of Directors in the place of
those retiring by rotation or otherwise, and the appointment and fixing of the remuneration of the auditors.

(ii) one or more proxies appointed by a person shall be counted as one member.
75. If within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting, if convened
upon the requisition of members shall be dissolved. In any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day
in the next week (or if that day be a public holiday then to the next business day following that public holiday) at
the same time and place or to such other day and at such other time and place as the Directors may determine,
but if a quorum is not present within half an hour at any adjourned meeting, the meeting shall be dissolved. For
the purpose of this Clause, “business day” means a day (not being a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which
licensed financial institutions are open for general banking business in Kuala Lumpur.
76. The Chairman of the Board (if any) shall preside as Chairman at every general meeting. If the Company has
no Chairman or if at any general meeting, the Chairman is not present within fifteen (15) minutes after the
time appointed for holding the meeting or if the Chairman of the Board is not willing to act as Chairman for
the general meeting, the Directors present shall choose one of their number, to act as Chairman or if one (1)
Director only is present, he shall preside as Chairman if he is willing to act. If no Director is present, or if each
of the Directors present declines to preside as Chairman, the members present and entitled to vote shall elect
one (1) of their number to be the Chairman. The election of the Chairman shall be by a show of hands.
77. The Chairman may, with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by
the meeting), adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place but no business shall be transacted
at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment
took place. When a meeting is adjourned for thirty (30) days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting shall
be given as in the case of an original meeting. Save as aforesaid it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an
adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.
Without prejudice to any other power which the Chairman may have under the provisions of this Constitution
or at common law and subject to the Act and the Listing Requirements, the Chairman shall have full discretion
on the general conduct of meeting, procedures to be adopted at the meeting to ensure proper and orderly
conduct of the business of all general meetings and the Chairman’s decision on matters of procedure or arising
accidentally from the business of such meetings shall be final, as shall be his determination as to whether any
matter is of such a nature. The Chairman may also at his discretion and in accordance with applicable laws,
decide whether to admit new business at a meeting of shareholders.
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The Board can ask shareholders or proxies wanting to attend the general meeting to submit, to searches or
other security screening arrangements which the Board decide. The Board can, in their discretion refuse entry
to, or remove from, a general meeting, a shareholder or proxy who does not submit to those searches or
comply with those security screening arrangements. Security screening arrangements may include shareholders
or proxies not being allowed in to a general meeting with recording or broadcasting devices or an article which
the Chairman of the meeting considers to be dangerous, offensive or liable to cause disruption.
78. Subject to the Listing Requirements, any resolution set out in the notice of any general meeting, or in any
notice of resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at any general meeting shall be
voted by poll. Notwithstanding the above, poll may be demanded in writing:(a) by the Chairman of the meeting;
(b) by at least three (3) members present in person or by proxy or by attorney or in the case of a corporation
by a representative;
(c) by any member or members present in person or by proxy or by attorney or in the case of a corporation
by a representative and representing not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the total voting rights of all the
members having the right to vote at the meeting, excluding any voting rights attached to shares in the
Company held as treasury shares; or
(d) by a member or members present in person or by proxy or by attorney or in the case of a corporation by
a representative holding shares in the Company conferring a right to vote at the meeting being shares on
which an aggregate sum has been paid-up equal to not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the total sum paid-up
on all the shares conferring that right, excluding any voting rights attached to shares in the Company held
as treasury shares.
Unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by the Chairman of the meeting that a resolution has been carried
or has not been carried by a particular majority or lost, and an entry to that effect in the book containing
the minutes of the proceedings of the Company, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the
number of proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.
79. (1) A poll demanded on any resolution shall be taken either immediately or at such subsequent time (not
being more than thirty (30) days from the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the poll was
demanded) and place as the Chairman may direct but poll demanded on the election of a chairman or on a
question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. If a poll is demanded before the declaration of the result
of a show of hands and the demand is duly withdrawn, the meeting shall continue as if the demand had not
been made.
(2) The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the transaction of any business
other than the question on which the poll has been demanded. The Chairman of the meeting may (and
if so directed by the meeting shall) appoint scrutineers and may in addition to the powers of adjourning
meetings contained in Clause 76, adjourn the meeting to some place and time fixed for the purpose of
declaring the result of the poll.
(3) If:
(a) any objection shall be raised as to the qualification of any voter; or
(b) any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which might have been
rejected; or
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(c) any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted;
the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the meeting or adjourned meeting on any resolution
unless the same is raised or pointed out at the meeting or the adjourned meeting at which the vote objected
to is given or tendered or at which the error occurs. Any objection or error shall be referred to the Chairman
of the meeting and shall only vitiate the decision of the meeting on any resolution if the Chairman decides that
the same is of sufficient magnitude to vitiate the resolution or may otherwise have affected the decision of the
meeting. The decision of the Chairman of the meeting on such matters shall be final and conclusive.
(4) A poll shall be taken in such manner as the Chairman of the meeting may direct and at least one (1) scrutineer
must be appointed to validate the votes cast at the general meeting. The appointed scrutineer must not be an
officer of the Company or its related corporation, and must be independent of the person undertaking the
polling process. The Chairman of the meeting may fix a place and time for declaring the results of the poll. The
result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.
The poll may be conducted manually using voting slips or electronically using various forms of electronic
voting devices. Such votes shall be counted by the poll administrator, and verified by the scrutineers, as may be
appointed by the Chairman of the meeting for the purpose of determining the outcome of the resolution(s) to
be decided by poll.
80. In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the Chairman of the meeting at
which the show of hands takes place or at which the poll is demanded shall be entitled to a second or casting
vote in addition to any other vote he may have.
81. Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class of shares at meetings of members
or classes of members and Clause 67, Clause 68 and Clause 69 above, each member shall be entitled to be
present and to vote at any general meeting in respect of any share or shares of which he is the registered holder
and upon which all calls due to the Company have been paid, and may vote in person or by proxy or by attorney
or by duly authorised representative for a corporation, and on a resolution to be decided on a show of hands,
each holder of an ordinary share or, each holder of a preference share who is personally present and entitled
to vote, shall be entitled to one (1) vote and on a poll, every such member present in person or by proxy or
attorney or representative for a corporation shall have one (1) vote for each share he holds. A proxy shall be
entitled to vote on a show of hands or on a poll, on any question, at any general meeting. In a voting by poll,
each proxy shall be entitled to such number of votes equal to the proportion of the member’s shareholdings
represented by such proxy. A proxy may only vote as directed in the proxy form. However, if the appointor or
representative attend and vote on a resolution, the proxy or attorney must not vote.
82. Where the capital of the Company consists of shares of different monetary denominations, voting rights shall be
prescribed in such a manner that a unit of capital in each class, when reduced to a common denominator, shall
carry the same voting power when such right is exercisable.
83. A member who is of unsound mind or whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the
law relating to mental disorder may vote, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, by his committee or by
such other person as properly has the management of his estate, and any such committee or other person may
vote by proxy or attorney. Any person entitled under Clause 39 to transfer any shares, may vote at any general
meeting in the same manner as if he was the registered holder of such shares provided that he shall satisfy
the Directors of his right to transfer such shares, unless the Directors shall have previously admitted his right
to vote at such meeting in respect thereof, at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time of the meeting or
adjourned meeting, at which he proposes to vote.
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84. No person shall be entitled to be present or to vote on any resolution either as a member or otherwise as a
proxy or attorney or representative for a corporation at any general meeting or demand a poll or be reckoned
in the quorum in respect of any shares upon which calls are due and unpaid.
85. No objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at
which the vote objected to is given or tendered, and every vote not disallowed at such meeting shall be valid
for all purposes. Any such objection made in due time shall be referred to the Chairman of the meeting whose
decision shall be final and conclusive.
86. (1) A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company, or at a meeting of
any class of members of the Company, shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend
and vote in his stead at the meeting, and that a proxy may but need not be a member. There shall be no
restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, he shall
specify the proportion of his holdings to be represented by each proxy, failing which the appointment shall
be invalid. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company shall have the same rights as
the member to speak at the meeting.
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(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided how you wish your vote to be cast. If you do not do so, the
proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his (her) discretion.)
The proportion of my/our shareholdings to be represented by my/our proxies are as follows: First Proxy
Second Proxy
		
			

%
%
100%

If appointment of proxy is under hand

No. of shares held:

Signed by *individual member/*officer or

Securities Account No.:

attorney of member/*authorised nominee of
(beneficial owner)

(2) Where a member is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for
multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of
proxies which the Exempt Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.
87. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly
authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under the corporation’s common seal or
under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. The Directors, may but shall not be bound to, require
evidence of the authority of any such attorney or officer. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to
confer authority on the appointed proxy to demand or join in demanding a poll.
88. Where it is desired to afford members an opportunity of voting for or against a resolution, the instrument
appointing a proxy shall be in the following form or a form as near thereto as circumstances admit or in such
other form as the Directors may approve or in any particular case, may accept:
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(CDS Account No.) (Compulsory)
Date :

If appointment of proxy is under seal

Seal

The Common Seal of

No. of shares held:

was hereto affixed in accordance with its
Constitution in the presence of:-

Securities Account No:
(CDS Account No.) (Compulsory)

Director

Director/Secretary

Date :

in its capacity as *member/*attorney of
REV ASIA BERHAD
I/We,
NRIC No./Company No.
of
and telephone no./ email address
being a member/ members of REV ASIA BERHAD (the
“Company”), hereby appoint
NRIC No.
of
or failing him/her,
NRIC No.
of
or failing him/her, THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our
behalf at the [Annual or Extraordinary, as the case may be] General Meeting of the Company, to be held
at
on
or at any adjournment thereof. I/We indicate with an “x” in the
spaces below how I/we wish my/our vote to be cast.

Agenda

For

Against

member/*authorised nominee of
(beneficial owner)

Signed this

day of

, 20

*Strike out whichever is not desired.
[Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy may vote as he thinks fit.]

Notes:
A member (other than an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central
Depositories) Act 1991) entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a maximum of 2
proxies to attend, participate, speak and vote on his (her) behalf. A proxy may but need not be a member of
the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. A proxy appointed to attend,
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participate, speak and vote at the meeting of the Company shall have the same rights as the members to speak at
the meeting.
Where a member appoints 2 proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless he (she) specifies the proportions of
his (her) holdings to be represented by each proxy.
Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds shares in the Company for
multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the Securities Industry
(Central Depositories) Act 1991, there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee
may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.
The Proxy Form shall be signed by the appointer or his (her) attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the member
is a corporation, must be executed under its common seal or by its duly authorised attorney or officer.
89. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed
or a duly notarised certified copy of that power or authority, shall be deposited at the Office or at such other
place within Malaysia as is specified for that purpose in the notice convening the meeting, not less than forty
eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting as the case may be, at
which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote, and in the case of a poll, not less than twenty-four
(24) hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll, and in default, the instrument of proxy shall not
be treated as valid. The Company may specify a fax number and may specify an electronic address in the notice
of meeting, for the purpose of receipt of proxy appointments subject to the Rules, regulations and laws at that
time specified therein.
90. (1) Subject to the Act and the Listing Requirements, the Directors or any agent of the Company so authorised
by the Directors, may accept the appointment of proxy received by electronic communication on such
terms and subject to such conditions as they consider fit. The appointment of proxy by electronic
communication shall be in accordance with this Constitution.
(2) For the purpose of Clause 89, the Directors may require such reasonable evidence they consider necessary
to determine:(a) the identity of the member and the proxy; and
(b) where the proxy is appointed by a person acting on behalf of the member, the authority of that person
to make the appointment.
(3) Without prejudice to Clause 89, the appointment of proxy by electronic communication must be received
at the electronic address specified by the Company in any of the following sources and shall be subject to
any terms, conditions or limitations specified therein:(a) Notice calling the meeting;
(b) Instrument of proxy sent out by the Company in relation to the meeting; or
(c) Website maintained by or on behalf of the Company.
(4) An appointment of proxy by electronic communication must be received at the electronic address specified
by the Company pursuant to Clause 89(3) not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for
holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the form of appointment of proxy
proposes to vote, or, in the case of a poll, not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time appointed
for the taking of the poll, and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

OTHER INFORMATION

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

113

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APPENDIX A (continued)

(5) An appointment of proxy by electronic communication which is not made in accordance with this Clause
shall be invalid.
91. Every power, right or privilege of any member to convene, attend, vote and in anyway take part in any meeting
of the Company, may be exercised in the event of such member being out of Malaysia by any attorney, whether
a member or not, duly appointed by such member for the purpose, by a power of attorney produced at the
Office during business hours not less than two (2) Market Days before the same is acted on. Any vote given or
things done by such attorney shall be valid notwithstanding the previous death or unsoundness of mind of the
Member giving such power of attorney or revocation of such power of attorney by other means provided no
intimation in writing of such death or unsoundness mind or revocation shall have been received at the Office
before such vote is given or thing done.
92. A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy or attorney or authority shall be valid,
notwithstanding the previous death or unsoundness of mind of the principal or revocation of the instrument of
proxy or attorney or authority under which the instrument of proxy was executed, or the transfer of the share
in respect of which the instrument of proxy is given, if no intimation in writing of such death, unsoundness of
mind, revocation or transfer as aforesaid has been received by the Company at the Office or at such other place
within Malaysia before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting or in the case of a poll before
the time appointed for the taking of the poll, at which the instrument of proxy is used.
93. A corporation may by resolution of its directors or other governing body, if it is a member, authorise such
person as it thinks fit to act as its representative either at a particular meeting or at all meetings of the
Company or of any class of members and a person so authorised shall act in accordance with his authority
and until his authority is revoked by the corporation, be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the
corporation as the corporation could exercise if it was an individual member.
If the corporation authorises more than one person as its representative, every one of the representative is
entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the corporation as the corporation could exercise if every
one of the representative was an individual member of the company.
If the corporation authorises more than one person and more than one of the representatives purport to
exercise the power on the above:
(a) where the representatives purport to exercise the power in the same way, the power is treated as
exercised in that way; or
(b) where the representatives do not purport to exercise the power in the same way, the power is treated as
not exercised.

DIRECTORS: APPOINTMENT, REMOVAL, ETC
94. Unless otherwise determine by the Company in general meeting and subject to the Listing Requirements, the
number of Directors shall not be less than two (2) or more than fifteen (15). The remaining Directors may
continue to act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, but if and so long as their number is reduced below
the aforesaid minimum, the remaining directors may, except in emergency, act only for the purpose of increasing
the number of Directors to such minimum number or to summon a general meeting of the Company.
95. Unless otherwise determined by the Company in general meeting, by the Rules or under law, at least two (2)
Directors or one-third (1/3) of the Board, whichever is higher, shall be independent Directors. If the number of
Directors is not three (3) or multiple of three (3), then the number nearest one-third (1/3) shall be used for the
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purpose of determining the requisite number of independent Directors.
96. An election of Directors shall take place each year. At the first annual general meeting of the Company, all the
Directors shall retire from office, and at the annual general meeting in every subsequent year, one-third (1/3) of
the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), then the number
nearest to one-third (1/3) shall retire from office and be eligible for re-election PROVIDED ALWAYS that all
Directors shall retire from office at least once in every three (3) years but shall be eligible for re-election. A
retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he retires whether adjourned or not.
97. The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been longest in office since their last election, but
as between persons who became Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.
98. No person, not being a retiring Director, shall be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting unless a member intending to propose him for election has, at least eleven (11) clear days before the
meeting, left at the Office, a notice in writing duly signed by the nominee, giving his consent to the nomination
and signifying his candidature for the office, or the intention of such member to propose him for election,
provided that in the case of a person recommended by the Directors for election, nine (9) clear days’ notice
only shall be necessary, and notice of each and every candidature for election to the Board shall be served on
the registered holders of shares at least seven (7) days prior to the meeting at which the election is to take
place. The cost of serving the notice to propose the election of a Director where the nomination is made by a
member or members shall be borne by the member or members making the nomination.
99. The Company at the meeting at which a Director so retires may fill the vacated office by electing a person
thereto. Unless at that meeting it is expressly resolved not to fill the vacated office or a resolution for the reelection of the Director retiring at that meeting is put to the meeting and lost or some other person is elected
a Director in place of the retiring Director, the retiring Director shall, if offering himself for re-election and
not being disqualified under the Act from holding office as a Director, be deemed to have been re-elected.
100. At any general meeting at which more than one (1) Director is to be elected, each candidate shall be the
subject of a separate motion and vote unless a motion for the appointment of two (2) or more persons as
Directors by a single resolution shall have first been agreed to by the meeting without any vote being given
against it.
101. The Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting, increase or reduce
the number of Directors, and may also determine in what rotation the increased or reduced number is to go
out of office.
102. The Company may by ordinary resolution of which special notice is given, remove any Director before the
expiration of his period of office and may if thought fit, by ordinary resolution appoint another Director in
his stead. The person so appointed shall hold office for so long as the Director in whose place he is appointed
would as if he had not been removed.
103. The Directors shall have power at any time and from time to time, to appoint any person to be a Director,
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors but so that the total number of
Directors shall not at any time exceed the maximum number fixed in accordance with this Constitution. Any
Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company,
and shall then be eligible for re-election but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors who
are to retire by rotation at that meeting.
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104. The shareholding qualification for Directors may be fixed by the Company in general meeting and until so
fixed, no shareholding qualification for Directors shall be required. All Directors shall be entitled to receive
notice of and to attend all general meetings of the Company.

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL FOR
DIRECTORS’ FEES AND BENEFITS
105. The fees and any benefits payable to the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries including any
compensation for loss of employment of Director or former Director shall from time to time be determined
by the Company in general meeting and such remuneration shall be divided among the Directors in such
proportions and manner as the Directors may determine PROVIDED ALWAYS that:(a) fee pay able to Non-Executive Directors shall be by a fixed sum, and not by a commission on or
percentage of profits or turnover and which shall not exceed the amount approved by shareholders in a
general meeting;
(b) remuneration and other emoluments (including bonus, benefits or any other elements) payable to
Executive Directors who hold an executive office in the Company pursuant to a contract of service need
not be determined by the Company in general meeting but such salaries and emoluments may not include
a commission on or percentage of turnover. Nothing herein shall prejudice the powers of the Directors
to appoint any of their members to be the employee or agent of the Company at such remuneration and
upon such terms as they think fit provided that such remuneration shall not include commission on or
percentage of turnover;
(c) fees of Directors and any benefits payable to Directors shall be subject to annual shareholders’ approval at
a general meeting;
(d) any fee paid to an alternate Director shall be agreed between himself and the Director nominating him and
shall be paid out of the remuneration of the latter; and
(e) the fees and / or benefits payable to Non-Executive Directors who is also Director of the subsidiaries
includes fees, meeting allowances, travelling allowances, benefits, gratuity and compensation for loss of
employment of Director or former Director of the Company provided by the Company and subsidiaries,
but does not include insurance premium or any issue of securities.
106. (1) The Directors shall be paid for all their travelling, hotel and other expenses properly and necessarily
expended by them in and about the business of the Company including their travelling and other expenses
incurred in attending meetings of the Directors or any committee of the Directors or general meetings or
otherwise.
(2) If any Director being willing shall be called upon to perform extra services or to make any special exertions
in going or residing away from his usual place of business or residence for any of the purposes of the
Company or in giving special attention to the business of the Company as a member of a committee
of Directors, the Company may remunerate the Director so doing either by a fixed sum or otherwise
(other than by a sum to include a commission on or percentage of turnover) as may be determined by
the Board provided that in the case of Non-Executive Directors, the said remuneration shall not include
a commission on or percentage of profits or turnover. In the case of an Executive Director, such fee
may be either in addition to or in substitution for his share in the fee from time to time provided for the
Directors.

116

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

OTHER INFORMATION

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APPENDIX A (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

REV ASIA BERHAD ANNUAL REPORT 2018

117

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
APPENDIX A (continued)

(a) exercise any power of the Company to issue shares unless otherwise permitted under the Act;
DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
107. (1) The office of a Director shall become vacant if the Director:(a) becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his creditor generally during his term
of office;

(b) arrange or enter or carry into effect any proposal or execute any transaction for the acquisition of an
undertaking or property of a substantial value, or the disposal of a substantial portion of or controlling
interest in the Company’s undertaking or property (includes the whole or substantially the whole of the
rights, including developmental rights and benefits);

(c) has been convicted of an offence involving bribery, fraud or dishonesty;

(c) subject to Sections 228(2) and 229 of the Act, enter or carry into effect any arrangement or transaction
with a Director or a substantial shareholder of the Company or its holding company, or its subsidiary or
with a person connected with such a Director or substantial shareholder to acquire from or dispose to
such Director or substantial shareholder or person connected with such a Director any shares or noncash assets of the requisite value as stated in the Act; or

(d) becomes disqualified from being a Director by reason of any order made under the Act or has been
convicted of an offence under Sections 213, 217, 218, 228 and 539 of the Act;

(d) issue any securities on such terms and subject to such conditions which confer a right to subscribe for new
shares of the Company.

(b) has been convicted of an offence relating to the promotion, formation or management of a corporation;

(e) becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under
the law relating to mental disorder during his term of office;
(f) is absent from more than fifty percent (50%) of the total Board meetings held during a financial year
unless an exemption or waiver is obtained from the Exchange;
(g) resigns from his office by notice in writing to the Company and deposited at the Office of the Company;
(h) is removed from his office of Director by resolution of the Company in general meeting of which special
notice has been given;
(i) has retired in accordance with the Act or the Constitution of the Company but is not re-elected; or
(j) otherwise vacate his office in accordance with the Act or the Constitution of the Company.
(k) is convicted by a court of law, whether in Malaysia or elsewhere, in relation to offences under the Act or
any securities laws.

POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS
108. The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by Directors or under the direction of the Board
who may pay all expenses incurred in promoting and registering the Company. The Board has all the powers
necessary for managing and for directing and supervising the management of the business and affairs of the
Company and exercise all such powers of the Company as are not by this Constitution or by the Act required
to be exercised by the Company in general meeting, subject nevertheless, to any of this Constitution, to the
provisions of the Act, and to such regulations, not being inconsistent with this Constitution or the provisions
of the Act as may be prescribed by the Company in general meeting but no regulation made by the Company
in general meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Directors which would have been valid if such regulation
had not been made.
109. The Directors shall not without the prior approval of the Company in general meeting:-

110. The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge its
undertaking, property and uncalled capital, or any part thereof and to issue debentures and other securities
whether outright or as security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or subsidiary company or
associate company or any related third party subject to the law including but not limited to the provisions of
the Act and the Listing Requirements, as they may think fit.
111. The Directors shall not borrow any money or mortgage or charge any of the Company’s or its subsidiaries’
undertaking, property or uncalled capital, or issue debentures or other securities, whether outright or as
security, for any debt, liability or obligation of an unrelated third party.
112. The Directors may establish or arrange any contributory or non-contributory pension or superannuation
scheme, share option / incentive scheme and trusts or other funds for the benefit of, or pay a gratuity, pension
or emolument, and to issue and allot and / or transfer shares or securities to any person who is or has been
employed by or in the service of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company, or to any person who is or
has been a Director or other officer of and holds or has held salaried employment in the Company or any
such subsidiary, and the widow, family or dependants of any such person. The Directors may also subscribe
to any association or fund which they consider to be for the benefit of the Company or any such subsidiary or
any such person as aforesaid and make payments for or towards any hospital or scholastic expenses and any
Director holding such salaried employment shall be entitled to retain any benefit received by him under this
Clause subject only, where the Act requires, for proper disclosure to the members and the approval of the
Company in general meeting.
113. The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company conferred by the Act in relation to any official seal
for use outside Malaysia and in relation to branch registers. The Company may have a duplicate Common Seal
as referred in Section 62 of the Act which shall be an exact copy of the Common Seal with the addition on
its face of the word “Share Seal”. The official seal when duly affixed to the Documents has the same effect as
the Company’s common seal. The person affixing the official seal shall certify in writing on the deed or other
Documents to which the seal is affixed the date and place it is affixed.
114. The Directors may from time to time by power of attorney under the Seal, appoint any corporation, firm or
person or body of persons, whether nominated directly or indirectly by the Directors, to be the attorney /
attorneys of the Company for such purposes and with such powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding
those vested in or exercisable by the Directors under this Constitution) and for such period and subject to
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such conditions as they may think fit, and any such power of attorney may contain such provisions for the
protection and convenience of persons dealing with any such attorney as the Directors may think fit and may
also authorise any such attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in him.
115. All cheques, promissory notes, drafts, bills of exchange and other negotiable instruments and all receipts for
money paid to the Company shall be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed, or otherwise executed, as the case
may be in such manner as the Directors may from time to time by resolution determine.
116. Subject to the Act, the Company’s Documents shall be executed, as the case may be, in such manner and by
such person as the Directors shall from time to time determine.
117. A Director shall at all times act honestly and use reasonable diligence in the discharge of the duties of his
office and shall not make use of any information acquired by virtue of his position to gain directly or indirectly
an improper advantage for himself or for any other person or to cause detriment to the Company.
118. Every Director shall give notice to the Company of such events and matters affecting or relating to himself as
may be necessary or expedient to enable the Company and its officers to comply with the requirements of the
Act.
119. Subject always to the Act and requirements of the Exchange, a Director may hold any other office or place
of profit under the Company (other than the office of Auditor) in conjunction with his office of Director for
such period and on such terms (as to remuneration and otherwise) as the Directors may determine and no
Director or intending Director shall be disqualified by his office from contracting with the Company either
with regard to his tenure of any such other office or place of profit or as vendor, purchaser or otherwise
nor shall any such contracts, or any contract or arrangement entered into by or on behalf of the Company
in which any Director is in any way interested, be liable to be avoided, nor shall any Director so contracting
or being so interested be liable to account to the Company for any profit realised by any such contract or
arrangement by reason of such Director holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established
but the nature and extent of interest must be declared by him at the meeting of the Directors at which the
contract or arrangement is determined, if the interest then exists or in any other case, at the first meeting of
the Directors after the acquisition of the interest.
120. Unless prohibited by the rules and / or requirements of the Exchange, any Director may act by himself or his
firm in a professional capacity for the Company and he or his firm shall be entitled to remuneration for his
or his firm’s professional services as if he was not a Director, provided that nothing herein contained shall
authorise a Director or his firm to act as auditor of the Company and provided further that such professional
services shall be provided at normal commercial terms.

PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS
121. The Directors may meet together for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their
meetings as they think fit. Any Director may at any time and the Secretary shall on the requisition of any of
the Directors, summon a meeting of the Directors by giving them not less than seven (7) days’ notice thereof
unless such requirement is waived by them.
122. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors from time to time, notice of all Directors’ meetings shall be
given and circulated to all Directors and their alternates by facsimile, electronic mail or other communication
modes / equipment. Except in the case of an emergency, reasonable notice of every Directors’ meeting shall
be given in writing. The majority of the Board may waive notice of any meeting and any such waiver may be
retroactive.
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123. The quorum necessary for the transaction of business of the Directors shall be two (2) and a meeting of the
Director for the time being at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all or any of the
powers, authorities and discretion by or under this Constitution vested in or exercisable by the Directors
generally.
124. Directors may participate in a meeting of Directors by means of conference telephone, conference
videophone or any similar or other communications by electronic means.
125. A person in communication by electronic means with the Chairman and with all other parties to a meeting of
the Directors or of a committee of Directors shall be regarded for all purposes as personally attending such
a meeting and shall be counted in a quorum and be entitled to vote but only for so long he has the ability to
communicate interactively and simultaneously with all other parties attending the meeting including all persons
attending by electronic means.
126. A meeting at which one or more of the Directors attends by electronic means is deemed to be held at such
place as the Directors shall at the said meeting resolve. In the absence of a resolution as aforesaid, the meeting
shall be deemed to be held at the place, if any, where a majority of the Directors attending the meeting are
physically present, or in default of such a majority, the place at which the Chairman of the meeting is physically
present.
127. Subject to the Act, all business transacted in the manner provided above by electronic means shall for the
purpose of this Constitution be deemed to be validly and effectively transacted at a meeting of the Board
PROVIDED that at least one (1) of the Directors present at the meeting was at such place as resolved or
deemed (as the case may be) pursuant to Clause 125 for the duration of the meeting. All information and
Documents must be made equally available to all participants prior to or at / during the meeting.
128. The Directors may elect and remove a Chairman of their meetings and determine the period for which he
is to hold office but if no such Chairman is elected, or if at any meeting the Chairman is not present within
fifteen (15) minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the Directors present may choose one
of their members to be Chairman of the meeting.
129. The Directors shall not have any power to appoint any person from time to time as their proxies to represent
them at Directors’ meetings, save and except for their duly appointed alternate Directors.
130. Subject to this Constitution, any question arising at any meeting of Directors shall be decided by a majority
of votes and a determination by a majority of Directors shall for all purposes be deemed a determination of
the Directors. In case of an equality of votes, the Chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
The Chairman of the meeting shall however not have a second or casting vote where two (2) Directors form a
quorum and only such a quorum is present at the meeting or only two (2) Directors are competent to vote on
the question at issue.
131. The remaining Director or Directors may continue to act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, but if
and so long as their number is reduced below the minimum number fixed by or pursuant to this Constitution
as the necessary quorum of Directors, the remaining Director or Directors may, except in an emergency, act
only for the purpose of increasing the number of Directors to such minimum number or to summon a general
meeting of the Company.
132. Every Director shall comply with the provisions of Sections 219 and 221 of the Act in connection with the
disclosure of his shareholding and interests in the Company and his interest in any contract or proposed
contract with the Company and in connection with the disclosure, every Director shall state the fact and
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the nature, character and extent of any office or possession of any property whereby whether directly or
indirectly, duties or interests might be created in conflict with his duty or interest as a Director.
133. A Director may contract with and be interested in any contract or proposed contract with the Company
and shall not be liable to account for any profit made by him by reason of any such contract; PROVIDED
ALWAYS THAT the nature of the interest of the Director in any such contract be declared at a meeting of the
Directors as required by Section 221 of the Act.
134. A Director shall not participate in any discussion or vote in regard to any contract or proposed contract or
arrangement in which he and/or person connected has, directly or indirectly, an interest (and if he shall do so
his vote shall not be counted).
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remuneration) be subject in all respects to the terms and conditions existing with reference to the other
Directors, and shall be entitled to receive notices of all meetings of the Directors and to attend, speak and
vote at any such meeting at which his appointor is not present.
(3) A Director may at any time by writing revoke the appointment of any alternate appointed by him, and
appoint another person approved as aforesaid. An alternate Director shall ipso facto vacate office if the
Director appointing him vacates office as director or removes the alternate Director from office. Any
appointment or removal of an alternate Director may be made and communicated by his appointor to
the Office by electronic transmission or in any other manner approved by the Directors. Any electronic
transmission shall be confirmed as soon as possible by letter, but may be acted upon by the Company in the
meantime.

135. A Director notwithstanding his interest may, provided that none of the other Directors present disagree, be
counted in the quorum present at any meeting whereat any decision is taken upon any contract or proposed
contract or arrangement in which he is in any way interested PROVIDED ALWAYS that he has complied with
Section 221 and all other relevant provisions of the Act and this Constitution.

(4) If a Director making any such appointment as aforesaid shall cease to be a Director (otherwise than by
reason of vacating his office at a meeting of the Company at which he is re-elected), the person appointed
by him shall thereupon cease to have any power or authority to act as an alternate Director.

136. A Director may vote in respect of:-

(5) An alternate Director shall not be taken into account in reckoning the minimum or maximum number
of Directors allowed for the time being but he shall be counted for the purpose of reckoning whether a
quorum is present at any meeting of the Directors attended by him at which he is entitled to vote.

(a) any arrangement for giving the Director himself or any other Directors any security or indemnity in
respect of money lent by him to or obligations undertaken by him for the benefit of the Company; and
(b) any arrangement for the giving by the Company of any security to a third party in respect of a debt
or obligation of the Company for which the Director himself or any other Director has assumed
responsibility in whole or in part, under a guarantee or indemnity or by the deposit of a security.
137. A Director of the Company may be or become a director or other officer of or otherwise interested in
any corporation promoted by the Company or in which the Company may be interested as shareholder or
otherwise or any corporation which is directly and indirectly interested in the Company as shareholder or
otherwise and no such Director shall be accountable to the Company for any remuneration or other benefit
received by him as a director or officer of, or from his interest in, such corporation unless the Company
otherwise directs at the time of his appointment. The Directors may exercise the voting power conferred
by the shares or other interest in any such other corporation held or owned by the Company, or exercisable
by them as directors of such other corporation, in such manner and in all respects as they think fit (including
the exercise thereof in favour of any resolution appointing themselves or any of the Directors or other
officers of such corporation), and any Director may vote in favour of the exercise of such voting rights in
manner aforesaid, notwithstanding that he may be or is about to be appointed a director or other officer of
such corporation and as such is or may become interested in the exercise of such voting rights in the manner
aforesaid.
ALTERNATE DIRECTOR
138. (1) A Director may from time to time nominate any person to act as his alternate Director and at his
discretion remove such alternate Director, PROVIDED that:(i) Such person is not a Director of the Company;
(ii) Such person does not act as an alternate for more than one Director of the Company; and
(iii) The appointment is approved by a majority of the other Directors.
(2) An alternate Director shall (except as regards the power to appoint an alternate Director and

(6) No Director may act as an alternate Director and a person may not act as an alternate Director for more
than one Director.
(7) Every person acting as an alternate Director shall be deemed to be an officer of the Company, and shall
alone be responsible to the Company for his own acts and defaults, and he shall not be deemed to be an
agent of or for the Director appointing him.

MANAGING AND / OR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
139. The Directors may from time to time appoint one (1) or more of their body to any executive office or person
performing the functions of a managing director, by whatever name called including the offices of Chief
Executive, Managing Director, Deputy Managing Director or Executive Director upon such terms as they think
fit except that any appointment of Managing Director for a fixed term shall not exceed three (3) years.
The appointment may entrust to and confer upon the Directors holding such executive office, any powers
exercisable by them as Directors generally as they may think fit, but such Chief Executive, Managing Director,
Deputy Managing Director or Executive Director shall be subject to the control of the Board. The Board
may from time to time (subject to any provisions of any contract between him and the Company) remove or
dismiss him or them from office and appoint another or others in his or their place or appoint a substitute
during his or their absence from illness or any other cause and in case of any breach of any agreement his
or their remedy against the Company shall be in damages only and he or they shall have no right or claim to
continue in such office contrary to the will of the Directors or of the Company in general meeting.
140. The remuneration of a Director holding an executive office pursuant to this Constitution shall, subject to
Clause 104, be fixed by the Board and may be by way of salary or commission or participation in profits or
otherwise or by any or all of these modes but shall not include a commission on or percentage of turnover.
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141. A Managing Director or a Deputy Managing Director shall, while he continues to hold that office, be subject
to retirement by rotation and shall be reckoned as a Director for the purpose of determining the rotation or
retirement of Directors or in fixing the number of Directors to retire, but he shall, subject to provisions of
any contract between him and the Company, be subject to the same provision as to resignation and removal
as the other Directors of the Company and if he ceases to hold the office of Director for any cause shall ipso
facto and immediately cease to be a Managing Director or Deputy Managing Director.
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of any such Director or person acting as aforesaid, or that they or any of them were disqualified, be as valid
as if every such person had been duly appointed and was qualified to be a Director, or member of such
committee as aforesaid.
147. Any sale or disposal by the Directors of a substantial portion of the Company’s main undertaking or property
shall be subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting.

COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ CIRCULAR RESOLUTIONS

142. The Directors may establish any committees (including, without limitation, a management committee), local
boards or agencies comprising two (2) or more persons for managing any other affairs of the Company either
in Malaysia or elsewhere, and may lay down, vary or annul such rules and regulations as they may think fit for
the conduct of the business thereof, and may appoint any person or persons to be the member or members
of any such committee or local board or agency and may fix their remuneration and may delegate to any such
committee or local board or agency any of the powers, authorities and discretion vested in the Directors,
with power to sub-delegate, and may authorise the member or members of any such committee or local
board or agency or any of them, to fill any vacancies therein, and to act notwithstanding vacancies, and any
such appointment or delegation may be made upon such terms and subject to such conditions as the Directors
may think fit, and the Directors may remove any person so appointed, and may annul or vary any such
delegation, but no persons dealing in good faith and without notice of any such annulment or variation shall be
affected thereby. The regulations herein contained for the proceedings of Directors shall so far as not altered
by any regulations made by the Directors apply also to the meetings and proceedings of any committee.

148. A resolution in writing signed, approved or assented by letter, electronic mail or facsimile by a majority of
the Directors for the time being present in Malaysia entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Directors
shall be valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Directors duly called and constituted
provided that where a Director is not so present but has an alternate who is so present, then such resolution
must also be signed by such alternate. Any such resolution may consist of several Documents in like form
(prepared and circulated by facsimile, telex, telegram or electronic mail or other communication modes
/ equipment), each signed by one (1) or more Director or their alternates. An approval by letter or other
written means of a proposed resolution in writing (which has been prepared and circulated as aforesaid)
signed by a Director and sent by him by facsimile, telex or telegram or electronic mail or other communication
modes / equipment shall be deemed to be Documents signed by him for the purposes of the foregoing
provisions. Any such Documents may be accepted as sufficiently signed by a Director or his alternate if
transmitted to the Company by any technology purporting to include a signature and / or electronic or digital
signature of the Director or his alternate.

143. Subject to any rules and regulations made pursuant to Clause 141, a committee may meet and adjourn as it
thinks proper and questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members
of such committee present and in the case of any equality of votes, the Chairman shall have a second or
casting vote, except where only two (2) Members of the committee are competent to vote on the question at
issue or are the quorum present at the meeting.
144. A committee may elect a Chairman of its meetings. If no such Chairman is elected or if at any meeting the
Chairman is not present within fifteen (15) minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the
members of the committee present may choose one (1) of their number to be the Chairman of the meeting.
145. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained in this Constitution, any member of a committee
may participate at a committee meeting by way of telephone and video conferencing or by means of other
communication equipment whereby all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear each other, in
which event such member shall be deemed to be physically present at the meeting whether for the purposes
of this Constitution or otherwise. A member participating in a meeting in the manner aforesaid may also be
taken into account in ascertaining the presence of a quorum at the meeting. Any meeting held in such manner
shall be deemed to be held at such place as shall be agreed upon by the members attending the meeting
PROVIDED that at least one (1) of the members present at the meeting was at such place for the duration of
that meeting.

VALIDATION OF ACTS OF DIRECTORS
146. All acts done by any meeting of the Directors or a committee of Directors or by any person acting as a
Director shall, notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment

AUTHENTICATION OF DOCUMENTS
149. Any Director or the Secretary shall have power to authenticate any Documents affecting the Constitution
of the Company and any resolution passed by the Company or the Directors and any books, records,
Documents and accounts relating to the business of the Company, and to certify copies thereof or extracts
therefrom as true copies or extracts.
Where any books, records, Documents or accounts are kept elsewhere than in the Office, the local manager
or other officer of the Company having the custody thereof shall be deemed to be a person appointed by the
Directors as aforesaid.
150. A document purporting to be a copy of a resolution of the Directors or any extract from the minutes of a
meeting of the Directors which is certified by person having powers to authenticate the document as such in
accordance with the provisions of Clause 148, shall be conclusive evidence in favour of all persons dealing with
the Company on the faith that such resolution has been duly passed or that such extract is a true and accurate
record of a duly constituted meeting of the Directors, as the case may be.

MINUTES AND REGISTERS
151. The Directors shall cause minutes to be duly entered in books provided for the purpose:(a) of all appointments of officers;
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(b) of the names of all the Directors present at each meeting of the Directors and of any Committee of
Directors and of the Company in general meeting;
(c) of all resolutions and proceedings of general meetings and of all meetings of the Company, class of
members, Directors and Committee of Directors; and
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stock, debenture or marketable security created or issued by the Company to be given under the Seal
of the Company. The Company may exercise the powers of Section 62 of the Act, and such powers are
accordingly hereby vested in the Directors.
(2) The Company may also have a share seal pursuant to Section 63 of the Act.

(d) of all orders made by the Directors and any Committee of Directors.
Such minutes shall be signed by the Chairman of the meeting at which the proceedings were held or by the
Chairman of the next succeeding meeting and shall be accepted as prima facie evidence without further proof
of the facts stated therein.
152. The Company shall in accordance with the provisions of the Act keep at the Office, a register containing such
particulars with respect to the Directors, Manager and Secretaries of the Company as are required by the
Act, and shall from time to time notify the Registrar of Companies of any change in such register and of the
date of change in the manner prescribed by the Act.
153. The books containing the minutes of proceedings of any general meeting shall be kept by the Company at the
Office or the principal place of business in Malaysia of the Company and shall be open to the inspection of any
member without charge.
154. The Company shall also keep at the Office, registers which shall be open to the inspection of any member
without charge and to any other person on payment of a prescribed fee for each inspection, all such matters
required to be so registered under the Act, and in particular:(a) a register of substantial shareholders and of information received in pursuance of the requirements under
Sections 144 and 56(4) of the Act; and
(b) a register of the particulars of each of the Directors’ shareholdings and interests as required under
Section 59 of the Act.
SECRETARY

ACCOUNTS
157. The Company, Directors and managers of the Company shall cause proper accounting and other records to
be kept and shall distribute copies of financial statements and other Documents as required by the Act and
shall from time to time determine whether and to what extent and at what times and places and under what
conditions or regulations the accounting and other records of the Company or any of them shall be open to
the inspection of members not being Directors, and no member (not being a Director) shall have any right of
inspecting any account or book or paper of the Company except as conferred by statute or authorised by the
Board. Subject always to Section 245 of the Act, the books of account or records of operations shall be kept
at the Office or at such other place as the Directors think fit and shall always be made available for inspection
by the Directors.
158. A copy of the reports by the Directors and auditors of the Company, the financial statements and group
accounts (if any) (including all Documents required by law to be annexed or attached to all or any of them)
shall be sent at least twenty-one (21) days before the general meeting at which they are to be laid to all
members, holders of debentures, securities holders and all other persons entitled to receive notices of
general meetings under the Act or this Constitution The interval between the close of a financial year of the
Company and the issue of the financial statements, the directors’ and auditors’ report in printed form or
in CD-ROM form or in such other form of electronic format, which shall be transmitted to the electronic
address provided by the securities holders to the Company for such purpose or by publishing on a website.
shall not exceed four (4) months. The required number of copies of each of these documents shall at the same
time be sent to the Exchange. In the event that these documents are sent in CD-ROM form or in such other
form in electronic format, a printed form of such documents shall be given to the shareholder within four (4)
market days from the date of receipt of the shareholder’s request.
159. Auditors shall be appointed and their duties regulated in accordance with the Act.

155. The Secretary or Secretaries shall in accordance with the Act be appointed by the Directors for such term
and at such remuneration and upon such conditions as they think fit. The Secretary may resign from his office
by giving notice to the Board and his resignation shall take immediate effect.

SEAL
156. (1) The Directors shall provide for the safe custody of the Seal which shall only be used pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors or a committee of the Directors authorising the use of the Seal. The Directors
may from time to time make such regulations as they think fit determining the persons and the number
of such persons in whose presence the Seal shall be affixed and, until otherwise so determined, the Seal
shall be affixed in the presence of at least one (1) Director and counter-signed by the Secretary or by
a second Director or by some other person appointed by the Directors for the purpose who shall sign
every instrument to which the Seal is affixed. The Directors may by resolution determine either generally
or in any particular case that the signature of any Director, the Secretary or such other persons appointed
as aforesaid may be affixed or reproduced by facsimile, autographic or other mechanical means provided
that the use of such is restricted to a certificate or other Documents of title in respect of any share,

DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES
160. The Directors may from time to time declare dividend, but no dividend shall exceed the amount
recommended by the Directors. No dividend shall be payable otherwise than out of profits available of the
Company or shall bear interest against the Company. The Directors may, if they think fit, from time to time
declare and pay to the members such interim dividends in cash or wholly or partly by the distribution of
specific assets and in particular, of paid-up shares, debenture or debenture stock of any other company or in
any one or more of such ways as appear to them to be justified by the position of the Company, and may also
from time to time, if in their opinion such payment is so justified, pay any preferential dividends which by the
terms of issue of any share are made payable on fixed dates.
(1)

The Directors may authorise a distribution of dividend at such time and in such amount as the Directors
consider appropriate, if the Directors are satisfied that the Company will be solvent immediately after
the distribution is made.
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(2)

No higher dividend shall be paid than is authorised by the Directors, and the declarations of the
Directors as to the distribution shall be conclusive.

161. The Directors may, before recommending any dividend, set aside out of the profits available of the Company
such sums as they think proper as reserves which shall, at the discretion of the Directors, be applicable for
any purpose to which the profits of the Company may be properly applied. Pending any such application, such
profits may, at the discretion of the Directors, either be employed in the business of the Company or be
invested in such investments as the Directors may from time to time think fit. The Directors may also without
placing the profits to reserve, carry forward any profits which they think prudent not to divide.
162. The Directors may establish a reserve to be called either “capital reserve” or “realisation account” and shall
carry to the credit of such reserve from time to time, all monies realised on the sale of any investments held
by the Company in excess of the then book value of the same in providing for depreciation or contingencies.
Such capital reserve or realisation account and all other monies in the nature or otherwise, shall be treated
for all purposes as capital monies and not as profits available for dividend. Any losses realised on the sale of
any investments may be carried to the debit of capital reserve or realisation account except in so far as the
Directors shall decide to make good the same out of other monies of the Company.
163. Subject to the rights of persons, if any, entitled to shares with special rights as to dividend, all dividends shall
be declared and paid according to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the shares in respect of which the
dividend is paid, but no amount paid or credited as paid on a share in advance of call shall be treated for the
purposes of this Constitution as paid on the share. All dividends shall be apportioned and paid proportionately
to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect
of which the dividend is paid; but if any share is issued on terms providing that it shall rank for dividend as
from a particular date, that share shall rank for dividend accordingly.
164. The Directors may deduct from any dividend payable to any Member, all sums of money, if any, presently
payable by him to the Company on account of calls or otherwise in relation to the shares of the Company held
by him.
165. The Directors may retain the dividends payable upon shares in respect of which any person is entitled to
become a member under the provision as to the transmission of shares in this Constitution, or which any
person is under this Constitution entitled to transfer, until such person shall become a member in respect of
such shares or shall transfer the same.
166. All dividends unclaimed for one (1) year, subject to the Unclaimed Moneys Act, 1965 after having been
declared may be invested or otherwise used by the Directors for the benefit of the Company until claimed or
paid pursuant to the Unclaimed Moneys Act, 1965. No unpaid dividend, bonus, or interest shall bear interest
as against the Company.
167. Subject to the provision of the Act, any resolution of the Board or any general meeting declaring a dividend or
bonus may direct payment of such dividend or bonus, wholly or partly by the distribution of specific assets and
in particular, of paid-up shares, debenture or debenture stock of any other company or in any one or more
of such ways and the Directors shall give effect to such resolution, and where any difficulty arises in regard
to such distribution, the Directors may settle the same as they think expedient, and fix the value for the
distribution of such specific assets or any part thereof and may determine that cash payments shall be made to
any member upon the footing of the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of all parties and may vest any
such specific assets in trustees as may seem expedient to the Directors.
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168. (1) Any dividend, interest or other money payable in cash in respect of shares or other securities may be paid
by direct transfer by means of the electronic payment systems upon terms and subject to conditions as
the Directors may stipulate or by cheque or warrant sent by post to the registered address of the holder
on the Register or the Record of Depositors or to such person and to such address as the holder may
direct in writing, failing which, as a final resolution to be deposited into the account of the holder. Every
such cheque or warrant or remittance via the electronic payment systems shall be made payable to the
order of the person to whom it is sent or to such person as the holder may direct, and the payment of any
such cheque or warrant or remittance via the electronic payment systems shall operate as a good and full
discharge of the Company in respect of the dividend, interest or other money payable in cash in respect of
shares or other securities represented thereby, notwithstanding that it may subsequently appear that the
same has been stolen or that the endorsement thereon has been forged. Every such cheque or warrant
shall be sent at the risk of the person entitled to the money thereby represented.
(2) Whenever the Directors or the Company in general meeting have resolved or proposed that a dividend
(including an interim, final, special or other dividend) be paid or declared on the ordinary shares of the
Company, the Directors may further resolve that members entitled to such dividend be entitled to elect to
receive an allotment of ordinary shares credited as fully paid in lieu of cash in respect of the whole or such
part of the dividend as the Directors may think fit. In such case, the following provisions shall apply:(i) the basis of any such allotment shall be determined by the Directors;
(ii) the Directors shall determine the manner in which members shall be entitled to elect to receive an
allotment of ordinary shares credited as fully paid in lieu of cash in respect of the whole or such part
of any dividend in respect of which the Directors shall have passed such a resolution as aforesaid, and
the Directors may make such arrangements as to the giving of notice to members, providing for forms
of election for completion by members (whether in respect of a particular dividend or dividends or
generally), determining the procedure for making such elections or revoking the same and the place
at which and the latest date and time by which any forms of election or other Documents by which
elections are made or revoked must be lodged, and otherwise make all such arrangements and do all
such things, as the Directors consider necessary or expedient in connection with the provisions of this
Constitution;
(iii) the right of election may be exercised in respect of the whole of that portion of the dividend in respect
of which the right of the election has been accorded provided that the Directors may determine, either
generally or in any specific case, that such right shall be exercisable in respect of the whole or any part
of that portion; and
(iv) the dividend (or that part of the dividend in respect of which a right of election has been accorded)
shall not be payable in cash on ordinary shares in respect whereof the share election has been duly
exercised (the “Elected Ordinary Shares”) and in lieu and in satisfaction thereof ordinary shares
shall be allotted and credited as fully paid to the holders of the Elected Ordinary Shares on the basis
of allotment determined as aforesaid and for such purpose (notwithstanding any provision of the
Constitution to the contrary), the Directors shall (i) capitalise and apply the amount standing to the
credit of any of the Company’s reserve accounts or any sum standing to the credit of the profit and loss
account or otherwise available for distribution as the Directors may determine, such sum as may be
required to pay up in full the appropriate number of ordinary shares for allotment and distribution to
and among the holders of the Elected Ordinary Shares on such basis, or (ii) apply the sum which would
otherwise have been payable in cash to the holders of Elected Ordinary Shares towards payment of the
appropriate number of ordinary shares for allotment and distribution to and among the holders of the
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Elected Ordinary Shares on such basis.
(3) (a) The ordinary shares allotted pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (2) of this Clause shall rank pari
passu in all respects with the ordinary shares then in issue save only as regards participation in the
dividend which is the subject of the election referred to above (including the right to make the election
referred to above) or any other distributions, bonuses or rights paid, made, declared or announced
prior to or contemporaneous with the payment or declaration of the dividend which is the subject of
the election referred to above, unless the Directors shall otherwise specify.
(b) The Directors may do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give effect to any
capitalisation pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (2) of this Clause, with full power to make
such provisions as they think fit in the case of fractional entitlements to ordinary shares (including,
notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Clause, provisions whereby, in whole or in part,
fractional entitlements are disregarded or rounded up or down, or whereby the benefit of fractional
entitlements accrues to the Company rather than the members).
(4)

The Directors may, on any occasion when they resolve as provided in paragraph (2) of this Clause, determine
that the rights of election under that paragraph shall not be made available to the persons who are registered
as holders of ordinary shares in the Register of Members or the Depository Register, as the case may be, or in
respect of ordinary shares the transfer of which is registered, after such date as the Directors may fix subject
to such exceptions as the Directors think fit, and in such event the provisions of this Constitution shall be
read and construed to such determination.

(5)

The Directors may, on any occasion when they resolve as provided in paragraph (2) of this Clause, further
determine that no allotment of shares or rights of election for shares under that paragraph shall be
made available or made to members whose registered addresses entered in the Register or the Record
of Depositors, as the case may be, is outside Malaysia or to such other members or class of members as
the Directors may in their sole discretion decide and in such event the only entitlements of the members
aforesaid shall be to receive in cash the relevant dividend resolved or proposed to be paid or declared.

(6)

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Constitution, if at any time after the Directors’ resolution
to apply the provisions of paragraph (2) of this Clause in relation to any dividend but prior to the allotment of
ordinary shares pursuant thereto, the Directors shall consider that, by reason of any event or circumstance
(whether arising before or after such resolution) or by reason of any matter whatsoever, it is no longer
expedient or appropriate to implement that proposal, the Directors may at their absolute discretion and as
they deem fit in the interest of the Company, cancel the proposed application of paragraph (2) of this Clause.
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170. Whenever such a resolution as aforesaid shall have been passed, the Directors shall make all appropriations
and applications of the undivided profits resolved to be capitalised thereby, and all allotments and issues of
fully paid shares or debentures, if any, and generally shall do all acts and things required to give effect thereto,
with full power to the Directors to make such provision by the issue of fractional certificates or by payment
in cash or otherwise as they think fit for the case of shares or debentures becoming distributable in fractions,
and also to authorise any person to enter on behalf of all the members entitled thereto into an agreement
with the Company providing for the allotment to them respectively, credited as fully paid-up, of any further
shares or debentures to which they may be entitled upon the capitalisation, or (as the case may require) for
the payment by the Company on their behalf, by the application thereto of their respective proportions of the
profit resolved to be capitalised, of the amounts or any part of the amounts remaining unpaid on their existing
shares, and any agreement made under such authority shall be effective and binding on all such members.
LANGUAGE
171. Where any accounts, minute books or other records required to be kept by the Act are not kept in Bahasa
Malaysia or English language, the Directors shall cause a true translation of such accounts, minute books and
other records to be made in either English or Bahasa Malaysia, from time to time at intervals of not more than
seven (7) days and shall cause such translation to be kept with the original accounts, minute books and other
records for so long as the original accounts, minute books and other records are required by the Act to be
kept.

DESTRUCTION OF DOCUMENTS
172. The Company shall be entitled to destroy all instruments of transfer which shall have been registered at any
time after a reasonable time from the date of registration thereof, and all share certificates and dividend
mandates which have been cancelled or have ceased to have effect at any time after the expiration of one (1)
year from the date of cancellation or cessation thereof, and all notifications of change of name or address
after the expiration of one (1) year from the date they were recorded, and in favour of the Company it shall
conclusively be presumed that every entry in the register which purports to have been made on the basis of
an instrument of transfer or other Documents so destroyed was duly and properly made and every share
certificate so destroyed was a valid certificate duly and properly cancelled and every other Documents
hereinbefore mentioned so destroyed was a valid and effective Documents in accordance with the recorded
particulars thereof in the books or records of the Company PROVIDED THAT:(a) the foregoing provisions of this Clause shall apply only to the destruction of Documents in good faith and
without express notice that the preservation of such Documents was relevant to a claim;

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS
169. The Company in general meeting may upon the recommendation of the Directors, resolve that it is desirable
to capitalise any part of the amount for the time being standing to the credit of any of the Company’s reserve
accounts or to the credit of the profit and loss account or otherwise available for distribution, and accordingly
that the sum be set free for distribution amongst the members who would have been entitled thereto if
distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportions on condition that the same be not paid in cash but
be applied either in or towards paying up any amounts for the time being unpaid on any shares held by those
members respectively or paying up in full unissued shares or debentures of the Company to be allotted and
distributed, credited as fully paid-up to and amongst the members in the proportion aforesaid, or partly in the
one way and partly in the other, and the Directors shall give effect to such resolution.

(b) nothing contained in this Clause shall be construed as imposing upon the Company any liability in respect
of the destruction of any such Documents earlier than as aforesaid or in any other circumstances which
would not attach to the Company but for the provisions of this Clause; and
(c) reference in this Clause to the destruction of any Documents include references to its disposal in any
manner.
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NOTICES
173. (1) Any notice or other Documents, if served personally or sent by post, shall be deemed to have been
served or delivered at the time personally or when the letter containing the same is put into the post,
and in proving such service or sending it shall be sufficient to prove that the letter containing the notice
or Documents was properly addressed and put into the post office as a pre-paid letter. Any notice or
other Documents given in electronic form shall be transmitted to the electronic address provided by the
member for such purpose or by publishing on the website. Every person who, by operation of law, transfer,
transmission or other means whatsoever, becomes entitled to any share, shall be bound by every notice
which have been duly served to the person from whom he derives the title of such shares, prior to his
name and address being entered in the Register or Record of Depositors as the registered holder of such
shares. The contact details (including electronic address) of the member are as set out in the Record of
Depositors shall be deemed the last known address provided by the member to the Company for purposes
of communication with the member/ securities holder.
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have right to receive a physical copy of such notice, Documents or information.
174. A notice including notice given in electronic form or any other Documents, may be given by the Company to
the person entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member by sending it through
representatives of the deceased or assignee of the bankrupt or by any like description, at the address, if any,
within Malaysia supplied for the purpose by the person claiming to be so entitled, or (until such an address
has been so supplied) by giving the notice in any manner in which the same might have been given if the death
or bankruptcy had not occurred. Every person who shall become entitled to any share by operation of law,
transfer, transmission or other means whatsoever, shall be bound by every notice in respect of such share,
which prior to his name and address being entered in the Register or Record of Depositors as the registered
holder of such shares, shall have been duly given to the person from whom he derives the title to such share.
175. (1) Notice of every general meeting shall be given in a manner herein before specified to:(a) every Director with a registered address in Malaysia or an address for service of notices in Malaysia;

(2) Where a notice, or any other Documents or information is served, sent or supplied by electronic
communication:(a) to the current address of member/ securities holder, shall be deemed to have been duly given, sent,
or served at the time of transmission of the electronic communication by the email server or facility
operated by the Company or its service provider to the current address of members (notwithstanding
any delayed receipt, non-delivery or “returned mail” reply message or any other error message
indicating that the electronic communication was delayed or not successfully sent) unless otherwise
provided under the Act and/ or any other applicable laws.
(b) by making it available on a website, it shall be deemed to have been duly given, sent or served on the
date on which the notice or Documents is first made available on the website, or unless otherwise
provided under laws.
(3) A notice, Documents or information served, sent or supplied by means of a website is deemed to have
been given to or received by the intended recipient when the material was first made available on the
website and the Company notifying the member/ securities holder in the following manner in writing:(a) The publication of the notice, Documents or information on the website; and
(b) The designated website link or address where a copy of the notice, Documents or information may be
downloaded.
(4) A member/ securities holder shall be implied to have agreed to receive such notice or Documents or
information by way of such electronic communications. However, members are given a right to request
for a hard copy of such notice, Documents or information and the Company shall forward a hard copy of
such notice or Documents or information to the member within the prescribed period specified under the
Listing Requirements.
(5) The Directors may, at their discretion, at any time give a member/ securities holder an opportunity to elect
within a specified period of time whether to receive such notice, Documents or information by way of
electronic communications or as a physical copy, and such member shall be deemed to have consented to
receive such notice, Documents or information by way of electronic communications if he was given such
an opportunity and he failed to make an election within the specified time, and he shall not in such an event

(b) every member with a registered address in Malaysia or an address for service of notices in Malaysia;
(c) every person entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member who, but for
his death or bankruptcy, would be entitled to receive notice of the meeting;
(d) the auditors for the time being of the Company; and
(e) every Exchange on which the Company is listed and any other relevant authorities.
(2) Except as aforesaid no other person shall be entitled to receive notices of general meetings.
(3) Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the laws of Malaysia or of this
Constitution, waiver or the shortening of the period of such notice, may be effectively given by complying
with Section 316(4) of the Act.

WINDING UP
176. If the Company is wound up, the liquidator may, with the sanction of a special resolution of the Company,
divide amongst the members in kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they
consist of property of the same kind or not) and may for that purpose set such value as he deems fair upon
any property to be divided as aforesaid and may determine how the division shall be carried out as between
the members or different classes of members. The liquidator may, with the like sanction, vest the whole or
any part of any such assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of the contributor as the liquidator,
with the like sanction, think fit, but so that no member shall be compelled to accept any shares or other
securities whereon there is any liability.
177. (1) Save that this Constitution shall be without prejudice to the rights of holders of shares issued upon special
terms and conditions, the following provisions shall apply:(a) if the Company shall be wound up and the assets available for distribution among the members as such,
shall be insufficient to repay the whole of the paid-up capital, such assets shall be distributed so that
as nearly as may be the losses shall be borne by the members in proportion to the capital paid up, or
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which ought to have been paid up at the commencement of the winding-up, on the shares held by them
respectively; and
(b) if in a winding-up the assets available for distribution among the members shall be more than sufficient
to repay the whole of the capital paid up at the commencement of the winding-up, the excess shall be
distributed among the members in proportion to the capital paid up, or which ought to have been paid
up at the commencement of the winding-up, on the shares held by them respectively.
(2) Where it is proposed that the whole or part of the business or property of the Company is to be
transferred or sold to another corporation in a voluntary winding up, with the sanction of a special
resolution of the Company conferring either a general authority on the liquidator or an authority in
respect of any particular arrangement, the liquidator of the Company may:(a) receive in compensation or part compensation for the transfer or sale of the shares, debentures,
policies or other like interests in the corporation for distribution among the members of the Company;
or
(b) enter into any other arrangement whereby the members of the Company may, in lieu of receiving cash,
shares, debentures, policies or other like interests or in addition to the arrangement, participate in the
profits of or receive any other benefit from the corporation,
		

and any such transfer, sale or arrangement shall be binding on the members of the Company.

(3) If any member of the Company expresses his dissent on matters referred to in subsection (2) in writing
addressed to the liquidator and delivered to the office of the liquidator within seven (7) days from the
passing of the resolution, the member may require the liquidator to either abstain from carrying the
resolution into effect or to purchase his interest at a price to be determined by an agreement or by
arbitration in the manner set out in Section 457 of the Act.
178. Subject to Section 454 of the Act, on the voluntary liquidation of the Company, no commission or fee shall
be paid to a liquidator unless it shall have been approved by the members. The amount of such payment shall
be notified to all members at least seven (7) days before the meeting at which the commission or fee is to be
considered.

SECRECY CLAUSE
179. Save as may be provided by the Act, no member shall be entitled to enter into or inspect any premises or
property of the Company or to require disclosure of any information in respect of any detail of the Company’s
trading, manufacturing or any matter which is or may be in the nature of a trade secret or secret process
which may relate to the conduct of the business of the Company and which in the opinion of the Directors, it
would be inexpedient in the interest of the members to communicate to the public.

INDEMNITY
180. Except where any liability which by law would otherwise attach to an officer or auditor of the Company in
respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust of which he may be guilty in relation
to the Company, every Director, whether holding an executive office pursuant to this Constitution or not,
auditor, Secretary and other officer for the time being of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company (including effect of insurance) against:-
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(a) any loss or liability incurred by him that related to the liability for any act or omission in his capacity as
an officer of auditor and in which judgment is given in favour of the officer or auditor or in which the
officer or auditor is acquitted or in which the officer of auditor is granted relief under this Act, or where
proceedings are discontinued or not pursued; and
(b) any cost incurred by him in defending any proceedings relating to any liability to any person, other than
Company for any act or omission in his capacity as an officer or auditor except a fine imposed in criminal
proceedings, a sum payable to regulatory authority, any liability incurred in defending criminal proceedings
in which he is convicted or in defending civil proceedings brought by the Company, or an associated
company, in which judgment is given against him.
ALTERATION OF CONSTITUTION
181. Subject to the Act and to the provisions of the Listing Requirements (if any), the Company may by special
resolution delete, alter or add to this Constitution.
COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTES, REGULATIONS AND RULES
182. The Company shall comply with the provisions of the Act, relevant governing statutes, regulations and rules
as may be amended, modified or varied from time to time, or any other directive or requirement imposed
by the Exchange, the Bursa Depository and other appropriate authorities, to the extent required by law,
notwithstanding any provisions in this Constitution to the contrary.
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No. of Shares
CDS account No.

REV ASIA BERHAD
(Company No. 916943-W)			
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

I/We, 							
(name of shareholder as per NRIC, in capital letters)
IC No./ID No./Company No.						
of 		
		
							
						
(full address) being a member of REV ASIA BERHAD, hereby appoint						
(name of proxy as per NRIC, in capital letters) IC No.								
of 												
(full address) or failing him/her			
		
(name of proxy as per NRIC, in capital letters)
IC No.		
of		
					
					
(full address) or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to
vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Ninth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Level 11, Menara KEN TTDI,
No. 37, Jalan Burhanuddin Helmi, Taman Tun Dr Ismail, 60000 Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, 27 June 2019 at 9.30 a.m. and at any
adjournment thereat.
My/our proxies is/are to vote as indicated below:
No.

For

Resolutions

Against

ORDINARY BUSINESS
Ordinary
Resolution 1

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees and benefits payable by the Company
and its subsidiaries up to an aggregate amount of RM500,000 from 27 June 2019
until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Ordinary
Resolution 2

To re-elect Mr Patrick YKin Grove as Director who retires pursuant to Article
85 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Ordinary
Resolution 3

To re-elect Mr Lucas Robert Elliott as Director who retires pursuant to Article
85 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Ordinary
Resolution 4

To re-appoint Messrs BDO PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise
the Directors to fix their remuneration.
SPECIAL BUSINESS

Ordinary
Resolution 5

Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 And 76 of the
Companies Act, 2016.

Special
Resolution

Proposed Adoption of new Constitution of the Company.

[Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your votes to be cast for or against the resolutions. In the
absence of specific directions, your proxy will vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit.]

				
		
									
Dated this		

day of 			

2019

For appointment of two proxies, percentage of
shareholdings to be represented by the proxies:
No. of Shares

THIS PAGE HAS BEEN INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Proxy 1
Proxy 2
Total

Percentage
%
%
100%

Signature of Shareholder or Common Seal
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